
 

 
 
            

 
 

 
i 

Joint Development Control Committee 
 

Date: Monday, 30 October 2023 

Time: 10.00 am  

Venue: Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Market Square, Cambridge, CB2 3QJ 
[access the building via Peashill entrance] 

Contact: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel 01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies   

2    Declarations of Interest   
 
Application 

3    22/02528/OUT - Darwin Green Phases Two and 
Three Development Site, Cambridge Road, 
Impington  

(PAGES 3 - 
158) 

Public Document Pack



 
ii 

 

Joint Development Control Committee Members:  

Cambridge City Council: Cllrs S. Smith (Vice-Chair), Baigent, Flaubert, 
Porrer, Smart and Thornburrow, Alternates: Gilderdale, Levien, Nestor and 
Nethsingha 

 

South Cambridgeshire District Council: Cllrs Bradnam (Chair), Cahn, 
Fane, Hawkins, Stobart and R.Williams, Alternates: Cone, Garvie, 
J.Williams and H.Williams 

 

Information for the public 
The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open to the 
public.  
 
For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors and 
the democratic process:  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 
 
This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. You can watch 
proceedings on the livestream or attend the meeting in person. 
 
Those wishing to address the meeting will be able to do so virtually via Microsoft 
Teams, or by attending to speak in person. You must contact Democratic Services 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two working days before the 
meeting. 
 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


 

 

22/02528/OUT – Darwin Green Phases Two and 

Three Development Site, Cambridge Road, 

Impington 

Application details 

Report to:  Joint Development Control Committee 

Lead Officer: Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development  

Ward/parish: Girton, Histon & Impington 

Proposal: Outline planning permission (all matters reserved except for means of 
access) for up to 1,000 residential dwellings, secondary school, primary school, 
community facilities, retail uses, open space and landscaped areas, associated 
engineering, demolition and infrastructure works 

Applicant: Barratt David Wilson Homes and The North West Cambridge Consortium 
of Landowners 

Presenting officer: Guy Wilson 

Reason presented to committee: The application has been appealed against non-
determination and can no longer be determined by the local planning authority.  The 
local planning authority now needs to determine its position in respect of the appeal.   

Member site visit date: N/A 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Key issues:   

1. Principle of development 
2. Design, scale, layout and landscaping 
3. Housing provision 
4. Employment provision and community facilities 
5. Open space and sports provision 
6. Water resources, management and flood risk 
7. Biodiversity and trees 
8. Carbon reduction and sustainable design 
9. Transport and access 
10. Heritage assets 
11. Amenity and environmental health 
12. Utilities 
13. Third party representations 
14. Other matters   

Recommendation:  

Members agree that the Council’s response to the planning appeal for 
non-determination is that the application should be REFUSED in 
accordance with the recommendation as set out in Section 27 of this 
report below. 
 

Report contents: 

Section  Document heading  
1 Executive summary 
2 Site description and context 
3 The proposal  
4 Environmental Impact Assessment 
5 Relevant site history  
6 Policy 
7 Consultations 
8 Third Party Representations 
9 Member Representations 

10 Planning Assessment 
11 Principle of development 
12 Design, Layout, Scale, and Landscaping 
13 Housing Provision 
14 Employment Provision and Community Facilities 
15 Open Space and Sports Provision 
16 Water Management and Flood Risk 
17 Biodiversity and Trees 
18 Carbon Reduction and Sustainable Design 
19 Transport and Access 
20 Heritage Assets 
21 Amenity and Environmental Health 

Page 4



22 Utilities 
23 Response to Third Party Representations 
24 Other Matters 
25 Planning Obligations  
26 Planning Balance 
27 Recommendation 
28 Appendices 

 

Table 1 Contents of report 

 

Appendices: 

  Document 
 

1 Planning Policy Context 
2 Cambridgeshire Quality Panel Meeting Minutes and Detailed 

Response 
3 List of documents submitted with the application 
4 Parameter Plans 
5 Illustrative Masterplan 
6 Outline Draft Heads of Terms 
7 Draft Planning Conditions 

Table 2 Appendices 

 

1. Executive summary  

1.1 The report relates to the outline planning application (the Application) for 

the site which is located within the administrative boundaries of South 

Cambridgeshire District Council (the Council). The Application falls within 

land to the North West of Cambridge, between Huntingdon Road and 

Histon Road and is also known as Darwin Green 2. 

 

1.2 The submitted proposals seek permission for up to 1,000 residential 

dwellings, secondary school, primary school, community facilities, retail 

uses, open space and landscaped areas, associated engineering, 

demolition and infrastructure works. All matters are reserved, except 

means of access. 

 

1.3 The Site is allocated in the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 

2018 under Policy SS/2 for a sustainable housing-led urban extension of 

Page 5



Cambridge of approximately 1000 dwellings with associated open space 

provision and community facilities. The Local Plan revised the Cambridge 

Green Belt to provide the northern boundary of this development. The 

Green Belt continues to ensure separation from Girton and Histon & 

Impington villages.  

 

1.4 The site and adjoining land will provide the infrastructure needed to 

deliver and serve the urban extension identified under Policy SS/2 as a 

whole. The Local Plan considers the notional capacity of 1,000 dwellings 

a robust estimate of capacity for the purposes of plan making.  

 

1.5 The application has been appealed against non-determination and can no 

longer be determined by the local planning authority.  The local planning 

authority now needs to determine its position in respect of the appeal. The 

officers’ recommendation, as set out in this report, is that, had the appeal 

against non-determination not been made, the application should be 

refused for the reason set out below. Members will need to decide 

whether to accept the officers’ recommendation and to agree the reason 

for refusal, which would then form the basis of the Council’s position in the 

appeal and will be set out in a Statement of Case to be drafted by officers.   

 

1.6 The development proposals are considered to generally align with the 

development plan policy framework and the objectives of creating a 

sustainable community which will enhance the special character of the 

area, as guided by Policy SS2 of the Local Plan.  

 

1.7 The benefits and dis-benefits of the development proposals have been 

carefully evaluated and assessed against the development plan for the 

area and the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) and the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

 

1.8 Social Objectives:  Significant positive weight is attached to the social 

benefits arising from the development proposals. In terms of housing 

need, the development will deliver up to 1000 new homes, which will help 

to maintain the Greater Cambridge five-year housing land supply and 

deliver affordable homes.  The proposals include 40% affordable housing 

(400 units) which accords fully with development plan policies which 

require a minimum of 40% affordable homes for this size of development. 

 

1.9 Policy objectives of delivering the social objectives of sustainable 

development will be further met by the application proposals, in the form 

of a new primary and secondary school and on-site community facilities. 

 

Page 6



1.10 The scheme also provides formal play provision, open space and public 

realm including the delivery of a country park.  This is considered to 

deliver the objective for new development with a clear sense of place.  

This further weighs in support of the proposals. 

 

1.11 The site allocation policy SS/2 requires, under Paragraph 10, the 

development to be highly accessible and permeable through the provision 

of a network of strong internal and external cycle and pedestrian links to 

neighbouring parts of the urban and rural areas.  The application provides 

one pedestrian and cycle link to the village of Girton through Thornton 

Close to the southwestern boundary of the site, with the potential for a 

second link to Thornton Way. No access is to be provided through 

Wellbrook Way, the more direct route into Girton, as this requires access 

through land in third-party ownership which is not considered deliverable 

by Cambridgeshire County Council. Overall, however, a good level of 

accessibility and linkages to existing development and the surrounding 

area is considered to be provided by the application proposals, with 

limited conflict with Policy SS/2 (10). 

 

1.12 Economic Objectives: In terms of economic benefits, national planning 

policy places a clear emphasis on the importance of economic growth and 

delivering economic benefits as a key component of sustainable 

development. The application will generate significant positive economic 

impacts during the construction and operational phases of the 

development. The proposals will create construction jobs and 

employment, through businesses, shops and services within the 

development.  Significant positive weight is afforded to these benefits. 

 

1.13 Environmental Objectives: The proposed development will contribute to 

an improvement in habitat quality and biodiversity net gain (BNG), with an 

uplift of 19% proposed. This is dependent on the same broad habitat 

types, areas and conditions shown on the outline landscape masterplan 

being delivered through phased reserved matters.  

 

1.14 Provision is also made to ensure prudent use of natural resources at the 

Site and measures to minimise waste and pollution. Mitigation and 

adaptation to climate change will be facilitated through the proposed Site 

wide sustainability strategy, fulfilling policy objectives of demonstrating 

excellence in sustainable development. Significant weight is attached to 

these benefits. 

 

1.15 The proposed development will place demands on the potable water 

supply giving rise to potential harm to waterbodies, noting that the Draft 

Regional Water Resource Plan (RWRMP) for Eastern England has 

Page 7



identified an issue of water scarcity in the whole of the Eastern Region. 

Cambridge Water’s Water Resource Management Plan (WRMP) 

continues to focus on water conservation/saving strategies to address 

growing need.  

 

1.16 Policy CC/4 of the Local Plan requires ‘low’ water use development 

designed to limit personal consumption of water to 110 litres per 

person/day.  The development proposals provide water efficiency 

measures of 110 litres per person/day which would comply with Policy 

CC/4.  However, Policy CC/4 was based on the evidence that was 

available at the time of the preparation of the Local Plan.  Since that time, 

the Environment Agency (EA) has considered the impact of changes to 

abstraction licences in Greater Cambridgeshire, underpinned by evidence 

that groundwater abstractions are causing a risk of deterioration of some 

water bodies.  The EA has advised that some of the growth included in 

Local Plans based on Cambridge Water Company’s (CWC) Water 

Resource Management Plan (WRMP19) is unsustainable.   

 

1.17 Policy CC/7 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 also requires 

all development proposals to demonstrate that, inter alia, the quality of 

ground, surface or water bodies will not be harmed. 

 

1.18 The EA has objected to CWC’s draft WRMP24 which was published in 

February 2023.  A revised draft WRMP24 was published on 29 

September 2023 in response to the representations received.  This 

document is currently being considered by the EA, who will provide advice 

to DEFRA, following which time the government Department for 

Environment, Food and Rural Areas (DEFRA) will determine if the final 

plan can be adopted by CWC. The EA has indicated that there remains an 

unacceptable level of risk of environmental deterioration from the 

combined level of abstraction CWC forecasts it needs for existing and 

new customers (which would include this development proposal) up to 

2032. 

 

1.19 The revised draft WRMP24 indicates that, at current growth assumptions, 

the demand for water between the years 2030 – 2032 will create the 

greatest risk to water bodies. The Council’s Housing Trajectory anticipates 

that delivery of this site will take place between 2026/27 and 2033/34.  

 

1.20 The EA is a statutory consultee for developments that are subject to 

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).  Officers have had regard to 

their advice on the EIA and Environmental Statement (ES), noting that in 

correspondence dated 09 August 2023, they have maintained an 

objection to the proposed development. This is on the basis that the 

Page 8



application has not demonstrated that the water to the development can 

be supplied sustainably, or that the risks to water resources including 

chalk aquifers are negligible or can be mitigated. The EA has been 

requested to consider this application further in the light of the 29 

September 2023 revised draft WRM24, but comments have yet to be 

received at the time of writing this report. 

 

1.21 As noted above, during the course of this application, there have been 

changes to the evidence base in respect of water resources, and the EA 

is updating its position in light of successive drafts of the WRMP24.  Given 

that the Appellant has appealed against non-determination, as noted 

above, the LPA no longer has jurisdiction to determine this planning 

application.  Had the Appellant not appealed against non-determination, it 

may have been possible for the LPA and the Applicant to work together to 

overcome the LPA’s objection in the light of the changing position in the 

evidence base, the draft WRMP and the position of the EA.   

 

1.22 As matters stand, the advice provided by the EA on 09 August 2023 is 

noted, and further advice is awaited.  At the time of writing this report, 

officers consider that it has not been demonstrated that the mitigation that 

is currently proposed is adequate to address potential impacts on water 

bodies.  As a result, the application would be in direct conflict with Policy 

CC/7 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) which requires all 

development proposals to demonstrate that, inter alia, the quality of 

ground, surface or water bodies will not be harmed and opportunities 

taken for improvements to water quality.  

 

1.23 Officers are of the view that in order to avoid harm to the water 

environment as required by Policy CC/7, further mitigation is required 

which goes above and beyond the requirements of Policy CC/4. Officers 

note the position adopted by the LPA in respect of proposals by 

Brookgate Ltd at Land North of Cambridge North Station, where the 

Appellant proposed an ‘enhanced package’ of mitigation measures which 

was, in the judgement of the LPA, sufficient to overcome the LPA’s 

objection (although the EA maintained its objection and the appeal has yet 

to be determined).  

 

1.24 As noted above, the LPA has sought the views of the EA in respect of this 

application in the light of the most recent iteration of the draft WRMP.  

Notwithstanding that this application is now subject to a planning appeal, 

the LPA will continue to liaise with the Appellant and the EA with a view to 

considering whether enhanced mitigation measures could overcome the 

LPA’s objection. 

 

Page 9



1.25 Overall, and notwithstanding the proposed development largely accords 

with Policy SS/2, officers consider that the conflict with Policy CC/7 is of 

such significance that the proposed development is contrary to the 

Development Plan taken as a whole. 

 

1.26 In the planning balance, officers consider that, in this case, the proposed 

development will bring significant social, economic and environmental 

benefits that accord with the three dimensions of sustainable 

development.  However, the risk of harm to the water environment to 

which the proposed development would give rise, in the absence of 

mitigation which can effectively seek to manage the water resources issue 

that this development presents in the light of the objection from the EA, is 

considered by officers to attract significant weight in the planning balance. 

This harm is considered to outweigh the other environmental, social and 

economic benefits which the scheme would deliver.  

 

1.27 Having taken into account the provisions of the development plan, the 

views of statutory consultees, including the EA, as well as all other 

material planning considerations, officers recommend that, based upon 

the information before the Council, the Joint Development Control 

Committee (JDCC) agree the officers’ recommendation, that had the 

appeal against non-determination not been made, the Council would have 

refused the application for the reason set out in Section 27 below.  

2. Site description and context  

 

2.1 The wider Darwin Green development is an urban extension of 

Cambridge, which is divided into separate phases across two 

administrative boundaries and is located south of the A14 trunk road, 

giving access from the north via the Histon Roundabout (Junction 32).  

 

2.2 Darwin Green 1 (DG1) is part of the City of Cambridge and is allocated in 

the adopted Cambridge Local Plan (October 2018) under Policy 20 (Land 

between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road Area of Major Change) for up 

to 1,593 dwellings with associated community, educational, open space 

and retail uses.  

 

2.3 Darwin Green 2 & 3 (DG2/3) is located entirely in South Cambridgeshire 

and is allocated in the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 

(September 2018) under Policy SS/2 (Land between Huntingdon Road 

and Histon Road). The site lies to the south of the A14 and is bounded to 

the east by Cambridge Road/Histon Road, and to the west by Girton 

Page 10



village. Its southern boundary is to DG1. The total area of the site is 

approximately 79 hectares. 

 

2.4 The southern boundary of the site is formed by an existing Public Right of 

Way (PROW Footpath 99/10) and cycle link, beyond which lies the Darwin 

Green Phase 1 development site. To the west of the site lies existing 

residential properties along Thornton Close, Thornton Way and Wellbrook 

Way, the Abbeyfield Retirement home, and the Wellbrook Park business 

park.  

 

2.5 The site currently comprises open agricultural land with existing overhead 

utilities with associated vertical structures and a utilities compound to the 

eastern boundary, as well as an existing telecommunications mast located 

to the southwest of the Site. 

 

2.6 The existing land use is associated with large scale crop experiments 

operated by the National Institute of Agricultural Botany (NIAB). There are 

a small number of existing buildings, and structures within the site. To the 

south-west is the NIAB Agricultural Research Facility and to the north-

west lies Impington Farm. Two residential properties exist to the northern 

boundary of the site, Woodhouse Farm and Orchard Close. 

 

2.7 Existing vehicular access to the site is via Histon Road/Cambridge Road. 

The access currently takes the form of a priority T junction and serves as 

the primary construction route for the Darwin Green Phase 1 (DG1) 

development site. The junction will eventually be upgraded to a new 

signalised junction as part of the highway infrastructure works approved 

under the DG1 scheme. Access within the site is limited to existing farm 

tracks. In addition to the PROW along the southern boundary of the site, 

running from Huntingdon Road to Histon Road along Whitehouse Lane, a 

further PROW (Footpath 99/13) from Thornton Way intersects Footpath 

99/10 at the northern end of Whitehouse Lane.  

 

2.8 The topography of the site is categorised by minor gradients with levels 

falling in a south to north direction. There is a level change of 

approximately 6.3 metres across the site with the high point towards the 

fringes of the existing residential area of Girton along the western 

boundary. The land gently falls away to the north-east towards a low point 

of 11.80m AOD, located towards the north of Impington Farm. 

 

2.9 Three watercourses within the site have been granted award drain status 

(these are drains for which the Council is responsible for maintenance). 

All ordinary watercourses on site are relatively linear and steep sided. 

Four culverts are present beneath the A14 which convey flow from the site 

Page 11



to the north, where the channels eventually converge to form the Public 

Drain. 

 

2.10 Part of the site falls within a designated Minerals Safeguarding Area (sand 

and gravel) in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (MWLP) 2021.  

 

2.11 Two areas of woodland around the existing buildings to the north-east of 

the site are subject to Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). 

 

2.12 There are no Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments or Conservation 

Areas within or close to the Site. There are no other environmental 

designations, such as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), County 

and City Wildlife Sites, Local Nature Reserves or Ancient Woodlands 

within the site. The site is in Flood Zone 1 where there is a low risk of 

fluvial flooding.  

 

3. The proposal  

3.1 The proposals are submitted as an outline planning application (all 

matters reserved except for means of access) for up to 1,000 residential 

dwellings, secondary school, primary school, community facilities, retail 

uses, open space and landscaped areas, associated engineering, 

demolition and infrastructure works.   

 

3.2 The application was submitted to the Council on 23 May 2022. A schedule 

of subsequent formal amendments submitted is set out in para.3.8 below. 

 

3.3 The proposals have been discussed with the Councils’ officers as part of 

detailed pre-application work which was undertaken between early 2020 

and April 2022.  This included a Quality Panel Briefing, the minutes of 

which can be found in Appendix 2. 

 

3.4 Prior to the submission of the application, a pre-application developer 

presentation was made to the JDCC on 6th April 2022.  Following 

submission of the application, a post submission officer update was 

presented to Members of JDCC on 21st October 2022.   

 

3.5 The application seeks outline planning permission for the following 

development, with all matters reserved (except for the means of access). 

The three proposed access points would stem from the existing access 

serving Darwin Green 1, off Cambridge Road/Histon Road.  

 

Page 12



3.6 As an outline planning application, a series of Parameter Plans (PPs) are 

submitted for Approval (Appendix 4), which will set out the framework for 

what the future detailed development proposals should include.  An 

Illustrative Masterplan has also been prepared (Appendix 5) which is 

underpinned by the PPs which are submitted with the Application, relating 

to the following: 

 

 Demolition Parameter Plan  

 Land Use Parameter Plan 

 Movement and Access Parameter Plan 

 Landscape Framework Parameter Plan  

 Building Heights Parameter Plan 

 Urban Design Parameter Plan 

 

 

Amended Plans and Additional Information 

 

3.7 A number of amendments and additional information have been submitted 

since the validation of the planning application. These are set out in the 

table below: 

Date  Amendment/Additional Detail 

19th July 2022 Updated Flood Risk Assessment   
 

25th August 
2022 

Updated Parameter Plans  
Cut and Fill Drawings  
Updated Drainage Strategy  
Updated Highways Plans  
Transport Technical Note  
Updated Landscape, Open Space and Countryside 
Enhancement Strategy  
Environment Statement: Statement of Conformity 
 

11th October 
2022 

Highways Technical Note   
Highway Drawings for Thornton Close, DG1 and 
DG2 Eastern Access for Road Safety Audit 
 

2nd March 2023 Road Safety Audit (approved) drawings 
 

13th June 2023 Open Space Framework Note 
 

7th July 2023 Environment Statement: Water Resources 
Addendum 
 

14th July 2023 Western Pedestrian and Cycle Links Note 

Page 13



 

 

Application Documentation 

 

3.8 A list of submitted documents is included in Appendix 3, this includes the 

amended drawings submitted with the amendment pack (as set out 

above). 

 

Pre-application engagement 

 

3.9 The proposals were subject to lengthy pre-application discussions with 

officers of the shared planning service.  The pre-application process has 

resolved a number of issues including block structures, building heights 

and separation distances, retaining an appropriate level of usable amenity 

space in areas where swales are proposed; drainage modelling; cycling 

provision and management of open space and community facilities.  

 

3.10 Between the commencement of pre-application discussion and the 

submission of the application there have been two Design Quality Panel 

Assessments, the first in November 2019 and then subsequently in 

February 2022. A number of specific recommendations were made.  The 

full minutes are attached as Appendix 2.  Key issues and 

recommendations of the November 2019 meeting are tabulated below, 

together with the officer response.  

 ISSUES AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 

QUALITY PANEL 

OFFICER RESONSE  

1. The Panel emphasised that it is 

important to foster interaction 

and avoid conflict in the design. 

The proposed layout is supported. The 

details of how to manage potential conflict 

between uses and the function of spaces 

is considered appropriate to address 

through the Design Code development 

and through reserved matters design.   

2. The low number of visitor 

parking spaces was noted and it 

was recognised that there is a 

tension between providing 

sufficient parking spaces, to 

avoid nuisance parking, whilst at 

The Local Plan does not set out a 

standard calculation for visitor car parking 

numbers. The proposed visitor car 

parking provision of 1 space per 10 units 

has been tailored to specifically reflect the 

extensive sustainable transport 

 

Page 14



the same time not encouraging 

driving through providing 

excessive parking for park 

users. 

opportunities and proposals. These 

proposals include ‘smart’ measures and 

innovative solutions such as car clubs, 

shared car parking and the provision of 

electric vehicle charging points. Officers 

are supportive of this approach. 

3. The Panel asked how the 

country park would be managed.   

 

Officers have engaged with the applicants 

in relation to the management of the 

Country Park. The cascade mechanism 

that has been negotiated with the 

applicants is set out in para.15.7. The 

management arrangements, have been 

discussed and agreed with the LPA and 

other parties as required as part of the 

drafting of the Section 106 Heads of 

Terms. 

4. A community building is 

proposed which the Panel 

suggested could include a 

crèche.   

   

The use of the Community Building has 

been considered at length as part of the 

negotiations with the applicant. In 

particular, there has been a consideration 

of the need for it to be a multi-use 

building with the NHS also utilising some 

of the floor space for health services. 

There has also been some consideration 

of nursery/creche facilities either within 

the community building or in an 

alternative location to be determined at a 

later date. At this stage though, officers 

are satisfied with the flexibility of this 

building.   

 

5. The Panel characterised the 

development as being a ‘quiet’ 

place that people generally 

come to (or from) rather than 

pass through (cyclists 

excepted). Therefore, some of 

the highway designs could be 

relaxed to focus on providing 

places of greater character and 

Officers will be considering the interaction 

between streets, open spaces and homes 

as part of the Design Code process to 

follow, should the Outline Planning 

Application be approved. The illustrative 

landscape masterplan affords the level of 

Page 15



it was mooted that ‘home zones’ 

could be considered.    

 

flexibility needed to achieve different 

character areas within the development.   

6. The development layout is 

unconventional, in a generally 

pleasing way, but overly 

complicated in places. The 

Panel suggested that 

pedestrians and cyclists might 

not always act as the road 

hierarchy suggests they might. 

The five or six street types could 

be simplified to perhaps just 

three types.  

 

As this is an outline application with all 

matters reserved except for access, any 

detailed layouts that have been 

discussed with the applicants and shared 

with the Design Quality Panel are 

indicative and serve to show how the site 

would accommodate the proposed 

housing and accompanying 

infrastructure. It is acknowledged that 

these matters will need to be considered 

and carefully developed within future 

detailed design proposals. 

 

7. The Panel questioned how the 

boundary treatment with the A14 

will be constructed as it was 

advised that there is insufficient 

spoil on site for the proposed 

bund. The Panel recommended 

that the applicant consider the 

detrimental environmental 

impact of moving soil for the 

bund.   

 

Proposals for the treatment along the A14 

have been guided by acoustic modelling. 

The Applicant has provided three 

separate bunds to provide the acoustic 

and visual mitigation required. This has 

been considered to be acceptable by the 

Council’s Environmental Health Officers 

as noted under the consultation 

responses.  

8. The Panel emphasised the role 

of a design code in embedding 

quality throughout the 

development, and managing 

important issues such as 

boundary fences, walls and 

sheds for cycle or bin storage, 

was discussed 

Officers are committed to the Design 

Code process which will be a requirement 

to be secured as part pf the outline 

planning permission.  

9. The Panel suggested the 

treatment of water on the site 

should be reconsidered and in 

The Applicant has indicated an adequate 

and sustainable water supply can be 

provided for the Darwin Green Phases 2 

Page 16



the context of climate change be 

used to keep the soil moist for 

the plants and trees on site. 

Water gardens and sinuous 

features would utilise water 

resources better. It was 

suggested that the applicant 

look at the university site, 

adjacent to DG1 at Eddington to 

understand how they recycle 

water.   

 

and 3 scheme. The applicant indicates 

that site-specific and/or off-site measures 

will ensure that the risks posed by the 

development can be mitigated or 

removed. The applicant concludes that 

there is no causal link between 

abstraction required for the Darwin 2 & 3 

scheme and harm to local groundwater 

and surface water bodies. The EA does 

not share these views or that the risks are 

negligible or can be mitigated. 

 

10. Future proofing was raised and 

the panel urged consideration of 

an all-electric site. 

The development is proposed to be gas 

free, with PV panels and heat pumps 

used. 

10. The Panel highlighted the 

potential for over-heating as a 

challenge in residential 

development and the need for 

adaptation given extreme 

weather conditions.  

Should outline planning permission be 

granted, the reserved matters 

applications to follow, in addition to the 

Design Code process, will help to ensure 

that single aspect accommodation is 

minimised to prevent the potential for 

overheating  

11. The community building might 

benefit from a location nearer 

the schools, the allotments and 

the country park that could also 

support a café. 

The location of the community building is 

relatively central and provides easy 

access to the country park. 

 

Table 3: Officer response to Issues and Recommendations of the 

Cambridgeshire Quality Panel 

 

4. Environmental Impact Assessment  

Environmental Statement 

 

4.1 An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) scoping request was 

received on 26 November 2012, in relation to the potential development of 

1,100 homes, education uses and other associated infrastructure at 

Page 17



Darwin Green 2 & 3 (S2483/12/E1). An updated EIA scoping opinion was 

submitted on 15 August 2019 for a development of the same scale 

(S/2852/19/E2). 

 

4.2 In response to the 2019 scoping opinion the Council confirmed its view 

that the development represents Schedule 2 development as described in 

the EIA Regulations (as amended), being an urban development project 

which exceeds the relevant thresholds. The Council also confirmed that 

given the characteristics of the development and its potential impacts the 

proposed development represents EIA development, and that an 

Environmental Statement would be required. 

 

Scope of the Environmental Statement (ES) 

 

4.3 The Councils response to scoping request S/2852/19/E2 concluded that 

the Scoping Report provided a generally sound basis for the ES, however 

some sections would require further expansion or clarification, and that 

some additional topics should be included. 

 

4.4 The development as submitted as part of this application is of a 

commensurate scale and type as that considered as part of the scoping 

report, and the ES as submitted was prepared in accordance with the 

formal Scoping Opinions issued. 

 

Methodology for the ES 

 

4.5 The ES considers the likely significant effects of the proposed 

development during its construction and once it is complete and 

operational. The ES assesses the maximum quantum, physical extent and 

development principles defined for the proposal, as set out in the 

submitted parameter plans, together with the detailed access drawings, 

which are put forward for approval. 

 

Topics covered by the ES 

 

4.6 The ES Main Report (Volume 1) sets out the following chapters and 

submission: 

1. Introduction 

2. Methodology and Scope 

3. Site and Context 

4. Consideration of Alternatives 

5. Proposed Development 

6. Planning Policy 

7. Air Quality 

Page 18



8. Archaeology and Cultural Heritage 

9. Ecology 

10. Flood Risk and Drainage 

11. Human Health 

12. Land Contamination 

13. Landscape and Visual 

14. Noise and Vibration 

15. Socio-Economics 

16. Transport 

17. Commentary Level Topics (Agricultural Land and Climate Change) 

18. Cumulative Effects 

19. Summary of Effects 

 

 

4.7 The ES is organised into 3 volumes: Main Report (Volume 1); Technical 

Appendices (Volume 2); and Non-Technical Summary (Volume 3). As the 

ES is a detailed technical and wide-ranging report, in to assist 

consideration of the application, it is supported by the non-technical 

summary.   

 

Update to the ES 

 

4.8 In July 2023 a Water Resources Addendum to the ES was submitted 

(Darwin Green Phases 2 and 3 Water Resources Addendum Chapter 

17.0 Commentary Level Topics).  This was submitted in response to the 

EA’s formal objection to the application dated 16 February 2023. 

 

4.9 Amended application information was also submitted in August 2022, 

including an ES Statement of Conformity, setting out that the amendments 

to the application have no implications for predicted effects or proposed 

mitigation as set out in the ES. 

 

5. Relevant site history  

5.1 The table below details the relevant planning history for the application site. 

Reference Description Outcome 

S/2852/19/E2 Environmental Impact Assessment 

(EIA) scoping opinion for Land at 

Darwin Green 2-3 

Scoping opinion 

issued 26 

September 2019 

Page 19



07/0003/OUT Mixed use development comprising 

up to 1593 dwellings, primary 

school, community facilities, retail 

units (use classes A1, A2, A3, A4 

and A5) and associated 

infrastructure including vehicular, 

pedestrian and cycleway accesses, 

open space and drainage works. 

Granted 

permission 

December 2013 

subject to 

conditions and 

S106 Agreement 

S/0001/07/F Formation of Vehicular Pedestrian 

and Cycleway Access Road from 

Histon Road to serve the Urban 

Extension of the City between 

Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 

Cambridge together with Drainage 

and Landscaping Works. 

Granted 

permission 18 

December 2013 

S/0001/07/NMA1 Non-material amendment to 

permission S/0001/07/F to amend 

the location of the attenuation pond 

in the Flood Risk Assessment 

approved in condition 6 so that it 

accords with the proposed location 

in application S/1355/17/FL. 

Granted 

permission 29 

June 2022 

21/04880/PRIOR Demolition of detached farmhouse Granted prior 

approval 21 

December 2021 

S/1355/17/FL Construction of a drainage pond 

(relocation of drainage pond 

permitted under reference 

S/0001/07/F) to support Darwin 

Green One site wide strategic 

drainage including revised access 

and landscaping details | Land 

Immediately West of The Electricity 

Pylon and Foul Pump Station Histon 

Road Impington 

Granted 

permission 29 

June 2022 

 

Table 4: Relevant Site history 

Page 20



6. Policy 

6.1 Relevant legislation and planning policies are included as Appendix 1. 

 

7. Consultations 

Consultation Responses 

National Highways  

7.1 No objection. The impact of the additional traffic on the A14 would be 

accommodated by recent improvements. Conditions sought requiring the 

submission of a Construction and Environmental Management Plan and 

Travel Plan.  

County Highways  

7.2 No objection. Comments. The County Highway Authority has expressed 

concerns (as part of the initial consultation response) that the submitted 

plans showed only two of the proposed five access points and lacked 

sufficient detail to permit in depth comments. Junction and layout 

amendments were therefore requested.  

 

7.3 Appropriate cycle way provision and adherence to LTN120 was also 

advised. The County Highway Authority required that robust movement 

models also considering street parking be considered given the site sits 

outside Local Authority parking controls. 

 

7.4 The potential links to Girton through Wellbrook Way and Thornton Close 

links were sought. It was also made clear that the Highway Authority will 

not seek to adopt the proposed Green Lanes or Mews Streets.  

 

7.5 In response to the matters above, a road safety audit was undertaken 

eventually issued 21 December 2022. The road safety audit addressed all 

the technical junction details requested by the County Highway Officers.    

 

7.6 Although the Highway Authority do not raise any objection to the lack of a 

connection to Girton through Wellbrook Way, they identify this as a 

missed opportunity. A pre-commencement condition requiring a traffic 

management plan has been imposed.  

Page 21



County Transport Team 

7.7 No objection.  Recommends conditions relating to a Travel Plan; a 

scheme of enhancements to link footway and cycleway on the B1049 to 

the north of the A14 Histon Interchange to Cambridge Road; and delivery 

of the link from the development to Thornton Close. 

 

7.8 The Transport Team proposed that offsite highways works are dealt with 

via a suitably worded condition or inclusion in a Section 106 Agreement 

which allows a Stage 1 / 2 Audit to be undertaken post-planning stage.  A 

contribution is ought to provide an extension of the bus service proposed 

to Darwin Green 1. 

County Growth and Development Team 

7.9 No objection. A number of planning obligations are sought to mitigate the 

impact of the development. 

 

7.10 There is a need for the secondary school, and the location has been 

agreed in principle for some time. The size of the school sites match the 

totals under Darwin Green 1. The school playing fields should be attached 

to the school provision and not managed as part of the country park. The 

timing of delivery of the schools will need to be agreed. 

 

7.11 The primary school should include purpose-built pre-school provision, and 

towards SEND provision. Contributions are sought towards children’s 

services. It is recommended a separate plot for a nursery to come forward 

on a commercial basis is provided within the development. No post-16 

provision is sought. 

 

7.12 A proportional contribution to the fit-out of the library at Darwin Green 1 is 

sought. Contributions are sought towards community development, and 

health initiatives. 

Shared Waste Service 

7.13 No objection. Details of refuse routes will need to be considered at the 

reserved matters stage. A bin bank should be provided on site, and 

temporary cardboard collection points during the initial occupation phase. 

 

7.14 Contributions will be required towards the provision of waste receptacles 

and refuse vehicles.  

Page 22



SCDC Communities Team 

7.15 Initial comments sought amendments/further information regarding 

population figures, governance of the country park, lack of facilities for the 

country park, Community Access Agreement for outdoor sports for the 

community and school, and community access to secondary school 

indoor facilities.  

 

7.16 Comments.  It is vital that connections to the wider network are installed to 

the north and west. Contributions are sought for swimming pools, burial 

space and faith space generally and contributions for a small grants 

scheme, open space maintenance and community development 

contribution for the site specifically. Temporary community facilities should 

be provided. 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

7.17 No objection. Conditions sought for construction water management, 

detailed surface water strategy for each reserved matters, temporary 

storage and management of water, and maintenance details of surface 

water drainage systems. Informatives regarding watercourse consents 

and pollution control is also sought.  

Environment Agency 

7.18 Objection following initial response received 06 June 2022 raising no 

objections to the proposal. The formal objection was issued on 16th 

February 2022, for reasons relating to the impact of the development on 

additional demand for potable water use, increase abstraction and risk 

deterioration to waterbodies in the Greater Cambridge area. Advises that 

the planning application does not demonstrate that the potential impact on 

water resources and Water Framework Directive objectives has been 

assessed and appropriate mitigation considered. 

 

7.19 Subsequent comments received August 2023 received in relation to the 

ES addendum submitted in July 2023. Advised the additional information 

does not demonstrate that the Darwin Green development can be 

supplied sustainably, or that the risks are negligible or can be mitigated. 

Until the output from CWC's growth scenario modelling and the 

subsequent cumulative risk assessment from GCP, we cannot agree that 

the growth in CWC's supply area can be supplied sustainably, without 

posing an unacceptable risk of deterioration to the water environment.  

Page 23



Anglian Water 

7.20 No objection.  Comments.  A sewage pumping station is with 15 metres 

of the site. Any housing located within 15 metres of the asset could be 

affected by noise, odour or disruption from maintenance work. The site 

layout should avoid potentially sensitive uses within 15 metres of this 

asset. 

 

7.21 The Foul Water drainage treatment catchment does not currently have 

capacity for the increase in flows, however necessary steps to increase 

capacity would be undertaken if consent is granted. 

 

7.22 The sewerage system does have capacity for the increase in flows. 

Informatives sought describing necessary steps for the developer to 

undertake. 

 

7.23 The proposal does not intend to use Anglian Water surface water 

drainage assets, and therefore Anglian Water has no comment on the 

suitability of surface water management. 

GCSP Urban Design 

7.24 No objection.  Recommends conditions relating to design code and 

design code compliance. 

County Archaeology 

7.25 No objection.  Comments. The level of significance of the archaeological 
remains within the Site is not sufficient to prevent development or to 
necessitate design measures which retain the heritage assets. 
Archaeological excavation will be needed in some areas and mitigation for 
the remaining archaeological assets within the Country Park area will 
require further consideration following detailed design. A programme of 
historic building recording will be appropriate to mitigate the loss of the 
built heritage assets, which should be secured through a specific 
condition. Recommends archaeology condition and a historic building 
recording condition. 

SCDC Housing Officer 

 
7.26 No objection. Comments. This application is aiming to provide up to 

1,000 residential units, with 40% affordable housing, this is policy 
compliant. The tenure mix and clustering of affordable provision to be 
secured by s106 agreement. It is noted that all affordable units will meet 
or exceed nationally described space standards. Prior to the reserved 
matters submission the following must be addressed: 

Page 24



 The indicative housing mix is based on outdated information 

 Self and custom build plots to be agreed with housing 

 The identified need for wheelchair accessible housing in South 
Cambs. 

 Maximising bed spaces per property. 

 The rent for affordable rent housing to reflect the ‘City fringe sites’. 
 

GCSP Sustainability Officer  

7.27 No objection. Comments (response dated 24 June 2023). The proposed 

scheme is supported in sustainable construction terms. The Sustainability, 

Energy and Water Statement makes a series of commitments with further 

detail to be provided at the reserved matters stage. All plots to have 

electric vehicle charging. All dwellings will be subject to the new Part O 

overheating assessment. Water efficiency of no more than 110 

litres/person/day for all dwellings, with 2 BREEAM Wat01 credits for the 

non-residential development. Recommend at least 3 credits should be 

aimed for. The integration of green infrastructure across the site will help 

to mitigate the effects of the urban heat island effect.  Targeting at least 

95% diversion of construction waste from landfill. Excavation transport 

and soil management will need to be considered for carbon impacts. The 

new community building to the BREEAM excellent rating is welcomed. 

Notes that the density and mix of uses on the site would present a 

challenge to delivering a technically and commercially viable district 

heating system. 

 

7.28 Conditions sought for: A Sustainability, Energy and Water Statement; a 

design and completion BREEAM report; a detailed waste management 

plan to be submitted with each reserved matters application; sustainable 

show homes.  

GCSP Landscape Officer 

7.29 No objection.  Comments. Recommends conditions for: Youth and Play 

Strategy; Strategic and Detailed Landscape Maintenance and 

Management Plan; Landscape Strategy and Groundworks condition. 

GCSO Ecology Officer 

7.30 No objection.  Comments. Support survey and agree with assessed 

habitat baseline and demonstration of biodiversity net gain of 

approximately 19% across the site. Support the proposed Skylark 

mitigation strategy. Details of habitat, establishment and ongoing 

management specification will need to be secured. The principles 

Page 25



proposed within the Landscape and Ecology Management Plan are 

supported. The approach to badger setts across the site is supported. 

 

7.31 Recommends conditions relating to: A site wide Ecological Design 

Strategy (EDS) (including bird and bat boxes); Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) and Construction Ecological Management 

(CEMP) Plan; badger licence and bat work licence prior to works. 

GCSP Tree Officer 

7.32 No objection. Comments. The submitted documents Tree Survey and 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Preliminary Arboricultural Method 

Statement and Tree Protection Plan are sufficient and should be 

approved.  

NHS 

7.33 No objection. Seeks requirements for a self-contained primary care 

space within the Community building. 

UK Health Security Agency  

7.34 No comment. We do not comment on this type of planning application 

unless there are specific chemical & environmental hazard concerns 

which have the potential to impact on the health of local communities. 

Sport England 

7.35 No objection. Conditions sought for assessment of ground conditions 

and a scheme of improvement if required; artificial grass approval; and 

community use scheme. 

SCDC Environmental Health 

7.36 No objection.  Comments. The proximity of the site to the A14 is noted. 

The submitted noise study shows satisfactory noise levels can be 

obtained across the site with careful consideration of mitigation, layout 

and orientation of sensitive rooms. The parameter plans indicate the 

residential area will be set back from the A14.  

 

7.37 Recommends the following conditions: 

 Submission of a Low Emission Strategy for electric vehicle charging 

points, and submission of emission ratings for gas boilers and 

combined heat and power systems. 

Page 26



 Site wide Demolition and Construction Environmental Management 

Plan. 

 Noise impact assessment and mitigation condition to be applied to 

each reserved matters. 

 A condition requiring an assessment and mitigation scheme for any 

reserved matters parcels that contain non-residential uses.  

 A condition restricting the hours for collections and deliveries at 

non-residential premises. 

 A condition requiring details of ventilation, extraction and filtration of 

odours, dust or fumes for any reserved matters parcels that contain 

non-residential uses. 

 A residential road traffic noise insulation scheme informative. 

 Operational noise impact informative and noise attenuation scheme 

informative. 

 Artificial lighting condition requiring a lighting scheme at reserved 

matters stage. 

 Condition requiring adherence to mitigation measures set out in the 

Environmental Statement. 

 General contaminated land informative 

 Air source heat pump noise informative 

 

7.38 The submitted investigation and risk assessment of the site has identified 

localised areas of elevated contaminant concentrations (PAH and 

asbestos presence) and a single instance of elevated pesticides (DDT 

and DDE) within a topsoil sample. Additional investigation is 

recommended in the soils beneath the former farmyards, as well as 

topsoil screening for DDT and breakdown products. Mitigation is likely to 

be simple and can be addressed through the use of standard planning 

condition. 

Cambridgeshire Constabulary Police Architectural Liaison Officer 

7.39 No objection. Comments. The area is of medium risk to crime 

vulnerability. It appears some measures have already been considered, 

and further specific comments will be provided at the reserved matters 

stage when more context is known. 

Parish Council 

7.40 Histon and Impington Parish Council and Girton Parish Council have not 
provided any comments. 

Page 27



Cambridgeshire Quality Panel Meeting of November 2019 

7.41 A copy of the Panel’s full report can be found in Appendix 2.  

 

8. Third Party Representations 

 

8.1 6 representations have been received from the following addresses: 

 

19 St Albans Road Cambridge 

64 Wellbrook Way Girton 

39 Cranesbill Close Orchard Park 

62 South Road Impington 

14 Cavesson Court 

21 Primrose Lane Impington 

 

8.2 The representations can be read in full on the Council’s website, however 

a summary is provided below: 

 

8.3 Those in objection have raised the following issues: 

 The proposal should connect to Histon and Impington via the existing 

bridge over the A14 to encourage active travel. 

 The files are not structured to enable non-experts to interpret. 

 The north road junction of Darwin Green to Histon/Cambridge Road is 

not designed well for cyclists.  

 

8.4 Those providing a neutral comment have given the following reasons: 

 The proposal should provide connections between the site, Girton, 

Histon and Impington, providing residents access to community 

facilities. Active transport links should be provided to allow everyone to 

move between these adjacent areas easily and safely. The farm bridge 

over the A14 should be provided as one route. All potential active 

travel connections should be secured to be delivered before first 

occupation. 

 The proposal would add pressure to the Histon Road / King’s Hedges 

junction and the Histon / A14 junction which are currently congested 

during peak times. Other roads such as Milton Road have better 

access to the A14. 

 Grey water processing should be provided. 

 A commitment to BREEAM excellence for public buildings and schools 

should be provided. 

Page 28



Cambridge Past, Present & Future 

8.5 Object. The location of the country park adjacent to the A14 will be 

compromised by traffic noise, and the tree planting is likely to take 30 

years before mitigating. The impact is likely to be higher around 

“Impington Wood” as no bund is proposed. The area of “Darwin 

Meadows” should incorporate views from surrounding properties for 

natural surveillance. The 4-storey housing along the two main routes 

should be softened by planting. 

 

8.6 The proposal has a low standard of sustainability. Grey water collection 

and treatment should be incorporated. There is no commitment to 

BREEAM excellent for public buildings which is local government policy. 

 

8.7 Active travel connections and public transport have not been maximised. 

There should be a commitment to opening up new active travel routes, in 

particular across the A14 to Girton, Histon and Impington. There should 

also be a commitment to a public transport service to Cambridge North 

Station. 

Camcycle 

8.8 Object.  The proposals fail to provide sufficient permeability across all 

residential areas onto the cycle network. In addition, there is no separate 

cycle provision on secondary roads. 

 

8.9 There are poor connections to Girton, Orchard Park, Cambridge North 

Station and employment areas within the Science Park, Business Park 

and St Johns Innovation Park. This shows a failure to respond to 

changing travel patterns in the area.  

 

8.10 Although the proposed eastern access junction provides legal priority for 

pedestrian and cycles, the design should manage vehicular speeds more 

effectively through horizontal and vertical design controls.  

 

8.11 The Transport Strategy does not correct the mistakes made in Darwin 

Green Phase 1 and no revisions have been made to reflect the modal 

share for cycling which may now be double what is projected.   

9. Member Representations 

9.1 No representations have been received from individual District or County 

Councillors. 

Page 29



 

9.2 The proposals have been considered by the Cambridge County Council 

Environment and Green Investment Committee. The application was 

supported in principle and comments were made on the following: 

 

 

 Members stressed the importance of health care provision being 

delivered, both GP and dental surgeries. Clarification was sought 

on when health provision will be delivered at Darwin Green.  

  The County Council Members sought further clarity on the model 

that would be used to generate revenue to maintain that park.  

 The County Councillors highlighted the work undertaken by Think 

Communities in the adjacent Orchard Park development to 

generate income from sports pitches and community centres to pay 

for other facilities and suggested models such as this should be 

considered at Darwin Green. 

 The Country Park is located in the Air Quality Management Area 

and it is suggested that landscaping and tree planting for the 

country park should be designed to mitigate the air quality and 

noise impacts from traffic on the A14. 

 Access to sports facilities and ensuring school grounds are not in 

country park. 

 

10. Planning Assessment  

10.1 From the consultation responses and representations received and from 

an inspection of the site and the surroundings, the key issues are:  

 

- Principle of development 

- Design, scale, layout and landscaping 

- Housing provision 

- Employment provision and community facilities 

- Open space and sports provision 

- Water resources, management and flood risk 

- Biodiversity and trees 

- Carbon reduction and sustainable design 

- Transport and access 

- Heritage assets 

- Amenity and environmental health 

- Utilities 

- Third party representations 

- Other matters 

Page 30



- Planning obligations 

- Planning balance 

- Recommendation 

11. Principle of Development 

11.1 Policy S/3 of the Local Plan 2018 sets out a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development, and that the Local Planning Authority will seek 

approve wherever possible development which accords with the Local 

Plan that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in 

the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

11.2 This approach supported by Policies S/5 and S/6, which amongst other 

things, set out that development will meet the objectively assessed needs 

of the district over the plan period, including the delivery of 19,500 new 

homes and 22,000 additional jobs, with the development hierarchy setting 

out a preference that development is located at the edge of Cambridge, 

having regard to the purposes of the Green Belt. 

 

11.3 Local Plan Policy SS/2 allocates land between Huntingdon Road and 

Histon Road for part of a sustainable housing-led urban extension to 

Cambridge, separated from Girton, Histon, and Impington by the Green 

Belt  

 

11.4 The site is not within the Histon & Impington Plan area, and the Girton 

Neighbourhood Plan is at an early stage of preparation and is not 

considered to carry any weight at this stage.  

 

11.5 The proposed application will deliver up to 1,000 dwellings, a primary and 

secondary school, and local centre. The proposed developable area 

accords with the Local Plan allocation under Policy SS/2, with the 

remainder or the site proposed to form a country park.  

 

11.6 Policy SS/2 is subject to a number of requirements, including: 

 

 Provision of approximately 1,000 dwellings, including affordable 

housing a wide mix of homes to meet different needs. 

 Submission of a Spatial Masterplan setting out design principles for 

the site, and integration with the wider North West Cambridge 

development. 

 Submission of a Landscape Strategy including retaining important 

landscape features and an appropriate edge treatment to the 

Green Belt setting of Cambridge. 

Page 31



 Submission of a Countryside Enhancement Strategy to maintain 

and enhance landscape features, ecological interests, and public 

access to the retained Green Belt between Huntingdon Road, 

Cambridge Road, and the A14.  

 Provision of an appropriate level of community services and 

facilities. 

 

11.7 A Spatial Masterplan has been submitted as part of the application 

(referred to as the Illustrative Masterplan). A Landscape, Open Space and 

Countryside Enhancement Strategy has been submitted to fulfil the 

requirement of a Landscape Strategy and a Countryside Enhancement 

Strategy.  

 

11.8 Policy S/S2 also includes a number of requirements in relation to 

transport, access, landscape, water management, noise, and air quality.  

Compliance with these requirements is discussed in the relevant sections 

below. 

Green Belt  

11.9 National Policy sets out that inappropriate development in green belts 

should not be approved except in very special circumstances. Whilst most 

forms of development are considered inappropriate, exceptions include 

buildings for outdoor sport and recreation, and allotments, as well as 

engineering operations, changes of use, and local transport infrastructure 

which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt location. 

  

11.10 Development proposed within the retained Green Belt comprises the 

demolition of existing buildings, engineering operations including the 

creation of bunds and ponds, provision of a country park and sports and 

recreation facilities. All of these uses are considered to represent 

appropriate development within the Green Belt as defined by National 

Policy, and as such are considered acceptable in principle. 

Agricultural Land 

11.11 Local Plan Policy NH/3 sets out that planning permission will not be 

granted for development which will lead to an irreversible loss of 

agricultural land within Grades 1-3a unless and is either allocated for 

development, or sustainability considerations and the need or the 

development are sufficient to override the need to protect the agricultural 

value of the land.  

 

Page 32



11.12 The site is currently in agricultural use, and an assessment of the 

agricultural land classification of the site has been submitted as part of the 

Environmental Statement (ES Appendices 17.1 and 17.2). This assesses 

that 14% of the site is Grade 2, 35% is grade 3a, 40% grade 3b, and 11% 

non-agricultural. On this basis 47% of the site is classed as ‘best and 

most versatile’ land (Grades 1-3a).  

 

11.13 Policy NH/3 recognises that there are certain circumstances when the 

loss of agricultural land is acceptable, including where land is allocated for 

development.  Officers are therefore satisfied that the Application does not 

cause conflict with policy NH/3: the level of growth planned for the Greater 

Cambridge area to 2031 and beyond means that some development on 

agricultural land will be inevitable, as part of the development of allocated 

sites.  On this basis, there is considered to be no conflict with Policy NH/3.  

 

11.14 Land within the retained Green Belt is not specifically shown as allocated 

for development on the Policies Map, however Policy SS/2 and the 

supporting text clearly set out that this area is intended to be used for the 

purposes of recreation, and to provide a noise bund and water 

management features as part of the site allocation. On this basis it is 

considered the loss of agricultural land within the retained Green Belt 

does not conflict with Policy NH/3.  

 

Minerals 

 

11.15 Part of the site falls within a designated Minerals Safeguarding Area (sand 

and gravel) in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (MWLP) 2021.  

 

11.16 Policy 5 of the MWLP 2021 sets out that the Mineral Planning Authority 

must be consulted on development within Safeguarding Areas other than 

in a number of circumstances, including where development is consistent 

with an allocation in the Development Plan for the area. As the site is 

allocated with the Local Plan, development is not considered to conflict 

with Policy 5. 

 

Conclusion on Principle of Development 

 

11.17 On the basis of the above, and subject to compliance with the specific 

requirements of Local Plan Policy SS/2 as discussed in the sections 

below, the principle of the development is considered to be in accordance 

with the Local Plan Policies S3, S/5, S/6, SS/2 and NH/3, and the National 

Planning Policy Framework 2022.  

 

Page 33



11.18 In order to secure the timely delivery of the development should the 

application be approved, a series of standard conditions would need to be 

secured in relation to the timing of submission and commencement of 

applications reserved matters, requiring all applications to be submitted 

within a period of 8 years from the date of approval. To ensure clarity over 

the terms of the permission, and to support the comprehensive and 

coordinated development of the site, conditions are identified in relation to 

approved plans, the quantum of uses, and phasing of the development.  

 

12. Design, Scale, Layout and Landscaping 

 

12.1 Policy HQ/1 ‘Design Principles’ provides a comprehensive list of criteria 

by which development proposals must adhere to, requiring that all new 

development must be of high-quality design, with a clear vision as to the 

positive contribution the development will make to its local and wider 

context. 

 

12.2 Policy SS/2 requires submission of a spatial masterplan setting out how 

the site will integrate effectively into the wider North-West Cambridge 

area, as well as setting out the principles of good design for the site.  

 

12.3 Policies NH/2, NH/6 and NH/8 are relevant to the landscape and visual 

impacts of a proposal. Together they seek to permit development only 

where it respects and retains or enhances the local character and 

distinctiveness of the local landscape, Green Belt, and its National 

Character Area.  

 

12.4 The NPPF provides advice on achieving well-designed places and 

conserving and enhancing the natural environment.  

 

Design, Layout, and Scale 

 

12.5 The proposal is accompanied by an Illustrative Masterplan and 

Landscape Masterplan, as well as a Design and Access Statement and 

series of parameter plans which would form approved drawings. These 

are: 

 Demolition Parameter Plan 

 Land Use Parameter Plan 

 Movement and Access Parameter Plan 

 Landscape Framework Parameter Plan  

 Building Heights Parameter Plan 

Page 34



 Urban Design Parameter Plan 

 

12.6 The proposals have been developed with input from a range of 

stakeholders, including consultations with local residents, and have 

evolved through pre-application discussions.  

 

Land Use  

 

12.7 As set out above, the developable area of the site has been framed by the 

removal of land from the Green Belt as part of the Local Plan 2018. Within 

the developable area, policy SS/2 supports the provision of approximately 

1,000 dwellings, alongside a range of services to meet the day-to-day 

needs of the development, including schools, local shopping, and 

community facilities, and outdoor sports.  

 

12.8 The Land Use parameter plan reflects the aspirations for the site as set 

out in policy SS/2, with the majority of the developable area indicated for 

residential use. An education campus with space for a primary and 

secondary school is proposed in the south west, adjacent to land 

indicated for outdoor sports. An area for mixed use-development, 

potentially comprising community, retail, residential uses, is indicated 

towards the centre of the site. A series of green corridors connect the 

residential development parcels, and schools, to the proposed country 

park within the retained Green Belt. 

 

12.9 The mix and distribution of land uses is considered appropriate and to 

reflect the requirements of policy SS/2. 

 

Movement and Access 

  

12.10 National and local planning policies seek to prioritise sustainable travel 

methods. This s reflected in policy SS/2 which sets out that it will be a 

highly accessible and permeable site supported by strong network of 

pedestrian and cycle links as well as high-quality public transport, and that 

vehicular access should be through Darwin Green 1 and from Cambridge 

Road. 

 

12.11 The Movement and Access Parameter plan sets out how the development 

will link into the approved vehicular access point from Cambridge Road in 

the East, with a primary road linking into Darwin Green 1, providing a loop 

through the wider site. The bus service proposed for the wider Darwin 

Green site is proposed to use the primary road, ensuring access to bus 

services from close to residences. Details of the locations of bus stops 

etc. will be considered at the reserved matters stage. 

Page 35



 

12.12 Bi-directional cycle lanes will run alongside the primary street, and link 

into the approved orbital cycle route within Darwin Green 1. The primary 

cycle routes will then link into shared-use pedestrian and cycle paths 

within the country park. The block structure and general site layout will 

facilitate ease of movement through the site for pedestrians and cyclists, 

with cyclists able to use either off-road or low-traffic routes throughout. 

 

12.13 The parameter plan indicated four potential connections to the north and 

west for pedestrians and cyclists. These are via the agricultural bridge 

over the A14, to Wellbrook Way, Thornton Way, and Thornton Close 

(where it connects to public footpath 135/5).  

 

12.14 As discussed in the transport section below, it is proposed that a 

pedestrian and cycle connection will be provided to Thornton Way and a 

pedestrian connection Thornton close, with the developer providing these 

connections up to the site boundary. With both of these connections there 

is some uncertainty over the extent of the public highway and whether 

these connections will cross unregistered third-party land. As such a 

planning obligation is proposed to fund delivery of these connections by 

the County Council, using their statutory powers.  

 

12.15 Wellbrook Way is unadopted, and a connection would require delivery of a 

connection through land in third-part ownership. Following discussions 

with the County Council, it is considered that given the uncertainty over 

where this connection is deliverable, it is not reasonable to impose a 

planning obligation or condition to require its delivery. 

 

12.16 In relation to the agricultural bridge over the A14, this connects to a series 

of private farm tracks between Girton and Impington. Delivery of this route 

would require delivery of an extensive new active travel route, which is not 

identified as a strategic route in the Local Plan, or by the County Council, 

etc. Given there are alternative suitable routes for pedestrians and cyclists 

to access Girton and Histon and Impington, it is not considered 

reasonable to require an onward connection over the A14 bridge.  

 

12.17 The parameter plan however does not preclude the future delivery of 

connections over the A14 bridge or via Wellbrook Way, and the detail of 

pedestrian and cycle routes through the country park will be considered 

further at the reserved matters stage. 

 

12.18 Notwithstanding that the Wellbrook Way and A14 bridge connections are 

unlikely to be deliverable, it is considered the proposed access 

arrangements and site layout will ensure the site is permeable and well-

Page 36



connected with high-quality active travel and public transport routes 

through the development itself and into the surrounding area. Overall, 

officers consider that a good level of accessibility and linkages to existing 

development is provided by the application proposals.  This would, 

however, be a limited conflict with part 10 of policy SS/2 which seeks to 

secure strong linkages. 

 

Building Heights 

 

12.19 The parameter plans specify the maximum proposed building heights, 

expressed as height above ground level. As the site is proposed to be 

regraded, the parameter plan specifies the maximum ground level within 

the boundary of each development parcel, expressed as metres Above 

Ordinance Datum.  

 

12.20 The parameter plans show that building heights for residential parcels are 

proposed to vary across the site, with taller buildings fronting onto key 

routes, namely the primary street and green corridors, and stepping down 

within development plots. The maximum height proposed is up to 4 

storeys, or 16m to the ridge/parapet, stepping down to 3 storeys (13m) 

fronting the country park and secondary routes, and up to 2.5 storeys 

(11.5m) within some development parcels. For the education uses, a 

maximum height of 16m is proposed, representing 3-storeys based on 

typical non-residential storey heights.   

 

12.21  These heights are similar to those approved on Darwin Green, where for 

the majority of the site, heights of up to 4 storeys (15.5m) were permitted, 

stepping down to 3 storeys (12.8m) then 2 storeys (9.7m) close to the 

existing residences to the south and east. Ground levels within Darwin 

Green 1 vary from around 10m AOD at the lowest point in the north east 

to 22.5m AOD in the south west of the site.  

 

12.22 The Environment Statement includes a Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment (chapter 13) which assesses the impact of the development, 

based on the maximum building heights indicated on the parameter plans. 

This represents a worst-case scenario given that building heights will vary 

within development parcels. The ES concludes that the site has capacity 

to accommodate the development in landscape and visual terms, with 

potential to mitigate the visual impact of the development through the 

country park, green corridors, and the detailed design of the individual 

development parcels themselves.  

 

Page 37



12.23 Officers consider the proposed maximum building heights to be 

acceptable, with the scale of individual development parcels to be 

considered further at the reserved matters stage. 

 

Urban Design 

 

12.24 The Urban Design parameter plan outlines some of the key design 

parameters for the site, to guide the future development of the design 

code and individual development parcels. This is supported by further 

detail in the Design and Access Statement, which sets out how the site 

design has developed through the pre-application process and how the 

site-wide principles translate into the illustrative detailed design set out in 

the Masterplan.  

 

12.25 The parameter plan identifies key frontages within the development, 

including frontages onto the country park, primary road, and green 

corridors, with a brief overview of what is expected for each frontage, 

namely responding to the particular characteristics of each context. It also 

identifies other important frontages along secondary routes. The 

parameter pan also identifies locations of townscape significance where 

particular attention will need to be given to the design of building, as well 

as identifying important views, key linkages, and indicating the potential 

network of tertiary streets.  

 

12.26 The details in the Urban Design parameter plan reflect principles of good 

urban design, which will help to facilitate delivery of a development which 

will respond to its context and be legible and well-connected. The design 

principles illustrated in the plan will be developer further through the 

design code and the details design of each development parcel.  

 

Landscape Framework 

 

12.27 The Landscape Framework Parameter Plan identifies the high-level 

landscape typologies and their extents, namely the country park, 

orchards/allotments, sports pitches, key public spaces, and informal open 

space including green corridors. The parameter plan also indicates the 

proposed locations for play spaces. The plan is supported by a 

Landscape, Open Space, and Countryside Enhancement Strategy and a 

Site-Wide Landscape management Strategy. 

 

12.28 Green corridors will provide an opportunity for landscape works, with 

smaller parklets and opportunities for planting within streets also proposed 

across the development. Within the country park, landscape features are 

proposed to be retained where possible, including area protected by Tree 

Page 38



Preservation Orders. A number of landscape works are proposed within 

the country park including construction of ponds and bunds, and diversion 

of a drainage ditch. 

 

12.29 The proposal will provide a wide range of multi-functional and inter-

connected landscape areas across the site. These are designed to meet 

the needs of all ages, and will include robust and functional spaces in 

high-traffic area such as around the primary street network and 

community building, whilst the country park will provide spaces for a range 

of leisure activities and uses.  

 

12.30 As detailed in the water management section below, regrading of the site 

is necessary in order to establish a primarily gravity-based drainage 

system, which will primarily affect the developable part of the site.  

 

12.31 The Landscape Officer has commented that there are a number of areas 

which will require further attention at the detailed design stage, for 

example resolving level changes to between the site and Darwin Green 1.  

Subject to identifying planning conditions relating to hard and soft 

landscaping, landscape strategy, and groundworks no objection is raised. 

Details of the ongoing management and maintenance of landscape areas 

and open space are also proposed to be secured through the s106 

agreement. Subject to detail submitted at the reserved matters and 

discharge of conditions stage, it is considered the proposals have the 

potential to provide a high-quality and distinctive place which relates well 

to its urban-edge location. 

 

Landscape and Visual Impact 

 

12.32 A landscape and visual impact assessment has been undertaken and is 

included within the ES, at chapter 13. This assesses the impacts of the 

development from a number of locations including Girton Road Bridge, 

Cambridge Road, and local footpaths. The LVIA assesses that, inevitably 

for a development of this scale, there will be adverse effects experienced 

in close proximity to the site, due to the change from agricultural land to 

an extension of the city. This however will be viewed within the context of 

the existing and developing urban edge to the city, and balanced by the 

provision of a new country park, tree planting, and other landscape works. 

The country park, including proposed tree planting and bunds, and 

containment by existing road infrastructure will largely limit the landscape 

and visual impact of the development on wider views, and mitigate the 

impact of the development on the Green Belt. The detail of proposed 

landscape mitigation can be considered further at the reserved matters 

stage. 

Page 39



 

 

Cambridgeshire Quality Panel 

 

12.33 The proposals were presents to the Cambridgeshire Quality Panel in 

November 2019, and again in March 2022. A summary of their key 

comments, and responses from officers is set out in Table 3. 

 

 

Conclusion on Design 

 

12.34 The Council’s Urban Design Officer has commented, following clarification 

provided by amendments to the application, that they have no objection to 

the proposals subject to conditions relating to a Design Code. As all 

matters are reserved other than access to the site, the quality of the 

development will depend on details secured through the design coding 

process and subsequent reserved matters, however the parameter plans 

are considered to represent a sound basis for the design of the site. 

 

12.35 Overall, the proposed development is considered to have potential to 

represent a well-designed and sustainable new neighbourhood, that 

would relate well to its context and be appropriately landscaped. 

Conditions have been identified relating to a design code, hard and soft 

landscaping, landscape strategy, and groundworks which would ensure 

compliance with the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) policies 

HQ/1, SS/2, NH/2, NH/6, NH/8, and SC/9, and the NPPF. 

 

13. Housing Provision 

Density 

13.1 Policy H/8 requires a net housing density of 40 dwellings per hectare 

(dph) in new settlements and urban extensions. The policy states that 

density may vary where justified by the character of the locality, the scale 

of the development, or other local circumstances.  

 

13.2 The delivery of 1,000 homes across the site, in accordance with the 

submitted Masterplan would a achieve a net density of approximately 38.7 

dph, which accords with Policy H/8. This is based on the developable area 

of the site, excluding areas designated for non-residential uses. The site is 

intended to form a long-term edge of Cambridge, bounded by the Green 

Belt and transport infrastructure. The proposed average density is 

considered appropriate, providing sufficient density to sustain services 

Page 40



within the site whilst also allowing lower-density development to the 

northern and western edges, sympathetic to neighbouring villages and the 

surrounding countryside. On this basis the proposed density of the site is 

considered acceptable. 

 Mix 

13.3 Policy H/9 ‘Housing Mix’ requires a wide choice, type and mix of housing 

to be provided to meet the needs of different groups in the community. For 

market housing development of 10 or more homes, H/9 provides targets 

as set out in the table below. H/9 states the mix of affordable homes is to 

be set by local housing needs evidence. This is supported by Policy SS/2 

which sets that the development should include a good mix of house 

types, sizes and tenures (including affordable housing) attractive to, and 

the meeting the needs of, all ages and sectors of society including those 

with disabilities. 

Policy 
Requirement 
(Market) 
(Includes 
10% 
allowance for 
flexibility) 

Latest Affordable 
Housing Needs 
(Housing Strategy 
Team) 

Market  Affordable 

30% 1 or 2-
bedroom 
homes 

35% 1-bed flats 11% 1-bed 45% 1-bed flat 

18% 2-bed flats 19% 2-bed 15% 2-bed flat 

17% 2-bed houses 15% 2-bed 
house 

30% 3-
bedroom 
homes 

25% 40% 20% 

30% 4-
bedroom 
homes 

5% 30% 5% 

 

Table 5 Housing mix 

13.4 The market housing mix generally accords with the requirements of Policy 

H/9. The Housing Strategy Team have commented that the indicative 

affordable housing mix is outdated and should be updated to provide a 

higher proportion of 2 and 3 bed units in order to meet local needs. 

 

13.5 Officers note that the proposed affordable housing mix is indicative at this 

stage, and the latest mix is proposed to be referenced within the s106 

agreement, alongside a condition. The final affordable and market 

Page 41



housing mix for each development parcel will need to be reviewed and 

confirmed at the reserved matters stage.  

 

13.6 Policy H/9 also requires 5% of homes in a development to be built to the 

accessible and adaptable dwellings M4(2) standard, with the supporting 

text setting out that provision of some wheelchair accessible affordable 

housing will be expected, where there is an identifiable need. It is noted 

the government intends to require all new housing to be built to M4(2), 

unless it is impractical or unachievable to do so, for example for flats-over-

garages, however this has yet to be incorporated into Building 

Regulations.  

 

13.7 Policy H/9 requires that on developments of 20 dwellings or more, plots 

will be made available to self and custom builders. The Council has a duty 

under the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended) to 

grant enough permissions to meet demand in the area. The Strategic 

Housing Team have suggested approximately 5% of dwellings should be 

offered as self-build or custom-build in order to meet demand, in line with 

the Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy 2019-2023, with the details to 

be agreed through the s106 agreement, and subsequent reserved matters 

applications. 

 

13.8 In relation to accessible housing, the appellant is proposing that the 

requirement for 5% of homes to be M4(2) compliant to be secured by 

condition. The Housing Needs of Specific Groups – Addendum for 

Greater Cambridge August 2021, which is part of the emerging Local Plan 

evidence base suggests between 4.7% and 6.4% of new homes need to 

be wheelchair accessible. Whilst a substantial proportion of this will be 

addressed through specialist housing for older people, there remains an 

outstanding need for wheelchair housing. Following discussion with the 

Housing Strategy officer and the appellant, conditions are identified to 

secure homes to M4(2), and 5% affordable housing to M4(3). 

 Affordable and specialist housing 

13.9 Local Plan Policy H/10 requires 40% affordable homes on development 
sites of 11 dwellings or more except where it can be demonstrated 
unviable in light of changing market conditions, individual site 
circumstances and development costs.  
 

13.10 Policy H/10 sets out that the affordable housing tenure mix should be 
agreed at the time of the permission, in accordance with local 
circumstances, and that affordable housing should be in small groups or 
clusters distributed throughout the site.  

 

Page 42



13.11 The Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy 2019-2023 sets out that in 

South Cambridgeshire 70% of the affordable should be social housing for 

rent, and 30% intermediate.  

13.12 The appellant is proposing 40% affordable housing, compliant with Policy 
H/10. Of the affordable housing, 70% is proposed to be social housing for 
rent, and 30% intermediate, again in line with local guidance. Subject to 
details being secured through the s106 agreement, this is supported. 
 

13.13 In relation to the clustering of affordable housing, this is primarily a matter 
to be determined through reserved matters applications. The Design and 
Access Statement and Illustrative Masterplan set out how block typologies 
are proposed to vary across the site, with a mix of housing types and 
sizes within blocks. This approach is considered to facilitate the inclusion 
of smaller clusters of affordable housing across the site and is supported. 

 
Conclusion on Housing Provision 
 

13.14 Officers, in consultation with the Council’s Housing Team, are satisfied 

that the quantum, form, and proposed distribution of market and 

affordable housing within the site is appropriate, subject to details secured 

through the s106 agreement, and the inclusion of a condition on housing 

mix. Further details are proposed to be secured in the s106 to support the 

delivery of self-build and custom housing, alongside conditions securing 

accessible housing. On this basis the proposals accord with Policies H/8, 

H/9, H/10 and SS/2 of the Local Plan and the Greater Cambridge Housing 

Strategy 2019-2023.   

14. Employment Provision and Community Facilities  

14.1 Local Plan Policy SC/4 sets out that all housing development should 

include or contribute to the provision of community services and facilities 

to meet the needs of the development. Policy SC/6 specifies that housing 

developments should deliver new community facilities on site where 

possible, and where this is not possible should contribute to provision off-

site based on 111sqm of floorspace per 1,000 residents.  

 

14.2 Policy SS/2 requires the development to provide an appropriate level and 

type of services, facilities and infrastructure to meet the day-to-day needs 

of the development, either on-site or elsewhere within North West 

Cambridge. This is to include a secondary school primary school, as well 

as local shopping and community facilities.  

 

Education Provision 

 

Page 43



14.3 As part of the application, an education campus is identified, including 

2.5ha for the secondary school, 1.3ha for a primary school, and a 

combined 5ha of sports and play space within the County Park.  

 

14.4 The primary and secondary school sites are expected to be provided as 

serviced sites, with financial contributions to their delivery secured through 

the s106 agreement. It is expected the County Council will then manage 

the design and delivery of the new school buildings. The primary school is 

intended to include provision for children with special educational needs 

and disabilities.  

 

14.5 Alongside the primary and secondary school, the County Council have 

requested contributions towards the Children and Family Centre on 

Darwin Green 1, and the library service at Darwin Green 1. These are 

proposed to be secured through the s106, alongside details of the delivery 

of the primary and secondary school. The County Council have no 

objection subject to agreement of details in relation to education provision 

being secured through the s106 agreement. 

 

Retail and community space 

 

14.6 As well as the education campus, a local centre is proposed as part of the 

application. This would include space for a 400sqm community centre, as 

well as 200sqm of retail floorspace.  

 

14.7 Whilst the proposed retail provision is modest, the Local Plan retail 

hierarchy in Policy E/21 does not identify the site as a preferred site for 

retail, and there are number of local centres nearby including a Darwin 

Green 1 and Orchard Park. On this basis the proposed level of retail 

provision is considered appropriate given the context.  

 

14.8 The NHS have requested spaced within the Community Building to 

provide a number of health services, with a hall, and two consultation 

rooms requested, which would be secured through the s106.  

 

14.9 The Council’s community team have also requested a contribution to 

support the delivery of faith space within the community building or in the 

vicinity of the site, which would be secured through the s106 agreement. 

A contribution to off-site delivery of burial space would also be secured 

through the s106 agreement. 

 

14.10 A temporary community facility is also proposed, which is anticipated to 

be delivered alongside the sales centre early on in the development, to 

Page 44



serve residents until the permanent facility is delivered later on. This is 

proposed to be secured as part of the s106 agreement. 

 

14.11 Details of the delivery of the community facilities and retail space will be 

secured though the s106 agreement, alongside obligations to support 

community development. 

 

14.12 Overall, the provision of employment, community, and educational 

facilities is considered acceptable, subject to the detail of delivery of these 

facilities being secured within the s106 agreement, in conformity with 

Local Plan Policies SS/2, SC/4, and SC/6. 

15. Open Space and Sports Provision 

15.1 Local Plan Policy SS/2 requires submission of a Countryside 

Enhancement Strategy for the retained Green Belt land, to protect the 

existing landscape and features of interest, and provide new landscape, 

ecological, and public access enhancements. Policy NH/8 sets out that 

where development is permitted within or adjacent to the Green Belt, 

planting and landscape works should ensure the impact on the Green Belt 

is mitigated.  

 

15.2 Policy SC/7 sets out that new developments should deliver outdoor play 

space, sports provision, informal open space, allotments, and community 

orchards. Policy SC/4 sets out that new developments should include 

provision for sports facilities to meet the needs of the development. 

 

Country Park and informal open space 

 

15.3 The majority of the retained Green Belt within the site is proposed to be 

used as a Country Park, extending to approximately 36 hectares 

(excluding outdoor sports facilities and allotments). This is proposed to 

include a mix of landscapes incorporating water management, ecology 

features, noise attenuation bunds, buffer planting and public access 

routes.  

 

15.4 The submitted Landscape, Open Space, and Countryside Strategy, sets 

out that the majority of existing landscape features are proposed to be 

retained, including watercourses, trees, and hedgerows. 

 

15.5 Alongside the country park, a series of green corridors are proposed 

which will link both Darwin Green 2 and 3, as well as Darwin Green 1 to 

the country park. These will be multi-functional spaces acting as 

Page 45



movement corridors, water management, as well as providing a 

biodiversity network through the site. 

 

15.6 1.36ha of allotments and community orchard are proposed on the western 

side of the country park, next to the proposed sports pitches, exceeding 

the policy requirement of approximately 0.9ha. Details of the allotments, to 

ensure they are of an adequate standard, can be secured through a 

through a condition. 

 

15.7 Details of management and maintenance of the country park and other 

open space are proposed to be secured through the s106 agreement. 

This has been subject of extensive discussion, to seek arrangements 

which will ensure the country park is maintained to a high standard and is 

financially sustainable, seeking to avoid or at least minimise the need for 

an estate service charge for residents. This is partly due to the country 

park being intended to serve as an asset for the wider are and not just the 

residents of Darwin Green. A cascade mechanism is proposed, with 

preference given to the City Council Streets and Open Spaces team to 

take on management of the park, funded by a suitable endowment from 

the developer to ensure it is maintained in the long-term. 

 

15.8 Connectivity through the country park to the surrounding area is 

discussed in the transport section below.  

 

15.9 The proposed provision of informal open space is significantly in excess of 

the local plan requirement for a development of this size (approximately 

1ha), and will provide a range of landscape elements, retaining the 

majority of existing landscape and ecological features, and as such is 

supported. As set out in the design section above, it is considered the 

proposals will also provide a well-defined boundary to the Green Belt. 

 

Sports Provision 

 

15.10  A range of outdoor sports pitches are proposed as part of the 

development, to the west of the education campus. This area is proposed 

to extend to 6.81ha and expected include grass pitches, a 3G pitch, tennis 

court, Multi-Use Games Areas (MUGAs), and running track, with details to 

be agreed at the reserved matters stage. 

 

15.11 Whilst the sports pitches are proposed to be associated with the primary 

and secondary school, a community access agreement is proposed to be 

secured through the s106 agreement to ensure public access to the 

sports fields. A condition is proposed to ensure the sports pitches are 

constructed to an adequate standard. 

Page 46



 

15.12 No indoor sports facilities are proposed within the site. There is an 

established need for swimming pool provision within the area, and a 

financial contribution to off-site provision is proposed to be secured 

through the s106 agreement.  

 

Youth and Play 

 

15.13  0.93ha of formal children’s play space is proposed throughout the 

development, with 23 Local Areas of Play (LAP), 4 Local Equipped Areas 

of Play (LEAP), and 1 Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play (NEAP). 

0.81ha of informal play space is proposed across the site, including a bike 

track and skate park, as well as informal features integrated into the 

landscape. The overall level of play provision is in line with the 

requirements of Policy SC/7.   

 

15.14 The play spaces are proposed as a network across the development, with 

LAPs mainly located along green corridors and within development 

parcels where they will be easily accessible for residents, LEAPs around 

the interface of the development with the country park, with one also 

proposed by the school campus, and the NEAP and teenage play facilities 

proposed within the country park.  

 

15.15 The indicative locations of play spaces are shown on the Landscape 

Framework Parameter Plan, identified to be secured under a condition, 

with details of the plays spaces themselves to be provided at the reserved 

matters stage. The delivery of the play spaces, to ensure they are made 

available to residents through occupation, is proposed to be secured 

through the s106 agreement. 

 

15.16 Overall, the level of open space provision is significantly in excess of the 

minimum requirements set out in the Local Plan, with the provision of 

sports pitches, play space, and allotments/orchards all in accordance with 

the requirements of the Local Plan. It is considered the country park, 

sports pitches, and play facilities within the Green Belt are appropriate for 

their location and will not result in a significant loss of openness or 

otherwise harm the retained Green Belt. On this basis, subject to 

appropriate conditions, and details of amount, delivery and ongoing 

management and maintenance of open space to be secured through the 

s106, the proposals are considered to be in accordance with Local Plan 

policies SS/2, NH/8, SC/4, and SC/7. 

Page 47



16. Water management and flood risk  

 

16.1 Policy CC/9 of the Local Plan requires developments to minimise the risk 

of flooding. Policy CC/8 requires developments to incorporate Sustainable 

Drainage Systems (SuDS) appropriate to the nature of the site.  

 

16.2 Policy CC/4 requires new development to be water efficient, designed to a 

water efficiency standard equivalent to 110 litres of water per person per 

day for residential development, and to achieve a minimum of 2 BREEAM 

water credits if practicable. Policy CC/7 requires all developments to 

protect and enhance water quality, including demonstrating there is an 

adequate supply of water, that the quality of ground, surface or water 

bodies will not be harmed, as well as providing sewerage and land 

drainage systems to serve the development.  

 

16.3 These policies are supplemented by the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water 

SPD, and paragraphs 159-169 of the NPPF. 

 

Flood Risk 

 

16.4 The site is in Flood Zone 1 where there is a low risk of fluvial flooding. 

There are a series of drains and other ordinary watercourses within the 

site. Environment Agency mapping shows the majority of the site is at low 

risk of surface water flooding, however parts of the site are also indicated 

to be at high risk of surface water flooding, particularly along watercourses 

and in the north east of the site. The submitted flood risk assessment 

identifies the risk of flooding from other sources as low, other than a low-

to-moderate risk of groundwater flooding and a moderate risk of flooding 

due to the potential of blockages of artificial drainage systems. This 

relates to potential blockages of culverts under the A14 where surface 

water flows exit the site. 

 

16.5 As the site is allocated for development in the Local Plan 2018 it is not 

considered necessary to apply the Sequential Test. The submitted Flood 

Risk Assessment sets out how analysis of the site has identified ponding 

and surface water flow routes through the site. In order to achieve a 

gravity-fed drainage system, as recommended by national and local 

guidance, it is proposed to raise the ground levels within the site, typically 

by up to 2m. This would direct surface water flows into attenuation basins 

from where water can be discharged into nearby watercourses as a 

controlled rate. A balance has been sought between seeking to provide a 

gravity-based system, whilst limiting the need to raise ground levels within 

the site. In order to limit the required level changes to 2m, part of the site 

Page 48



will require a pumped system to convey water from the developable area 

to attenuation ponds. Pump failure modelling has been undertaken, which 

shows that water would be directed away from the development.    

 

16.6 As a consequence of the ground raising, the development would be safe 

from flooding in a 1-in-100-year storm event including a 40% climate 

change allowance. As such the proposals to raise ground levels are 

considered to mitigate the risk of surface water flooding, and are also 

considered to mitigate the risk of flooding from other sources including 

groundwater. This strategy is not considered likely to increase the risk of 

flooding outside of the site. 

 

16.7 The Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) has advised, following review of 

updated information submitted in August 2022, that they have no 

objection to the proposals, subject to conditions relating to the 

management of surface water during construction, details of surface water 

drainage for each reserved matters parcel, details of the temporary 

storage of water on each parcel, and details of the long-term maintenance 

and management of the drainage system. 

 

Surface Water Drainage Strategy 

 

16.8 The application is accompanied by a Drainage Strategy which details how 

surface water and foul flows from the development are proposed to be 

managed. This sets out that due to high groundwater levels and the site’s 

underlying geology, infiltration is not considered feasible, and as such it is 

proposed to discharge surface water flows into existing watercourses.  

 

16.9 The drainage strategy has been designed to manage flows, based on an 

assumed impermeable area of 60% for residential areas, and 85% for the 

schools, with a 10% buffer for urban creep. On-site attenuation is 

proposed to accommodate 1-in-100-year storm events, with a 40% 

climate change allowance. SuDS features are proposed to be 

incorporated into the development to attenuate water at source where 

possible, with water then conveyed by swales within the green corridors to 

attenuation basins located within the country park. These basins will then 

discharge into existing watercourses, at an attenuated rate no greater 

than the greenfield rate.  

 

16.10 The LLFA have raised no objection to the application on the grounds of 

surface water drainage, subject to planning conditions. Anglian Water 

have also advised they have no comments on the surface water drainage 

strategy proposed. 

 

Page 49



Foul Water Drainage Strategy 

 

16.11 In relation to foul water, the application proposes to discharge foul flows 

via gravity into the existing foul sewer network serving Darwin Green 1, 

with flows heading east to a pumping station delivered as part of Darwin 

Green 1, which has capacity to accept flows from the site. 

 

16.12 An existing foul sewer which crosses the site and serves existing 

development on Thornton Close. It is proposed to upgrade and divert this 

sewer through the new road network for Darwin Green 2 & 3, with the 

upgraded sewer connecting with the network delivered through Darwin 

Green 1. 

 

16.13 Anglian Water has advised that the sewerage pipe network has sufficient 

capacity to accommodate flows from the development. They have advised 

that flows are ultimately directed to Uttons Drove Water Recycling Centre.  

Whilst officers note that this water recycling centre currently does not 

have capacity to accept flows from the development, Anglian Water is 

obligated to accept flow from the development and will take the necessary 

steps to ensure there is sufficient treatment capacity in the event planning 

permission is granted. 

 

Water Resources 

 

16.14 The EA has classified the Cambridge Water operating area as an area of 

serious water stress. The current level of water abstraction from the chalk 

aquifer is considered by the EA to be unsustainable for the Greater 

Cambridge area, with potential to cause further environmental damage.  

There is therefore potential for the application proposals to harm 

waterbodies from potable water demand. 

 

16.15 The proposed development will place demands on the potable water 

supply giving rise to potential harm to waterbodies, noting that the draft 

RWRMP for Eastern England has identified an issue of water scarcity in 

the whole of the Eastern Region. CWC’s WRMP continues to focus on 

water conservation/saving strategies to address growing need.  

 

16.16 Policy CC/4 of the Local Plan requires ‘low’ water use development 

designed to limit personal consumption of water to 110 litres per 

person/day.  The development proposals provide water efficiency 

measures of 110 litres per person/day which would comply with Policy 

CC/4.  However, Policy CC/4 was based on the evidence that was 

available at the time of the preparation of the Local Plan.  Since that time, 

the EA has considered the impact of changes to abstraction licences in 

Page 50



Greater Cambridgeshire, underpinned by evidence that groundwater 

abstractions are causing a risk of deterioration of some water bodies.  The 

EA has advised that some of the growth included in Local Plans based on 

CWC’s WRMP19 is unsustainable.   

 

16.17 Policy CC/7 of the Local Plan also requires all development proposals to 

demonstrate that, inter alia, the quality of ground, surface or water bodies 

will not be harmed.  

 

16.18 The EA has objected to CWC’s draft WRMP24 which was published in 

February 2023.  A revised draft WRMP24 was published on 29 

September 2023 in response to the representations received.  The 

revised draft WRMP24 document is currently being considered by the EA, 

who will provide advice to DEFRA, following which time DEFRA will 

determine if the final plan can be adopted by CWC. The EA has indicated 

that there remains an unacceptable level of risk of environmental 

deterioration from the combined level of abstraction CWC forecasts it 

needs for existing and new customers (which would include this 

development proposal) up to 2032. 

 

16.19 The revised draft WRMP indicates that, at current growth assumptions, 

the demand for water between the years 2030 – 2032 will create the 

greatest risk to water bodies. The Council’s Housing Trajectory anticipates 

that delivery of the Darwin Green 2/3 site will take place between 2026/27 

and 2033/34.   

 

16.20 The EA is a statutory consultee for developments that are subject to 

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).  Officers have had regard to 

their advice on the EIA and Environmental Statement, noting that in 

correspondence dated 09 August 2023, they have maintained an 

objection to the proposed development. This is on the basis that the 

application has not demonstrated that the water to the development can 

be supplied sustainably, or that the risks to water resources including 

chalk aquifers are negligible or can be mitigated. The EA has been 

requested to consider this application further in the light of the 29 

September 2023 revised draft WRMP24, but comments have yet to be 

received at the time of writing this report. 

 

16.21 Officers note that the EIA Scoping Opinion issued by the Council dates 

back to September 2019 (Appendix 2.2 of this ES) and as such did not 

identify a requirement to address the development’s potable water 

demand. impact. Since that time there has been a growing awareness 

and understanding of the water stress issue facing the Greater Cambridge 

area. 

Page 51



 

16.22 The application as originally submitted included a section on water use 

within Appendix 17.3 of the ES, setting out a design intent to achieve a 

Local Plan policy compliant 110 litres per person per day, through the 

installation of low-flow and efficient appliances, and to achieve BREEAM 

excellent for non-residential development with 2 BREEAM Wat01 credits.   

 

16.23 The Council’s Principal Sustainability Officer, in their formal consultation 

response, acknowledges that the water targets meet current policy 

requirements but recommends this be improved as part of the detailed 

design due to the water stress facing the area. Officers are of the view 

that in order to avoid harm to the water environment as required by Policy 

CC/7, further mitigation is required which goes above and beyond the 

requirements of Policy CC/4. 

 

16.24 The EA objection in February 2023 prompted a technical review of Water 

Resources by the Applicant.  This was undertaken through the Water 

Resources Addendum to Darwin Green Phase 2 &3 Environment 

Statement: Chapter 17.0 Commentary Level Topics which was 

submitted in July 2023.  

 

16.25 The Applicant has indicated that the Water Resources Addendum has 

been prepared to demonstrate that an adequate and sustainable water 

supply can be provided for the Darwin Green Phases 2 and 3 scheme. 

The Addendum further advises that site-specific and/or off-site measures 

will ensure that the risks posed by the development can be mitigated or 

removed, in order for the EA to lift its objection to the scheme. 

  

16.26 The EA has considered the Applicant’s Water Resources Addendum to 

the ES. The EA does not agree with the report's conclusions that it has 

been demonstrated the Darwin Green 2/3 development can be supplied 

sustainably, or that the risks are negligible or can be mitigated.  

 

16.27 The EA maintains that it cannot agree that the growth in CWC's supply 

area can be supplied sustainably, without posing an unacceptable risk of 

deterioration to the water environment.   This position is underpinned by 

the EA’s assessment of CWC's draft WRMP24 (February 2023), which 

concluded that there are significant risks with the proposed options 

(supply and demand) and as a result, the dWRMP did not demonstrate 

that growth could be supplied without an unacceptable risk of deterioration 

to the water environment.  

 

16.28 The EA has criticised the Applicant’s Water Resources Addendum 

indicating that it places significant emphasis on the content of CWC's 

Page 52



dWRMP. According to the EA’s response of 9th August 2023, there is too 

much emphasis on the statements that CWC is resilient to a 1 in 500 

drought rather than focusing on the existing and immediate short term 

combined issue of increasing demand and abstraction. The EA has no 

confidence that assumed reductions will be delivered due to CWC’s past 

performance in delivering its WRMP19 demand reductions.  

 

16.29 As noted above, during the course of this application, there have been 

changes to the evidence base in respect of water resources, and the EA 

is updating its position in light of successive drafts of the WRMP24.  Given 

that the Appellant has appealed against non-determination, as noted 

above, the LPA no longer has jurisdiction to determine this planning 

application.  Had the Appellant not appealed against non-determination, it 

may have been possible for the LPA and the Applicant to work together to 

overcome the LPA’s objection in the light of the changing position in the 

evidence base, the draft WRMP and the position of the EA.   

 

16.30 As matters stand, the advice provided by the EA on 09 August 2023 is 

noted, and further advice is awaited.  At the time of writing this report, 

officers consider that it has not been demonstrated that the mitigation that 

is currently proposed is adequate to address potential impacts on water 

bodies.  As a result, the application would be in direct conflict with Policy 

CC/7 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) which requires all 

development proposals to demonstrate that, inter alia, the quality of 

ground, surface or water bodies will not be harmed, and opportunities 

taken for improvements to water quality.  

 

16.31 Officers are of the view that in order to avoid harm to the water 

environment as required by Policy CC/7, further mitigation is required 

which goes above and beyond the requirements of Policy CC/4. Officers 

note the position adopted by the LPA in respect of proposals by 

Brookgate Ltd at Land North of Cambridge Station, where the Appellant 

proposed an ‘enhanced package’ of mitigation measures which was, in 

the judgement of the LPA, sufficient to overcome the LPA’s objection 

(although the EA maintained its objection and the appeal has yet to be 

determined).  

 

16.32 As noted above, the LPA has sought the views of the EA in respect of this 

application in the light of the most recent iteration of the draft WRMP.  

Notwithstanding that this application is now subject to a planning appeal, 

the LPA will continue to liaise with the Appellant and the EA with a view to 

considering whether enhanced mitigation measures could overcome the 

LPA’s objection. 

 

Page 53



 

Conclusion on flood risk and water resources 

 

16.33 The proposed flood risk assessment and drainage strategy have been 

reviewed by the Lead Local Flood Authority and Anglian Water who have 

no objection subject to conditions and informatives. The proposed flood 

risk mitigation works and drainage strategy are also considered 

acceptable, subjection to conditions, are in accordance with Local Plan 

2018 Policies CC/7, CC/8, and CC/9 and the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 

16.34 Regarding water resources, there is potential for the development 

proposals to materially contribute to harm to waterbodies as a 

consequence of potable water demand and over-abstraction. Until such 

time as it has been demonstrated that the mitigation that is proposed is 

adequate to address potential impacts on water bodies, the development 

is in conflict with Policy CC/7 of the Local Plan, which requires all 

development proposals to demonstrate that, inter alia, the quality of 

ground, surface or water bodies will not be harmed, and opportunities 

taken for improvements to water quality.  

17. Biodiversity and Trees 

17.1 Policies NH/2, NH/4, NH/5, NH/6 and HQ/1 seek to preserve, protect and 

enhance biodiversity, trees and hedges, and other sites and features of 

biodiversity and geological importance. Policy NH/4 sets out that 

development should ensure a measurable net gain in biodiversity.  

 

17.2 The Environment Act requires all development to achieve a 10% 

biodiversity Net Gain, however this will only apply to applications 

submitted from early 2024. 

 

Biodiversity 

 

17.3 The application is accompanied by Ecological Impact Assessment as part 

of the ES, supported by a number of ecological surveys. These have 

found the site supports a number of breeding birds, as well as low levels 

of bat activity, including some trees and existing buildings with bat roost 

suitability. A badger survey has identified subsidiary and outlier badger 

setts within the site. 

 

17.4 The appellant has proposed to compensate for the loss of ground nesting 

bird habitat through provision of nesting plots off-site, with 16 plots to be 

provided and maintained for a 25-year period in compensation for the loss 

Page 54



of 8 areas on site. To compensate for the loss of bat roosting areas, bat 

boxes are proposed in proximity to any buildings being demolished, 

alongside bat boxes to be provided in new buildings. The country park will 

be designed to include area of foraging value. Badger setts are proposed 

to be retained and protected, with public access restricted to areas of 

retained woodland, with the county park also designed to provide habitats 

suitable for badgers. 

  

17.5 A BNG Assessment matrix has been submitted which indicates the 

development has the potential to deliver a 19.16% net gain in habitat 

units, and a 25.02% net gain in linear units across the site. This net gain is 

dependent on details to be secured at the reserved matters stage. 

 

17.6 The Ecology Officer has commented that they are content with the 

ecological survey efforts and are supportive of the proposed route to 

deliver a Biodiversity Net Gain. They are also supportive of the principles 

of the Landscape and Ecology Management Plan.  

 

17.7 With regards to ground nesting birds, the Ecology Officer is content with 

the proposed mitigation strategy, which can be secured through a s106 

agreement. They are also content with the strategy to retain badger setts 

and to compensate for the loss of bat roosts, subject to relevant planning 

conditions.  

 

17.8 On the advice of the Ecology Officer, additional conditions can also be 

secured to ensure a site-wide Ecological Design Strategy, Landscape and 

Ecological Management Plan, and Construction Ecological Management 

Plan, details of Bird and Bat Box provision, and Protected Species 

Licensing. A further condition is identified to ensure compliance with the 

Ecological Design Strategy etc. for each reserved matters parcel. 

Together with the Section 106 obligation in relation to ground nesting 

birds, these would make the proposals acceptable in relation to 

biodiversity, in accordance with Local Plan policies SS/2, HQ/1, and NH/4.  

 

Trees 

 

17.9 The site at present has limited tree cover, with trees primarily locate 

around the site boundary, alongside some groups of trees/ small 

woodland areas towards the north east and north of the site. Two groups 

of trees/ woodland areas on the eastern side of the site are subject to 

Tree Preservation Orders (TPO). There are a number of hedgerows along 

field boundaries within the site. A Tree Survey and Arboricultural 

Implications Assessment were submitted as part of the application.  

 

Page 55



17.10 A number of poor-quality trees are recommended for removal by the 

appellants arboriculturist, regardless of the development proposals. A 

number of additional trees are proposed for removal as part of the 

masterplan, including some category B1 and B2 trees and hedges. Whilst 

some trees within the group TPOs are proposed to be removed, the 

submitted arboricultural information indicates this will not harm the 

integrity of these groups and provides an opportunity to provide high 

quality replacement planting. The loss of trees within the site is proposed 

to be compensated by replacement and significant amounts of additional 

tree planting within the country park, as well as across the rest of the site. 

 

17.11 The Council’s Tree Officer has advised that they are content with this 

approach.   A condition can be secured to ensure details of Tree 

Protection measures should approval be forthcoming. On this basis, the 

proposal would accord with policies NH/2, NH/4, HQ/1 of the Local Plan. 

 

18. Carbon reduction and sustainable design  

18.1 The Councils’ Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2020) sets out 

a framework for proposals to demonstrate they have been designed to 

minimise their carbon footprint, energy and water consumption and to 

ensure they are capable of responding to climate change as required by 

policy CC/1. 

 

18.2 Policy CC/3 ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy’, requires that proposals 

for new dwellings and new non-residential buildings of 1,000m2 or more 

will be required to reduce carbon emissions by a minimum of 10% through 

the use of on-site renewable energy and low carbon technologies. For 

growth areas such as Darwin Green 2, site wide renewable and low 

carbon energy solutions that maximise on-site generation from these 

sources will be sought. 

 

18.3 Policy CC/4 ‘Water Efficiency’ requires that all new residential 

developments must achieve as a minimum water efficiency to 110 litres 

per person per day and for non-residential buildings to achieve a 

BREEAM efficiency standard equivalence of 2 credits. Paragraphs 152 – 

158 of the NPPF are relevant. 

 

18.4 Policy CC/5 ‘Sustainable Show Homes’ requires that, on developments 

where a show home is being provided, a sustainable show home must be 

provided. 

 

Page 56



18.5 Policy CC/6 ‘Construction Methods’ includes a requirement that 

development which would generate construction waste must carefully 

manage materials to minimise waste and maximise the reuse or recycling 

of materials. 

 

18.6 The application is supported by a Sustainability, Energy and Water 

Statement (ES Appendix 17.3), which includes a completed Checklist for 

Applications in South Cambridgeshire from the Sustainable Design and 

Construction SPD. The Statement provides an outline sustainability 

strategy, to be incorporated into future detailed designs. 

 

18.7 The application has been subject to formal consultation with the Council’s 

Sustainability Officer who raises no objection to the proposal subject to 

conditions relating to carbon reduction technologies, water efficiency, 

waste management and the construction of a sustainable show home. 

The consultation response also explains that the feasibility of alternative 

site-wide energy solutions has been suitably explored. 

 

18.8 The appellant has suitably addressed the issue of carbon reduction and 

sustainable design. Subject to conditions that would secure 

implementation of the proposed strategy through subsequent detailed 

applications, the proposal is compliant with Local Plan policies CC/1, 

CC/3 and CC/4 and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and 

Construction SPD 2020. 

19. Transport and Access 

  

19.1 Local Plan Policy TI/2 sets out that development must be located and 

designed to reduce the need to travel, particularly by car, and promote 

sustainable travel appropriate to its location. It goes on to set out that 

development likely to increase travel demands should only be permitted 

where the site has, or will attain, sufficient integration and accessibility by 

walking, cycling, and public transport. Policy SS/2 requires the 

development to be highly accessible and permeable to all its residents, 

including through high quality public transport infrastructure and a strong 

network of internal and external pedestrian and cycle links. 

Pedestrian and cycle access 

19.2 Within the site, dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes are proposed to 

follow the route of the main loop road, with a series of pedestrian paths 

and shared routes providing connectivity through the green corridors, 

Page 57



development parcels and country park, ensuring the development will 

have a high level of permeability and there will be a variety of route 

options for residents.   

 

19.3 The proposal will also adjoin a green corridor within the Darwin Green 1 

development, following the route of footpath 135/5, providing onward 

access towards Eddington and Arbury. Pedestrian and cycle access is 

proposed to Cambridge Road, using the access points for the primary 

street and orbital cycle route consented as part of Darwin Green 1.  

 

19.4 As set out in the design section above, the parameter plans indicate a 

series of potential future access points to the western side of the country 

park, via Thornton Close, Thornton Way, and Wellbrook Way as well as 

using the farm bridge over the A14.  

 

19.5 As these connections would be reliant on land in third part ownership, the 

appellant is unable and unwilling to commit to delivering the onward 

connections itself. The Thornton Way and Thornton Close connections 

are however anticipated to be delivered, with conditions requiring 

connections to be provided up to the site boundary, and the s106 securing 

delivery of connections to the public highway at Thornton Way and public 

footpath at Thornton Close. As set out above it is not considered that 

connections to Wellbrook Way or over the A14 bridge are deliverable at 

this stage. 

 Vehicular access and traffic impact 

19.6 The development is proposed to be accessed via the Spine Road 

approved as part of Darwin Green 1, connecting to the B1049 Cambridge 

Road in the east, and connecting to Huntingdon Road via the street 

network within Darwin Green 1. The Huntingdon Road and Cambridge 

Road junctions have been designed to accommodate traffic from the 

whole of Darwin Green. The appellant is seeking approval of junction 

details for connections to streets already approved as part of Darwin 

Green 1. 

 

19.7 A hierarchy of streets is proposed within the development, with primary, 

secondary, tertiary and shared surface streets. The detailed design of 

these streets will be considered further through the Design Code and 

reserved matters stages, however they are proposed to be designed to 

prioritise pedestrian and cycle movement, and to have a low design speed 

of no more than 20mph to ensure they are a safe and pleasant 

environment for all users. 

Page 58



 

19.8 The bus service proposed for Darwin Green 1 is proposed to be extended 

to the site, with at least one centrally located bus stop ensuring all 

residents are within 400m of a bus stop. 

 

19.9 An interim residential Travel Plan has been provided which includes a 

range of measures to support sustainable travel choices, beyond on-site 

infrastructure. This includes personal travel planning, car club provision, 

and cycle training. The Travel Plan seeks to sustain a 5% reduction in 

individual car use against a baseline of 39% of trips, going beyond the 

requirements of Policy SS/2. 

 

19.10 Traffic modelling has been undertaken of the impact of the development 

on traffic conditions, considered cumulatively with other planned 

development in the area. This has assessed that the development will 

result in a marginal increase in traffic at some junctions, but all nearby 

junctions will remain operating within capacity.  

 

19.11 The Transport Assessment and Environmental Statement conclude that 

once built, proposed sustainable transport measures in the form of 

provision of a new bus route and walking and cycling infrastructure 

improvements, and travel plan measures, will result in a modal shift away 

from private car use, resulting in an overall neutral impact on traffic flows. 

During construction there is predicted to be a minor adverse impact, 

primarily from construction vehicles, however this can be mitigated, 

primarily through the management of construction traffic.  

 

19.12 Updated junction details, as well as the outcome of a road safety audit, 

and responses to queries from consultees were submitted in August 2022 

and March 2023. 

 

19.13 Following review of updated information, the Local Highways Authority 

have agreed with the proposed junction designs, and the Transport 

Assessment Team have confirmed they have no objection to the 

proposals subject to conditions in relation to improvements pedestrian and 

cycle links to the B1049 Cambridge Road, a travel plan, and 

implementation of the Thornton Close Cycle Link, and s106 obligations in 

relation to bus service provision. The Local Highways Authority has also 

requested a condition relating to construction traffic management.  

 

19.14 National Highways have been consulted have no objection subject to 

conditions relating to construction traffic management. A travel plan for 

the site is proposed to be secured through the s106 agreement, which is 

Page 59



intended to essentially build on the travel plan for the adjoining Darwin 

Green 1 site given the interconnectivity between the two sites.  

 Cycle parking  

19.15 Policies HQ/1 and TI/3 set out that car and cycle parking provision should 

be provided through a design-led approach in accordance with the 

indicative standards set out in Figure 11 of the Local Plan. Cycle parking 

should be provided to at least the minimum standards. TI/3 requires 1 

cycle space per bedroom for dwellings and also includes requirements for 

non-residential uses. 

 

19.16 Secure and convenient cycle parking is proposed to be provided on plot 

for houses and within secure communal facilities for apartments and the 

non-residential uses on site. Details of cycle parking will be secured 

through the Design Code and reserved matters stages. A condition is 

identified to ensure details of cycle parking, in accordance with the Local 

Plan, are provided at the reserved matters stage. The condition is 

proposed to include reference to the need to include provision of visitor 

cycle parking, and parking for non-standard cycles.   

 Car parking  

19.17 TI/3 allows a maximum of 2 spaces per dwelling – with 1 space to be 

allocated within the curtilage. The policy also sets parking standards for 

non-residential uses. The supporting text to the policy advises that the 

Council will encourage innovative solutions such as shared parking areas, 

for example where there are a mix of day and night uses, car clubs and 

provision of electric charging points and that a developer must provide 

clear justification for the level and type of parking proposed and will need 

to demonstrate they have addressed highway safety issues.  

 

19.18 A parking ratio of 1.5 spaces per dwelling is proposed, below the 

maximum standard set out in policy TI/3, reflecting the sustainable 

transport options available to the site. Visitor parking and car club spaces 

are also proposed. 

 

19.19 Details of parking typologies will be considered further through the Design 

Code process and reserved matters stage. A condition requiring details of 

parking to be submitted at the reserved matters stage is proposed.  

 

19.20 In relation to electric vehicle charging, the appellant’s Low Emission 

Strategy sets out that electric vehicle charging points are proposed for all 

private and allocated residential parking spaces, with 1 charging point for 

Page 60



every 10 communal parking spaces, a level of provision which reflects 

Building Regulations. As set out in relation to air quality below, the 

Environmental Health team have recommended a condition to secure 

details of electric vehicle charging. 

 

Conclusion on Transport and Access. 

 

19.21 The proposals are considered to support a strong network of pedestrian 

and cycle connections, and the proposed bus route will supplement 

existing services in the vicinity. These measures, supported by a travel 

plan and other improvements, will aid in reducing private car use and 

promoting sustainable modes of transport, as well as ensuring the site is 

highly accessible. 

 

19.22 A number of conditions are proposed in relation to improvements to cycle 

links, a travel plan, construction traffic management, cycle and car 

parking. Planning obligations are also proposed in relation to the travel 

plan, bus service improvements, and pedestrian and cycle connectivity. 

Subject to this, the proposals are considered to generally be in 

accordance with policies SS/2, HQ/1, TI2, and TI/3 of the Local Plan and 

the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD.  

20. Heritage assets 

20.1 Policy NH/14 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) requires 

development affecting heritage assets to sustain or enhance the character 

and distinctiveness of those assets.  

 

20.2 There are no Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments or Conservation 

Areas within or close to the site.  However, the site is located in a 

landscape of high archaeological significance to the City of Cambridge. 

Known archaeological sites and extensive fieldwork in advance of 

previous developments in this landscape have revealed an intensively 

settled and managed landscape throughout the later prehistoric and 

Roman periods. 

 

20.3 The site has been subject to an archaeological desk-based assessment 

(ES Appendix 8.3). The evaluation has identified non designated heritage 

assets of archaeological interest including four concentrations of Middle to 

Late Iron Age activity; a late Iron Age enclosure interpreted as a livestock 

management feature; an area of dispersed Iron Age and Roman activity; 

field systems and associated agricultural features of Roman date. Extant 

and built heritage assets include an area of medieval ridge and furrow and 

the post medieval Impington and Woodhouse Farms. These heritage 

Page 61



assets are described in the Environmental Statement Appendix 8.3, with 

an assessment of significance, description of impacts and proposals for 

mitigation. 

 

20.4 The County Council’s Archaeological Officer considers that the level of 

significance of the archaeological remains within the site is not sufficient 

to prevent development or to necessitate design measures which retain 

the heritage assets.  Mitigation for the remaining archaeological assets 

within the Country Park area will require further consideration following 

detailed design, in accordance with paragraph 8.112 of the Environment 

Statement. A programme of archaeological work and historic building 

recording to mitigate the loss of the built heritage assets can be secured 

by way of planning conditions should approval be forthcoming. 

 

20.5 Officers agree the archaeological and built heritage impact of the 

development represents less than substantial harm. Further work at the 

detailed design stage, including preservation in-situ and retention of some 

existing buildings can also be considered, which would mitigate the impact 

of the proposals. The development will provide substantial public benefits, 

including the provision of housing, education facilities, and other uses. 

These benefits are considered the outweigh the likely impact on heritage 

assets, and as such the proposals are considered acceptable in 

accordance with National Policy. 

21. Amenity and Environmental Health 

21.1 Policy HQ/1 (n), sets out that proposals must protect the health and 

amenity of occupiers and surrounding uses from development that is 

overlooking, overbearing or results in a loss of daylight or development 

which would create unacceptable impacts such as noise, vibration, odour, 

emissions and dust.  

 

21.2 The impacts of the proposed development on prospective residential 

amenity associated with impacts from lighting, noise and disturbance 

associated with the use of the site has been assessed as part of the 

updated Environment Statement.  

Neighbouring properties 

21.3 Policy SS/2 of the SCLP support the development of Darwin Green 2&3 

subject to acceptable mitigation of environmental and health impacts 

(including noise) from the A14. These policies recognize that careful 

consideration of new residential use needs to be undertaken as part of the 

Page 62



planning application process, to ensure that the new residences have an 

acceptable level of amenity.  

 

21.4 Noise is most likely to be produced by road traffic sources and so the 

current appropriate guidance documents to be used are ProPG: Planning 

& Noise Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise. New 

Residential Development (dated May 2017) and BS8233 2014. Both 

provide acceptable noise limits within internal rooms and external amenity 

areas and guidance in the document has been considered. 

 

Construction Phase  

 

21.5 The methodology for the noise assessment presented in the Darwin 

Green Phases 2 and 3, BDW Homes Cambridgeshire and the North West 

Cambridge Consortium of Landowners, Environmental Statement Vol 1, 

Main Report, Chapter 14.0, Noise and Vibration and associated 

Appendices (dated May 2022) prepared by MEC, Technical Development 

Consultants for Bidwells has been agreed with SCDC Environmental 

Health Officers.  

 

21.6 Construction noise will be generated both within the Site and on local 

roads as additional vehicles will be travelling to and from the Site. An 

indicative construction noise assessment has been carried out using 

typical plant, fixed distances and worst-case assumptions. The impact of 

the existing noise environment associated with the A14 traffic has been 

fully assessed and reported in the ES.  

 

21.7 The ES concludes that some residual but temporary construction noise 

effects are to be expected for dwellings close to parts of the boundary of 

the application site but mainly only during the initial 

earthmoving/concreting phases when plant is close to the site boundary. 

Thereafter, the effects of routine ‘house building’ works would be minor 

adverse. No adverse vibration effects are expected during the 

construction works and all impacts are considered to be negligible. 

 

21.8 Conditions are recommended for a site wide site—wide Demolition and 

Construction Management Plan, and development parcel specific plans. 

      Noise Impacts – Operational Phase 

21.9 Operational noise generated by the application will come from a number 

of sources, including long term local traffic noise associated with the 

development, and operational noise arising from the proposed uses.  

Page 63



 

21.10 An evaluation of noise impacts on residential amenity is provided in the 

noise study in support of an outline planning application sets out “key 

development areas” across the site in the parameter plans. Based on the 

maximum noise exposure levels recorded on site, that part of the site 

immediately adjacent to the A14 during the day, and Cambridge Road 

during both the day and night, falls within the category of medium risk. 

That part of the Site immediately adjacent to the A14 during the night time 

increases to a high risk. It should be noted the Initial Site Noise Risk 

Assessment represents noise levels immediately adjacent to the roads. In 

the case of the A14, a substantial buffer zone is proposed by virtue of the 

proposed country park, and the subsequent developable site noise level 

reduces substantially, with the vast majority of the proposed development 

falling with the category of low risk. 

 

21.11 As a result, although it may not be possible to specifically conclude exact 

mitigation or enhancement measures required at the present time, these 

would relate specifically to the building/site layouts proposed within the 

later detailed designs. These matters would have to be considered further 

as part of the reserved matters should the application be approved. 

 

21.12 Other noise sources will also contribute to impacts experienced at 

proposed residential premises e.g. from the mixed use and sports/leisure 

facility areas. The noise levels measured during baseline monitoring 

suggest that satisfactory noise levels can be obtained across the site, 

however careful consideration of the mitigation, layout, orientation of 

sensitive rooms etc. will need to be taken, in relation to residential 

premises through the site. 

                  Operational Phase Noise Impacts – Non-residential Use Classes 

21.13 The ES indicates the schools will not be adversely affected by noise at the 

locations proposed and noise mitigation could be added that would allow 

satisfactory classroom noise levels to be maintained. However, this would 

be a detailed design consideration. 

 

21.14 Whilst detailed design information with regards to the layout and 

composition of the proposed development (with regard to non-residential 

mixed-use classes) is not available at outline stage, particular 

consideration will need to be given towards the prevention of nuisance 

that may be caused by incompatible land uses, such as commercial and 

residential properties being in close proximity. 

 

Page 64



21.15 The detailed strategies for mitigating noise impacts during the later 

phases of the development will be secured through planning conditions 

and reserved matters applications should the application be approved. 

 

Odour 

 

21.16 It is not considered that any of the proposed uses is likely to result in 

significant odours or other nuisance from emissions, however as the 

proposed schools and mixed-use area could include commercial kitchens 

close to residential development, the Environmental Health team have 

recommended a condition to ensure adequate extraction and ventilation. 

 

Light Pollution  

 

21.17 Lighting levels during the construction phase will be determined by health 

and safety requirements, but the effects will be transitory in nature. 

However, post completion lighting levels from external lighting e.g. 

highway, security, public area lighting, should safeguard against any 

negative impact of residential amenities.  

 

21.18 Whilst Chapter 13.0 of the ES covers topics associated with lighting, this 

is often a detailed design issue.  A relevant condition could be secured to 

ensure appropriate mitigation measures. 

 

Future Occupants 

 

21.19 The Council is keen to ensure new housing (both affordable and market) 

is ‘future proofed’ through design, so that they can be easily adaptable to 

enable people to live independently in their own homes as they age.  

 

21.20 Policy H/12 of the SCLP requires internal space standards for new 

residential developments. Policy H/12 of the Local Plan states that new 

dwellings will be permitted where their gross internal floor areas meet or 

exceed the Government’s Technical Housing Standards – Nationally 

Described Space Standard (2015) or successor document. Policy H/9 of 

the SCLP requires 5% of both affordable and private new homes (split 

evenly between the two tenures) to be built to the M4 (2) standard 

(accessible and adaptable dwelling standard) or any successor document. 

 

21.21 Whilst this level of detail is not normally expected at an outline planning 

application stage, the Applicants have confirmed an intention that all 

housing will be of sustainable standards i.e. complying with housing 

quality Indicators (HQI) scores for unit size, layout and noise, and 

nationally described space standards will be achieved. Relevant planning 

Page 65



conditions could be applied to ensure the Local Plan policy requirements 

in respect of housing internal space standards are achieved, should the 

application be approved.  

 

Contamination 

 

21.22  The ES includes an assessment of land contamination (Chapter 12). This 

is supported by a phase 1 desk-based geo-environmental assessment 

and phase 2 intrusive investigation report. This finds that contaminants 

which present a potential risk to human health and the environment are 

present within parts of the site, including asbestos, hydrocarbons, and 

pesticides within the southern farmyard. The reports identify further 

investigation and remediation will be required.  

 

21.23 Based on the submitted information, the Council’s Environmental Health 

team have recommended conditions are applied relating to remediation 

method statement, and unexpected contamination. 

 

Air Quality 

 

21.24 The site is not within an Air Quality Management Area, however there is 

potential for development to contribution to poor air quality, particularly in 

relation to the regional road network. Heating and cooking appliances are 

intended to be all-electric, reducing the risk of the proposed dwellings 

contributing to poor air quality. Air quality has been assessed through the 

ES (Chapter 7) which is accompanied by a low emissions strategy (ES 

Appendix 7.2). The ES assesses that air pollution levels are expected to 

be below air quality objective levels. 

 

21.25 The Council’s Environmental Health team have reviewed the proposals 

and confirm they have no objection to the proposals subject to conditions 

to secure the low emissions strategy, and low-emission gas appliances in 

the event any are required. 

 

Conclusion amenity and environmental health 

 

21.26 The proposals are considered to adequately respect the amenity of its 

neighbours and of future occupants. Subject to conditions, the proposal is 

compliant with policy HQ/1 and the District Design Guide 2010. The 

associated construction and environmental impacts would be acceptable 

in accordance with policies CC/6, CC/7, SC/9, SC/10, SC/12 and SC/14 of 

the Local Plan. 

Page 66



22. Utilities  

22.1 Policy TI/8 of the SCLP states that planning permission will only be 

granted if it can be demonstrated that there is or will be sufficient 

infrastructure capacity to support and meet all the requirements arising 

from new development. Policy TI/10 of the SCLP states new development 

will be expected to contribute towards the provision of infrastructure 

suitable to enable the delivery of high-speed broadband services across 

the district. 

 

22.2 The application is supported by a Pre-Development Utilities Appraisal 

prepared by Utility Consult Ltd which identifies the existing utility 

infrastructure that may constrain development within the Site and 

identifies a strategy for delivering the necessary utility infrastructure to the 

site.  

                 Electricity 

22.3 UK Power Networks (UKPN) asset records show existing high and low 

voltage networks crossing the proposed development site from both DG1 

and Cambridge Road, these feed into a pad mount substation by 

Woodhouse Farm & a pole mounted transformer near Impington Farm. 

These networks will need to be diverted through the proposed 

development and the existing dwellings disconnected if they are 

demolished. The low voltage network from these substations appears at 

points to feed a low voltage network along the A14, therefore it is 

anticipated that one or both these substations will need to be maintained 

within the Country Park. 

 

22.4 The Applicant indicates a pre-development enquiry has been submitted to 

UKPN who have provided a budget point of connection and cost to 

provide sufficient electricity capacity to the proposed development, based 

on between 6-7kVA (kilo-volt-amperes) per plot. This is based on the 

assumption of generic Air Source Heat Pumps being utilised. With the 

addition of future load allowance for the schools and community building 

the total estimated Distribution Network Operator (DNO) loading is 

8.3mVA. It is advised that UKPN can provide this capacity from upgrading 

the local Histon Primary Substation and installing 2 new 11kV High 

Voltage networks to the proposed development site (noted as 

approximately 2km. 

 

22.5 The development would also lend itself to the use of independent DNO 

adoption of the proposed electricity network, as has been undertaken 

across DG1. The revised kVA loading per dwelling drops to an average of 

Page 67



around 3.2kVA for each dwelling, this factors in both Air Source Heat 

Pump and on plot 7kW (32amp) EV Charging. Taking into account the 

proposed school loads and some additional allowances for potential off 

plot EV Charging estimates a total site loading of just over 5.5mVA. This 

is within the capacity offered by UKPN for the proposed development. 

                 Potable Water  

22.6 Policies SS/4: Cambridge Northern Fringe East, S/3: Presumption in 

Favour of Sustainable Development, CC/1: Mitigation and Adaptation to 

Climate Change, CC/4: Water Efficiency and CC/7: Water Quality are 

relevant in the consideration of water resources for the site.  

 

22.7 CWC has a legal duty to ensure that it can supply sufficient potable water 

for development needs and is required to prepare a WRMP which 

accounts for growth and wate demand at least every five years.  In 

providing this water, CWC must ensure that they refrain from harm to the 

environment under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 

2017 (“Habitat Regs”).  

 

22.8 CWC published its draft WRMP on 24 February 2023.  This sets out CW’s 

long term WRMP for the 25 years between 2025 and 2050 and describes 

how CW will continue to meet the demand for water in the Cambridge 

region.  A statement of response was issued on 25 August 2023, with a 

revised WRMP-24 published on 29th September 2023.  

 

22.9 The EA raised an objection to the application in February 2023.  They 

identify a risk of ecological deterioration to a number of water bodies in 

the area, and that abstraction licence caps proposed in response will 

result in less water being available than assumed under the WRMP-19, 

making some of the growth included in local plans unsustainable. 

 

22.10 In response to the EA’s objection, a Water Resources Addendum to the 

Environmental Statement was submitted in July 2023, with the intention of 

demonstrating that an adequate and sustainable water supply can be 

provided. The Addendum advises that site-specific and/or off-site 

measures will ensure that the risks posed by the development can be 

mitigated or removed, in order for the EA to lift its objection to the scheme. 

 

22.11 Officers note that the Water Resources Addendum does not propose any 

additional measures to reduce water demand beyond the 110 litres per 

person a day water efficiency commitment.  It assesses that the 

Page 68



development will have a negligible/ neutral impact on water supply and 

groundwater levels within the Cambridge Water area. 

 

22.12 The Applicant asserts that the application accords with the requirements 

of Policy CC/7 of the SCLP which stipulates that “supplies to serve the 

whole development must be demonstrated, or an agreement with the 

relevant service provider to ensure the provision of the necessary 

infrastructure, in order to protect and enhance water quality.” The 

Applicant’s Water Resources Addendum indicates that there is an 

agreement in place with CWC confirming that there is sufficient water to 

supply the development through a connection to a network that was built 

under agreement for Darwin Green Phase 1. 

 

22.13 Officers acknowledge that criterion (a) of Policy CC/7 requires it to be 

demonstrated that there are adequate water supply systems to serve a 

development, or an agreement with the relevant service provider to 

ensure the provision.  However, criterion (b) also requires that the quality 

of ground, surface or water bodies will not be harmed and the Council’s 

position on this is set out in the Water Management and Flood Risk 

Section above. 

 

Gas  

 

22.14 The existing gas network is owned and operated by Cadent Gas. Cadent 

Gas asset records shows an existing 8’’ Steel Intermediate Pressure Gas 

main crossing from Cambridge Road heading towards Woodhouse Farm, 

before crossing the A14.  

 

22.15 The location of the existing main is shown to be within the proposed 

Country Park and therefore it is assumed that this main will be treated as 

a constraint for both development & landscaping purposes. The Appellant 

advises that given the upcoming standards changes in regard to the use 

of mains gas it is not anticipated that mains gas will be utilised within the 

proposed development. 

 

Digital Infrastructure   

 

22.16 The NPPF encourages planning decisions to support the expansion of 

electronic communications networks, including next generation mobile 

technology and full fibre broadband connections. Policy TI/10 of the SCLP 

requires the provision for high-capacity broadband (such as ducting for 

cables) to be designed and installed as an integral part of development.  

 

Page 69



22.17 An inspection of Openreach asset records shows existing Openreach 

network is shown to feed from Cambridge Road towards Woodhouse 

Farm. A further connection is shown from Cambridge Road to Impington 

Farm. Asset Records show existing Openreach & UKPN Electricity 

networks feed into two existing telecommunications masts along the 

western boundary. As this area is shown to remain as open space it is 

assumed that these networks and masts will be able to remain in-situ 

unaffected by the proposed development. 

 

22.18 It is anticipated that a connection point will be made to part of this 

network. Openreach are currently providing Fibre to the Premises (FTTP) 

to all development of more than 20 properties therefore it is anticipated 

that this site will qualify for a full fibre network. A compliance condition can 

be applied to ensure all dwellings will have access to broadband on 

occupation. 

 

Summary – Utilities  

 

22.19 On the basis of the above evaluation the development proposals are 

considered in accordance with policies T/8 and T/10 of the SCLP and the 

NPPF with regard to gas, electricity and digital infrastructure.  

 

22.20 With regard to potable water, officers acknowledge that criterion (a) of 

Policy CC/7 requires it to be demonstrated that there are adequate water 

supply systems to serve a development, or an agreement with the 

relevant service provider to ensure the provision.  However, criterion (b) 

also requires that the quality of ground, surface or water bodies will not be 

harmed.  The position on this is set out in Section and the Council’s 

position on this is set out above. 

 

23. Response to third party representations  

23.1 The remaining third-party representations not addressed in the preceding 

sections are considered in the table below: 

 

Comment Officer Response 

The files are full of typographical 

errors and there is no useful 

structure to enable a non-expert to 

interpret them. 

As a major planning application, 

accompanied by an Environmental 

Statement, there is necessarily a 

significant amount of information 

submitted to allow for a full 

Page 70



assessment of the proposals. The 

application submission included a 

Non-Technical Summary of the 

ES, as well as a documents such 

as the Design and Access 

Statement and Planning Statement 

which provide an overview of the 

proposals. 

The developer has a poor track 

record of reneging on promises 

The planning application has to be 

considered on its own merits, 

bearing in mind that the planning 

permission relates to the land and 

not any specific developer. 

Planning conditions and a section 

106 agreement will be imposed on 

any approval to ensure the 

benefits of the development are 

delivered. 

The A14 bridge should be 

provided  

See design section above. There 

is currently no onward connection 

over the A14 bridge, as land to the 

north is private farmland. This 

route has not been identified as a 

strategic active travel route in the 

Local Plan or by the County 

Council/ GCP etc. Girton Road/ 

Cambridge Road and Cambridge 

Road/ Bridge Road are considered 

to provide suitable walking and 

cycling routes to Girton and Histon 

and Impington respectively. 

Concerns about impact on A14 

junction. 

See transport section above. The 

County Council and National 

Highways have reviewed the 

Transport Assessment submitted 

as part of the application, and 

subject to sustainable transport 

measures including a Travel Plan, 

cycling and walking infrastructure, 

Page 71



and bus improvement, have no 

objection to the proposals. 

 

24. Other Matters 

Fire Safety 

 

24.1 Details of fire safety are primarily covered by Building Regulations, 

however as details such fire tender access, and provision of hydrants etc. 

are relevant to the detailed site design, these will need to be considered 

further at the reserved matters stage. A condition is identified which would 

require details of fire hydrants to be submitted for approval.  

 

Safety and Security 

 

24.2 The Police Architectural Liaison Team note that based on their date the 

site is at medium risk to the vulnerability of crime.  

 

24.3 It is not considered that any specific measures need to be incorporated at 

the outline stage. Safety and security measures such as adequate lighting 

and overlooking of public spaces can be considered through the Design 

Code and at the reserved matters stage. 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

 

24.4 Under the Equality Act 2010, all public authorities, including Local 

Planning Authorities, must have due regard in exercising its functions for 

the Public Sector Equality Duty under s149 of that Act. 

 

24.5 The development will contribute to the delivery of a range of types of 

housing to meet the needs of different groups of people across north west 

Cambridge. The need for the development to response to the range of 

needs of people with disabilities has also been considered in the design 

and assessment of the scheme. 

25. Planning obligations (S106) 

25.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 have introduced the 

requirement for all local authorities to make an assessment of any 

planning obligation in relation to three tests. If the planning obligation does 

not pass the tests, then it is unlawful. The tests are that the planning 

obligation must be: 

Page 72



a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

b) directly related to the development; and 

c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 

25.2 The appellant has indicated their willingness to enter into a S106 planning 

obligation in accordance with the requirements of the Council’s Local Plan 

and the NPPF.  

25.3 Policy TI/8 ‘Infrastructure and New Developments’ states that Planning 
permission will only be granted for proposals that have made suitable 
arrangements for the improvement or provision of infrastructure necessary 
to make the scheme acceptable in planning terms. The nature, scale and 
phasing of any planning obligations and/or Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) contributions sought will be related to the form of the development 
and its potential impact upon the surrounding area. 

Heads of terms 

25.4 The Heads of Terms (HoT’s) as identified are to be secured within the 

S106, which would apply in the event the appeal is allowed and 

permission granted and are set out in the summary table in Appendix 6.  

 

25.5 The planning obligations are necessary, directly related to the 

development and fairly and reasonably in scale and kind to the 

development and therefore the required planning obligation(s) passes the 

tests set by the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and are 

in accordance with Policy TI/8 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 

(2018).  

26. Planning balance 

26.1 Planning decisions must be taken in accordance with the development 

plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise 

(section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 

38[6] of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

 

26.2 The development proposals are considered to generally align with the 

development plan policy framework and the objectives of creating a 

sustainable community which will enhance the special character of the 

area, as guided by Policy SS2 of the Local Plan, with the exception of 

Policy SS/2 (10) so far as pedestrian and cycle infrastructure is 

concerned.  

 

26.3 However, overall and notwithstanding that the proposed development 

largely accords with Policy SS/2, officers consider that the conflict with 

Page 73



Policy CC/7 is of such significance that the proposed development is 

contract to the Development Plan taken as a whole. 

 

26.4 The benefits and dis-benefits of the development proposals have been 

carefully evaluated and assessed against the development plan for the 

area and the objectives of the NPPF and the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development.   

 

Summary of harm 

 

26.5 The application provides one pedestrian and cycle link to Girton through 

Thornton Close to the southwestern boundary of the site. No access is to 

be provided through Wellbrook Way, the more direct route into Girton. 

This is considered to be a disbenefit of the proposal, given that the 

allocation policy (Policy SS/2) requires the provision of a network of strong 

internal and external cycle and pedestrian links to neighbouring parts of 

the urban and rural areas. Moderate weight is attached to this. 

 

26.6 There is potential for the application proposals to harm waterbodies from 

potable water demand, and it has not been demonstrated that the water to 

the development can be supplied sustainably, or that the risks to water 

resources are negligible or can be effectively mitigated. Significant weight 

is attached to this harm.  

 

Summary of benefits 

 

26.7 Significant positive weight is attached to the social benefits arising from 

the development proposals. In terms of housing need, the development 

will deliver a significant number of new homes, which will help to maintain 

the Greater Cambridge five-year housing land supply and deliver 

affordable homes.  The proposals include 40% affordable housing (400 

units) which accords fully with development plan policies which require a 

minimum of 40% affordable homes for this size of development.   

 

26.8 Policy objectives of delivering the social objectives of sustainable 

development will be further met by the application proposals, in the form 

of a new primary and secondary school and on-site community facilities.  

 

26.9 The scheme also provides formal play provision, open space and public 

realm including the delivery of a country park.  This is considered to 

deliver the objective for new development with a clear sense of place.  

This further weighs in support of the proposals. 

 

Page 74



26.10 In terms of economic benefits, national planning policy places a clear 

emphasis on the importance of economic growth and delivering economic 

benefits as a key component of sustainable development. The application 

will generate significant positive economic impacts during the construction 

and operational phases of the development. The proposals will create 

construction jobs and employment, through businesses, shops and 

services within the development.  Significant positive weight is afforded to 

these benefits.   

 

26.11 In terms of environmental impacts, the proposed development will 

contribute to an improvement in habitat quality and biodiversity net gain 

(BNG), with an uplift of 19% proposed. This is dependent on the same 

broad habitat types, areas and conditions shown on the outline landscape 

masterplan being delivered through phased reserved matters.  

 

26.12 Provision is also made to ensure prudent use of natural resources at the 

Site and measures to minimise waste and pollution. Mitigation and 

adaptation to climate change will be facilitated through the proposed Site 

wide sustainability strategy, fulfilling policy objectives of demonstrating 

excellence in sustainable development. Significant weight is attached to 

these benefits. 

 

26.13 Officers have considered the benefits and dis-benefits of the development 

proposals.  The significant weight attached to the potential harm to 

waterbodies from potable water demand, in the absence of effective 

mitigation to seek to manage the water resources issue that this 

development presents is considered to outweigh the benefits of the 

scheme.  

 

Conclusion 

 

26.14 In the planning balance, officers consider that, in this case, the proposed 

development will bring significant social, economic and environmental 

benefits that accord with the three dimensions of sustainable 

development.  However, the risk of harm to the water environment to 

which the proposed development would give rise, in the absence of 

mitigation which can effectively seek to manage the water resources issue 

that this development presents, in the light of the objection from the EA, is 

considered by officers to attract significant weight in the planning balance.  

This harm is considered to outweigh the other environmental, social and 

economic benefits which the scheme would deliver.  

 

Page 75



26.15 Having taken into account the provisions of the development plan, the 

views of statutory consultees, including the EA, as well as all other 

material planning considerations, officers recommend that, based upon 

the information before the Council, the JDCC agree the officers’ 

recommendation, that had the appeal against non-determination not been 

made, the Council would have refused the application for the reason set 

out below.  

27. Recommendation  

27.1 A. That, had the appeal against non-determination not been made, the 

Council would have REFUSED planning application 22/02528/OUT for the 

following reason: 

 

The application has failed to demonstrate that the water to the 

development site can be supplied sustainably and would not cause harm 

to the environment by reason of impact on ground water bodies including 

chalk aquifers.  In the absence of adequate mitigation measures and site 

wide water efficiency measures, the development is considered to be 

unacceptable.  The proposals are therefore contrary to Policy CC/7 Water 

Quality of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 which requires all 

development proposals to demonstrate that the quality of ground, surface 

or water bodies will not be harmed.  It also conflicts with Paragraphs 174, 

175, 179, and 180 of the NPPF which seeks to ensure new development 

proposals help or improve local environmental conditions including in 

relation to water and should protect biodiversity and ecological networks.   

 

B. Members delegate authority to officers to negotiate, settle and 

complete a s106 agreement and to agree the wording of any planning 

conditions which would be applied in the event the appeal is allowed, in 

general accordance with the draft Heads of Terms and list of draft 

conditions included at Appendix 6 and 7. 

 

 

 

Background papers: 

The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 
• South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework SPDs 

 

Page 76



 
 

  

Page 77



28. Appendices  

Appendix 1 Legislation and Planning Policy Context 

Legislation 

EIA Directives and Regulations – EIA Regulations  

1. European Union legislation with regard to environmental assessment and the 
planning regime remains unchanged despite the UK leaving the European Union 
on 31 January 2020. The Government passed secondary legislation in October 
2018 to ensure the continued operation of the EIA regime.  

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended)  

2. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
applications are determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan for the LPA is 
the Cambridge Local Plan 2018.  

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended)  

3. The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) (the CIL 
Regulations) generally set out regulations relating to the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Part 11 refers specifically to planning obligations 
(including those in Section 106 Agreements) and is relevant to the consideration 
of these applications and will influence the final content of Section 106 
Agreement, in the event that planning permission is granted. 
 

4. CIL Regulation 122 imposes limitations on the use of planning obligations. It 
states (where there is no CIL charging regime), a planning obligation may only 
constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the development if the 
obligation is:  
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b) directly related to the development, and  
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development  

Equalities Act 2010  

5. The applications have been assessed against the relevant sections of the 
Equalities Act 2010. It is not considered that the Applications discriminates 
against people with protected characteristics (age, gender reassignment, being 
married or in a civil partnership, being pregnant or on maternity leave, disability, 
race including colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religion or belief, sex, 
sexual orientation) specified in this Act. 
 

6. Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

Page 78



7. Environment Act 2021 
8. ODPM Circular 06/2005 – Protected Species 

 

National Planning Policy and Guidance 

9. The following national policies and guidance are referred to in this report:  
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)  
National Planning Practice Guidance  
National Design Guide 2019  
Local Transport Note 1/20 (LTN 1/20) Cycle Infrastructure Design  
Circular 11/95 (Conditions, Annex A)  
Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standard (2015) 

South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) 

10. For the purposes of the s38(6) of the 2004 Act, the Development Plan is the 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (September 2018), and the County Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan 2036 (July 2021). 
 

11. The relevant policies in the Local Plan include: 
 
S/1 – Vision 
S/2 – Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/4 – Cambridge Green Belt 
S/5 – Provision of New Jobs and Homes 
S/6 – The Development Strategy to 2031 
SS/2 – Land Between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 
CC/1 – Mitigation and Adaption to Climate Change 
CC/3 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
CC/4 – Water Efficiency 
CC/5 – Sustainable Show Homes 
CC/6 – Construction Methods 
CC/7 – Water Quality 
CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage Systems 
CC/9 – Managing Flood Risk 
HQ/1 – Design Principles 
HQ/2 – Public Art and New Development 
NH/2 – Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character 
NH/3 – Protecting Agricultural Land 
NH/4 – Biodiversity 
NH/5 – Sites of Biodiversity or Geological Importance 
NH/6 – Green Infrastructure 
NH/8 – Mitigating the Impact of Development in & adjoining the Green Belt 
NH/10 – Facilities for Recreation in the Green Belt 
NH/14 – Heritage Assets 
H/8 – Housing Density 
H/9 – Housing Mix 

Page 79



H/10 – Affordable Housing 
H/12 – Residential Space Standards 
H/21 – Gypsy and Traveller Provision at New Communities 
E/22 – Applications for New Retail Development 
SC/2 – Health Impact Assessment 
SC/4 – Meeting Community Needs 
SC/6 – Indoor Community Facilities 
SC/7 – Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space & New Developments 
SC/9 – Lighting Proposals 
SC/10 – Noise Pollution 
SC/11 – Contaminated Land 
SC/12 – Air Quality 
SC/14 – Odour and Other Fugitive Emissions to Air 
TI/2 – Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 – Parking Provision 
TI/8 – Infrastructure and New Developments 
TI/9 – Education facilities 
TI/10 – Broadband 
 
12. The relevant policies in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan 2021 are:  
 
Policy 5: Minerals Safeguarding Areas 

Neighbourhood plan 

13. The majority of the site is within Histon and Impington Parish however the site is 

excluded from the Histon and Impington Neighbourhood Plan Area. 

 

14. Part of the proposed country park is within the Girton Parish, which was 

designated as a neighbourhood planning area on 6 July 2023. The 

neighbourhood plan is at an early stage of preparation. 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 

15. The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant: 
 
Greater Cambridge Biodiversity SPD – Adopted February 2022  
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD – Adopted January 2020  
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD – Adopted November 2016  
 

16. The following SPDs were adopted to provide guidance to support previously 
adopted Development Plan Documents that have now been superseded by the 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. These documents are still material 
considerations when making planning decisions, with the weight in decision 
making to be determined on a case-by-case basis: 
 
Health Impact Assessment SPD – Adopted March 2011  
Development affecting Conservation Areas SPD – Adopted 2009  

Page 80



Landscape in New Developments SPD – Adopted March 2010  
Affordable Housing SPD – Adopted March 2010  
District Design Guide SPD – Adopted March 2010 
Open Space in New Developments SPD – Adopted January 2009  
Public Art SPD – Adopted January 2009  
Trees and Development Sites SPD – Adopted January 2009 

 
Other guidance 

17. Other relevant guidance includes: 

Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy 2019 – 2023 
Biodiversity Checklist for Land Use Planners in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough (2001). 
Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(2010) 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership (RECAP): Waste 
Cambridgeshire Design Guide for Streets and Public Realm (2007) 
Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential Developments (2010)  
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cambridgeshire Quality Panel 

Darwin Green 2/3 

Thursday 10th March 2022 

Virtual Meeting 

 

Panel: David Prichard (chair), June Barnes, John Dales, Fiona Heron, 

David Birkbeck and Kirk Archibald.  

Local Authority: Charlotte Burton (GCSP), Joanne Preston (GCSP), 

Julia Briggs (GCSP), Chenge Taruvinga (GCSP) Bana Elzein (GCSP) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Cambridgeshire Quality Charter for Growth sets out the core 

principles for the level of quality to be expected in new development 

across Cambridgeshire.  The Cambridgeshire Quality Panel provides 

independent, expert advice to developers and local planning authorities 

against the four core principles of the Charter: connectivity, character, 

climate, and community. 

Page 83

https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/planning/


 

 

 

Development overview 

Outline proposal for a mixed-use development comprising of up to 1,000 dwellings, a 

secondary school, primary school, community facilities, provision for outdoor sports 

facilities, informal open space, and allotments on an 80-hectare site (approx.) at land 

between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road, near Cambridge. If consented, it would 

form a subsequent phase to Darwin Green 1, which is currently being built out. 

Presenting team 

The scheme is promoted by BDW and supported by Allies and Morrison. The 

presenting team was: 

Andrew MacLaren – BDW, Tim Leadbetter – BDW, Alison Wright- Bidwells , Harriet 

Wooler – Bidwells , Catrin Stephens – Bidwells , Nathan Jones – Allies and 

Morrison, Miles Leigh – Allies and Morrison ,  Aurora Avedillo – Allies and Morrison, 

Matt Jarvis – Rural Solutions , Stuart Postlethwaite – Rural Solutions , Lorna 

Parsons- Sweco , Rob Holbrook – Environmental Economics, Juliet Clark – Stantec 

 

Local authority’s request  

The local planning authority asked the Panel to focus on: 

• The design of parking arrangements for corner apartment blocks.  

 

• The design of the public realm and landscaping along the embankment at the 

boundary with DG1, including the design of pedestrian and cycle ramps and 

steps linking DG1 and DG2/3.  

 

• The character of the prominent frontage along the raised DG1 edge and its 

relationship to the character of DG2/3. 

 

• The design of the public realm and pedestrian, cycle and motor-vehicle 

crossing at the corner of the community building, where the primary street 

makes a 90 degree turn.  

Page 84



 

 

 

• The use of built form to reinforce a clear street hierarchy, and in particular the 

relationship between apartment buildings and mew houses.   

 

• The integration of ‘pocket’ landscaped areas and other landscape features 

within the development blocks.  

 

 

• The design proposal for integrating the surface water pumping station within 

the Central Green Corridor.   

  

Cambridgeshire Quality Panel summary  

The Panel was generally disappointed by the lack of evolution since the scheme was 

last reviewed in 2019. Concerns about the balance of developable space and 

surrounding green space were raised, along with the relationship between building 

frontages and the park. If the intention is to submit a planning application in April 

(2022), then there is insufficient time to take the Panel comments on board.  

These views are expanded upon below, and include comments made in closed 

session. 

Connectivity – “places that are well-connected enable easy access for all to jobs 

and services using sustainable modes” 

Regarding the cycle network, the Panel emphasised that the quality of the route and 

connection east to west, from DG2 through to the existing housing at Girton, is very 

important and will need to be a safe seamless and attractive route. 

It appeared that connections from the broader cycling network with the NW-SE 

alignment that joins the three green corridors isn’t continuous, but cyclists may like to 

continue on their bikes. This could be difficult because of the location of bridges over 

the swales, and therefore this needs to be resolved. Infrastructure should be 

consistent with Local Transport Note 120.  

Public transport walk times should not be marked as circular isochrones, instead 

actual walking distances should be shown using catchment areas within 400m.  

Page 85



 

 

The Panel recognised that some of the walking routes are quiet, not well lit nor 

overlooked at certain times of the day. Has the character of these walking routes been 

considered so these routes are attractive for anybody at any time?  

Review whether bidirectional cycling routes are the right response, especially where 

there are house frontages along both sides of a road. Also, are cycle routes of 

adequate width when used as shared paths with pedestrians. Consider separating 

walking and cycling on some of the routes through the green spaces. 

Think about how attractive routes are at different times of the day and year, especially 

where they run north to Histon and through the park to the west of the development.  

There are several locations with 90 degree turns close to the community building, the 

bus route and along the primary route. As the final design comes forward, this needs 

to make sure it can safely accommodate the needs of walkers and cyclists at different 

times of the day.  

Consider ease of deliveries, how legible the development will be to white van drivers, 

and how this will work in different character areas, especially the Mews.  

The aspiration of no children being dropped off at the schools by car is supported, but 

it will be unlikely to happen and therefore how will parking be controlled? 

Ensure good cycling connections to outside the development and under 3 miles in 

length, such as to Eddington or Storeys Field centre, are attractive, secure, and cycling 

friendly. Connections to Histon Road and on to the new Cambridge North railway 

station are important connections. Consider 4 metres cycling path widths instead of 3 

metres to secure appropriate access to National Cycle Route Link 51 to Cambridge 

along Histon Road.  

The ultimate popularity and usage of the park, if it lives up to its billing as a Country 

Park, will bring need for visitor parking, coaches, access to shelter and toilets.  

 

Community – “places where people live out of choice and not necessity, 

creating healthy communities with a good quality of life”  

The community building might benefit from a location nearer the schools, the 

allotments and the country park that could also support a café. Shared parking could 

Page 86



 

 

be used for parents dropping off children, for people using the country park and toilets 

for gardeners using the allotment site.  

There appeared doubt on the part of the applicant as to whether both school sites 

would be needed, which needs to be agreed with the County before the scheme can 

be finalised. 

The Panel suggest that the development is fundamentally reliant on the quality of open 

space. They questioned how this space will be managed and who will pay for it as the 

potential cost for residents could be too high. The proportion of open space planned 

was considered high compared to the amount of private space residents will have. The 

balance of private and public/shared space needs to be reviewed. 

There are several Flats Over Garages (FOGs) and mews dwellings proposed which 

have minimal open space. Some appear be single aspect and north facing which is 

not acceptable in new development in the opinion of the Panel.  

A management company was suggested for the long-term management of the open 

spaces, however, a community land trust may be better option with residents having 

some form of ownership. The landscape maintenance will employ several people and 

need for a ground staff yard with facilities is required. 

The function and attractiveness of the Country Park needs more definition. Who will 

come and why and for how long? Is it part of a longer running and dog walking trail? 

Might it be a sculpture park or are there inspirations originating from its former 

agricultural uses?   

A skatepark for teenagers, on the edge and unoverlooked could become a focus for 

nefarious activity; relocating that activity to a more central position where it is 

overlooked would seem prudent.  

As mentioned in 2019, provision of space for a creche would make the area attractive 

for young families with both parents working. Provision of a retail unit beside the 

community building seems appropriate and supports the idea of proximity to the school 

will help its viability. Timing of the delivery of community facilities will be crucial for the 

success of this large isolated estate that will be built out over many years.  

Page 87



 

 

The Panel would have appreciated hearing about the lessons learned from DW1 and 

how that and input from the social-economist’s advice has informed the plans. 

 

Climate – “Places that anticipate climate change in ways that enhance the 

desirability of development and minimise environmental impact” 

The Panel was pleased to see the scheme has considered an electric future.  

Heat pumps are the right technology for new build, but the Panel urged the applicant 

to think carefully about their location on each dwelling and how much noise (hum) they 

generate which is especially important in the mews streets.  

PVs are a complementary technology to the electric future and the panel suggested 

these could be provided on car shelters.  

Consider compatible SmartCharge facilities as electric vehicle take up rates increases 

and how the network can accommodate increased demand. 

The Panel questioned how all the emerging technologies will come together as a 

strategy and if there is an opportunity to optimise these benefits for new residents.  

The number of substations was queried by the Panel, and they wondered if they could 

be adapted to facilitate battery storage? 

Consider windows sizes to avoid overheating. It will be important to reduce noise 

impacts expected from the A14, which may limit how far windows can be opened 

especially on the houses facing the country park. The Panel noted that there was no 

reference to pollution levels from traffic and questioned whether and how traffic noise 

had impacted on the designs.  

The Panel noted the inclusion of the sound barriers in the form of bunds and fences 

along the boundary with the A14 but were concerned about where the quantity of spoil 

needed was coming from.  If it is from within the site, will there be enough and how 

much sequestered carbon release would it generate and what would that mean in 

terms of the overall carbon calculations?  

Think about off-site manufacturing to try to limit waste at production and site work 

stages.  

Page 88



 

 

Rainwater should be transferred on the surface rather than through underground pipes 

so it becomes part of the visual landscape design, providing delight and opportunities 

for flora and fauna.  

The Panel asked if there have been thoughts about recycle potable water or 

wastewater as done in Eddington and if there has been engagement with Cambridge 

Water?  Given the number of attenuation ponds provided as part of the development 

a pumping station to treat water on site could be considered. The prominent location 

for the proposed Pumping Station means the design and access need detailed 

consideration and justification. 

 

Character – “Places with distinctive neighbourhoods and where people create 

‘pride of place’ 

A hierarchy of route considering all links would be helpful, it is unclear how different 

areas are used and how the landscape is incorporated into those space. Hedgerows 

can be used as navigation points. Advance planting of new hedgerows and woodland 

belts would dress the site to attract different developers. The A14 bund and boundary 

planting are crucial to veil the intrusiveness of the A14. The Panel suggested the park 

should be an early project along with establishing a tree nursery.    

The possible underuse of the country park was discussed. There is an opportunity for 

the green fingers to be a distinctive green infrastructure that links to the tree planting 

in the country park, encouraging walks and by providing specific design features such 

bridges or water gaps. Consider different character areas or activities within the 

country park to encourage more people to use the park which will also help with 

management and maintenance of the spaces.  

Develop more character within the central areas of the development and think about 

how blocks define the spaces. The character of the play areas can help to achieve this 

but make them more distinctive, some more formal some less formal. Similarly, small 

squares should be designed separately.  

The Panel noted that 1,000 homes on the land earmarked for development gave an 

average density of just 33.33/ha and considered the use of apartments and whole 

mews streets composed of FOGs didn’t align, as that would suggest a density of more 

Page 89



 

 

than 40/ha. As presented, houses are only up to 2 storeys and so explore the 

possibility of a town house strategy with 3 storey homes, examples of which can be 

seen at Great Kneighton in Cambridge. The massing diagram shows walls of 4 storey 

blocks along both sides of the Primary route, these need test studies to show how 

parking is achieved and sections to reveal the quality of public realm.  

The mews street will not have the same value or quality as other smaller developments 

in an urban setting, such as the Accordia development in Cambridge. The proposed 

mews streets may not be a successful model in the opinion of the Panel. Similar mews 

street designs, such as within Northstowe Phase 1, are struggling and lessons should 

be learnt.   

The Panel were unconvinced about the amount of northeast single aspect apartments 

facing the country park. The dimensions from the illustrations provided are different 

from what is proposed, and the Panel again felt uncomfortable with the frontages of 

the mews street. The strategy needs to work hard where houses can only be accessed 

from one aspect and won’t always be attractive places for people to live.  

There was no reference to accommodation mix or the distribution of affordable housing 

across the development and there is a concern the mews streets and FOGs will be 

allocated to affordable housing.  The affordable housing provider should be involved 

with the housing allocations to ensure a mixed community evolves. The Panel urged 

the applicant to consider more conventional housing typologies; the context does not 

seem appropriate for an urban solution.  

One of the biggest challenges for the scheme is the level change and the viability of 

having to raise slabs, gardens and road levels by 1 metre or more. The proposed level 

change beside DG1 creates awkward and expensive hard landscape solutions that 

layout designs should be trying to avoid. Cut and fill sections would have helped the 

Panel understand the logic for this dramatic land re-shaping which will impact on 

phasing. Construction sequence and clean and dirty access strategy was not 

presented.  

    

Specific recommendations 

Page 90



 

 

• Make sure the transport assessment informs people’s movements and these 

are incorporated into the design.  

• The NW-SE alignment that joins the three green corridors needs to be 

resolved. Infrastructure should be consistent with Local Transport Note 120. 

• Make sure walking routes are attractive for everybody at any time.  

• The shared use of paths could be problematic as well as 90-degree corners to 

the community building, the bus route and along the primary route cannot be 

the preferred solution. 

• Consider relocation of the community building which is too distant from where 

it could be of most benefit. 

• The link and underpass to Girton needs to be more attractive and feel safe to 

use.  

• Will the community building be viable, is it large enough and who is going to 

revenue fund and operate it?  

• The balance of open spaces to build areas needs to be reconsidered, is it 

proportional to the amount of open space versus private spaces?  

• Consider how to reduce the impact of noise and pollution from the A14, it is 

unclear.  

• Emerging technologies will need come together as a coherent strategy.  

• Provide more character areas within the country park to encourage greater 

use by residents and visitors.   

• Landscape needs to be better integrated within the development.  

• Consider more traditional housing, it is extremely urban, and it doesn’t need to 

be, consider heights on the edges.   

The opportunity for ongoing engagement with the developer and design team would 

be welcomed as the scheme develops. 

Contact details 

For any queries in relation to this report, please contact the panel secretariat via 

growthdevelopment@cambridgeshire.gov.uk 

Author: Judit Carballo 

Support: Stuart Clarke 

Page 91

mailto:growthdevelopment@cambridgeshire.gov.uk


 

 

Issue date: 23rd March 2022 

Appendix A – Background information list and plan 

• Local authority background note 

• Applicant’s background note 

• Main presentation 

Documents may be available on request, subject to restrictions/confidentiality. 

Illustrative Masterplan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



Appendix 3 – List of Documents Submitted with the Application 

 

Document Title Note  

Outline Application Documents 

Cover Letter - May 2022 N/A 

Outline Application Form - 20 May 2022 N/A 

Planning Statement - 25 April 2022 N/A 

Design and Access Statement parts 1-10 - 9 May 2022 - 
Revision P1 

N/A 

Landscape, Open Space and Countryside Enhancement 
Strategy - 26 April 2022 

Superseded by Landscape, Open 
Space and Countryside 
Enhancement Strategy submitted 
to LPA in August 2022 

Site Wide Landscape Management Strategy - 28 April 2022 N/A 

Arboricultural Implications Assessment Report - 22 March 2022 N/A 

Statement of Community Involvement - April 2022 N/A 

Public Art Strategy - April 2022 N/A 

Utilities Strategy Report - 30 March 2022 N/A 

Outline Waste Management Strategy - 21 March 2022 N/A 

Waste Management Strategy - 13 May 2022 N/A 

Materials Management Strategy - 12 May 2022 N/A 

Environmental Statement (ES) comprising of: 
Volume 1 – Main Report - May 2022 

N/A 

Volume 3 – Non-Technical Summary - May 2022 N/A 

Volume 2 – Appendices (set out below)  N/A 

Appendix 2.1 Scoping Request - Parts 1-2 August 2019 N/A 

Appendix 2.2 Scoping Opinion - September 2019 N/A 

Appendix 5.1 Plans and Drawings (Parts 1-9)  
Part 1 – Illustrative Landscape Masterplan-4 May 2022 - 
Revision P1 
Part 2 – Location Plan – 4 May 2022 – Revision P1 
Part 3- Demolition Plan – 4 May 2022 – Revision P1 
Part 4- Land Use – 4 May 2022 – Revision P1 
Part 5- Movement and Access- 4 May 2022 – Revision P1 
Part 6- Landscape Framework – 4 May 2022 – Revision P1 
Part 7- Building Heights – 4 May 2022 – Revision P1  
Part 8- Urban Design – 4 May 2022 – Revision P1  
Part 9- Illustrative Masterplan- 4 May 2022- Revision P1 

 
 
 
Parts 3 - 8 – Plans superseded by 
Revision P2 submitted to LPA in 
August 2022 

Appendix 5.2 Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) - Parts 1-2 April 2022 

N/A 

Page 93



Appendix 7.1 Definitions of Air Quality Terms and Units N/A 

Appendix 7.2 Low Emission Strategy N/A 

Appendix 7.3 Scoping Correspondence N/A 

Appendix 7.4 Dust Risk Assessment Procedures N/A 

Appendix 7.5 Receptor Location Plan N/A 

Appendix 7.6 Traffic Data N/A 

Appendix 7.7 Verification of Air Quality Model N/A 

Appendix 7.8 Locations of AQMA N/A 

Appendix 7.9 On-site Monitoring Report - May 2019 N/A 

Appendix 7.10 Results of Air Quality Modelling N/A 

Appendix 7.11 Air Quality Control Measures N/A 

Appendix 8.1 Geophysical Survey - October 2013 N/A 

Appendix 8.2 Evaluation Report - Parts 1-2 July 2019 N/A 

Appendix 8.3 Desk Based Assessment - February 2022 N/A 

Appendix 8.4 Cultural Heritage Statement - April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 9.1 Ecology Baseline Report - March 2022 N/A 

Appendix 9.2 Biodiversity Net Gain Report - April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 9.3 Skylark Compensation Strategy - February 2022 N/A 

Appendix 10.1 Flood Risk Assessment - Parts 1-3 April 2022 Superseded by Parts 1-3 
submitted to LPA in July 2022 

Appendix 10.2 Drainage Strategy - April 2022 Superseded by Updated Drainage 
Strategy submitted to LPA in July 
and then in August 2022 

Appendix 11.1 Health and Wellbeing Policy N/A 

Appendix 11.2 Rapid Health Impact Assessment - June 2020 N/A 

Appendix 11.3 Public Health Profiles N/A 

Appendix 12.1 Environmental Risk Assessment - March 2006 N/A 

Appendix 12.2 Geo-environmental Site Assessment - Parts 1-5 
February 2022 

N/A 

Appendix 12.2 Supplementary  Geo-environmental Site 
Assessment - Parts 1-7 February 2022 
 

N/A 

Appendix 13.1 Baseline Mapping - July 2022 N/A 

Appendix 13.2 ZTV Mapping - February 2022 N/A 

Appendix 13.3 Existing Views N/A 

Appendix 13.4 Visualisations N/A 

Appendix 13.5 Technical Methodology - Photography, 3D 
Modelling and Visualisations - February 2022 

N/A 

Page 94



Appendix 13.6 Email Correspondence with SCDC Regarding 
Viewpoint Assessment - February 2020 

N/A 

Appendix 13.7 Townscape Character Plan, Cambridge Green 
Belt Study 

N/A 

Appendix 13.8 Lighting Assessment - April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 14.1 Noise and Vibration Definitions N/A 

Appendix 14.2 Scoping Correspondence - November 2021 N/A 

Appendix 14.3 Noise Measurement Data N/A 

Appendix 14.4 Receptor Locations N/A 

Appendix 14.5 Noise Contours N/A 

Appendix 14.6 Road Links & Traffic Noise Change Calculations N/A 

Appendix 15.1 Relevant Local Plan Policies N/A 

Appendix 15.2 LSOAS within the Local Study Area - April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 15.3 Facilities Workshop Memo - 4 September 2019 N/A 

Appendix 15.4 Education Facilities N/A 

Appendix 15.5 Building Audit  N/A 

Appendix 16.1 Transport Assessment - Parts 1-3 April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 16.2 Travel Plan - April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 17.1 Agricultural Land Quality Report - April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 17.2 Soil Resources Report - April 2022 N/A 

Appendix 17.3 Sustainability, Energy and Water Statement - 
April 2022 

N/A 

BNG Assessment  N/A 

Drawings for Approval 

Site Location Plan - 18112_07_01 Rev P1 Superseded by 18112_07_01 Rev 
P2 Submitted to LPA in August 
2022 

Demolition Parameter Plan - 18112_07_02 Rev P1 Superseded by 18112_07_02 Rev 
P2 Submitted to LPA in August 
2022 

Land Use Parameter Plan - 18112_07_03 Rev P1 Superseded by 18112_07_03 Rev 
P2 Submitted to LPA in August 
2022 

Movement and Access Parameter Plan - 18112_07_04 Rev P1 Superseded by 18112_07_04 Rev 
P2 Submitted to LPA in August 
2022 

Landscape Framework Parameter Plan - 18112_07_05 Rev P1 Superseded by 18112_07_05 Rev 
P2 Submitted to LPA in August 
2022 

Building Heights Parameter Plan - 18112_07_06 Rev P1 Superseded by 18112_07_06 Rev 
P2 Submitted to LPA in August 
2022 

Urban Design Parameter Plan - 18112_07_07 Rev P1 Superseded by 18112_07_07 Rev 
P2 Submitted to LPA in August 
2022 

Page 95



DG1/DG2 Access Junction (Western Access) - 116292-TP-
00013 Rev P01 

Superseded by      116292-TP-
00013 Rev P02                     
Submitted to LPA in August 2022 

DG1/DG2 Access Junction (Eastern Access) - 116292-TP-
00007 Rev C 

Superseded by       116292-TP-
00007 Rev F Submitted to LPA in 
August 2022 

Drawings for Illustrative Purposes Only 

Illustrative Masterplan - 18112_07_08 Rev P1 N/A 

Illustrative Landscape Masterplan - 169-100 Rev P0 N/A 

Full Application - Construction of a drainage pond to support Darwin Green One site wide 
strategic drainage (relocation of drainage pond permitted under reference S/0001/07/F) 

Full Application form - 20 May 2022 Withdrawn in August 2022 

DG1 Relocated Pond, Concept Sketch -  March 2022 Revision 
P0 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

General Arrangement Plan, DG1 Context - March 2022 Revision 
P0 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

General Arrangement Plan, DG2/3 Context - March 2022 
Revision P0 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

Landscape Context Plan, DG1 Context - March 2022 Revision 
P0 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

Landscape Context Plan, DG2/3 Context - March 2022 Revision 
P0 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

Planting Plan, DG1 Context - March 2022 Revision P0 Withdrawn in August 2022 

Planting Plan, DG2/3 Context - March 2022 Revision P0 Withdrawn in August 2022 

DG1 Relocated Pond – Sections (DG1 Context) - March 2022 
Revision P0 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

DG1 Relocated Pond (Sections DG2/3 Context) - March 2022 
Revision P0 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

DG1 Pond Arboricultural Implications Plan - 11 March 2022 Withdrawn in August 2022 

DG1 Arboricultural Implications Assessment - Revision of 
Attenuation Pond 14 March 2022 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

DG1 Pond Tree Protection Plan - 11 March 2022 Withdrawn in August 2022 

Location Plan - September 2015 Revision E Withdrawn in August 2022 

Attenuation Pond Maintenance - October 2013 Revision D Withdrawn in August 2022 

Site Plan - September 2015 Revision F Withdrawn in August 2022 

Ecology Report - November 2016 Withdrawn in August 2022 

Ecology Assessment - April 2022 Withdrawn in August 2022 

Archaeology Parts 1-3 - October 2013 Withdrawn in August 2022 

Drainage Statement - July 2021 Withdrawn in August 2022 

Illustrative sections amended Parts 1 and 2 - 31 July 17 
Revision A 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

General Arrangement DG1 Amended -23 March 2017 Revision 
C 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

General Arrangement DG23 Amended - 25 July 2017 Revision 
E 

Withdrawn in August 2022 

Planting Plan DG1 Amended - 18 November 2016 Revision A Withdrawn in August 2022 

Planting Plan DG23 Amended - 25 July 2016 Revision A Withdrawn in August 2022 

Page 96



Flood Risk Assessment - November 2016 Withdrawn in August 2022 

 

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 – Parameter Plans 

Page 99



STRUCTURES TO BE RETAINED

STRUCTURES TO BE POTENTIALLY DEMOLISHED

LEGEND

SITE BOUNDARY    79.2 ha / 195.7 ac

POLICY SS/2 ALLOCATION BOUNDARY    30.8 ha / 76.2 ac

Parameter Plans form a suite of project proposals and are to 
be read together.

All land use areas and features are subject to a location 
tolerance of +/- 10m unless stated otherwise.

EXISTING UTILITIES/STRUCTURES

200.0 m100.0 m0

REV DATE DESCRIPTION CKD

Revision

Allies and Morrison LLP

telephone
facsimile

email

85 Southwark Street
London SE1 OHX
020 7921 0100
020 7921 0101
studio@alliesandmorrison.com

1:2500

Do not scale from this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Figured dimensions are in millimetres unless noted 
otherwise. All dimensions and levels shall be verified on site before proceeding with works. Detailed site survey 
to be carried out to verify positions and level relationships with site features and ordnance survey. The Architect
must be notified of any discrepancy. Boundaries are indicative only and are to be verified by others. Where 
building components are described in the specification as Descriptive Specification - (Contractor Design) elements 
shown on this drawing pertaining to those components are to be read as "Issued for Design Intent only".
Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for any errors caused by the transmission, translation, software or 
computer systems. Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for nor shall be liable for the consequences of any use 
made of the drawings or models other than that for which they were produced by Allies & Morrison LLP for the 
Client. 
All Intellectual Property Rights reserved

P2

SCALE  1 : 2500 @A1
18112_Massing

A&M JOB No: 18112

Darwin Green 2/3

DEMOLITION PLAN

PARAMETER PLANS

18112_07_02

1 : 5000 @A3

DARWIN GREEN 2/3

RETAINED:
NIAB TELECOMS MAST

RETAINED:
FOUL PUMPING STATION

RETAINED:
ELECTRICAL PYLON

RETAINED:
ELECTRICAL PYLON

N P1 04/05/22 Outline Planning Application NJ

P2 19/08/22 Outline Planning Application - Amendments NJ

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with 
the permission of the Controller of H.M. Stationary Office Crown 
Copyright: license number 100020570 Allies & Morrison LLP

P
age 100



RESIDENTIAL AREA
Including associated 'Green, Grey and Blue' infrastructure, 
comprising pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access, minor 
areas of open spaces and play areas. [See note 1]

LAND USE

SECONDARY SCHOOL SITE [See note 2]

PRIMARY SCHOOL SITE [See note 2]

SCHOOL PLAYING FIELDS
Secondary School sports pitches (4 Ha) and Primary School 
sports pitches (1 Ha), including an all weather pitch within 
the Secondary School allocation at the southern boundary. 
The proposed dual-use of sports pitches for community use 
will be included as part of the Outline Planning 
Application. [See note 1]

INFORMAL PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
- The area shown indicates spaces that are in principle to 
be used for informal open space.
- These areas will include pedestrian and cycle movement 
provision.
-These areas will include limited vehicular infrastructure 
providing access to the development plots and emergency 
vehicle access.
Refer to Landscape Framework parameter plan for further 
detail.
[See note 1]

MIXED USE: LOCATION FOR COMMUNITY BUILDING 
AND RETAIL UNIT WITH POTENTIAL FOR RESIDENTIAL 
USE ABOVE
The proposed mixed-use of this facility will be included as 
part of the Outline Planning Application. 
Final details of this are to be determined as part of any 
future 'Reserved Matters Planning Application[s]'.

COUNTRY PARK
Areas of the Country Park outside of the Allocation 
Boundary to be retained as Green Belt 

EXISTING UTILITIES / STRUCTURES TO BE RETAINED

ALIGNMENT OF ACCESS ROAD CONSENTED AS PART 
OF DARWIN GREEN 1
Approval granted as part of Planning Application Ref: 
07/0003/OUT

INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF PRIMARY AND 
SECONDARY ROADS
[See note 1]

INDICATIVE LOCATION OF SURFACE WATER 
PUMPING STATION

1. Final details are to be determined as part of the 'Green, Grey 
and Blue Infrastructure Planning Application[s]' as well as where 
they are part of any future 'Reserved Matters Planning 
Application[s]'.

2. Areas for primary and secondary schools include allowance for 
3m wide footpath providing pedestrian access to frontage. Dashed 
white line denotes assumed boundary of actual school plots.

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO BE POTENTIALLY DEMOLISHED

NOTES

EXISTING UTILITIES/ STRUCTURES

LEGEND

SITE BOUNDARY    79.2 ha / 195.7 ac

POLICY SS/2 ALLOCATION BOUNDARY    30.8 ha / 76.2 ac

Parameter Plans form a suite of project proposals and are to 
be read together.

All land use areas and features are subject to a location 
tolerance of +/- 10m unless stated otherwise.

200.0 m100.0 m0

REV DATE DESCRIPTION CKD

Revision

Allies and Morrison LLP

telephone
facsimile

email

85 Southwark Street
London SE1 OHX
020 7921 0100
020 7921 0101
studio@alliesandmorrison.com

1:2500

Do not scale from this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Figured dimensions are in millimetres unless noted 
otherwise. All dimensions and levels shall be verified on site before proceeding with works. Detailed site survey 
to be carried out to verify positions and level relationships with site features and ordnance survey. The Architect
must be notified of any discrepancy. Boundaries are indicative only and are to be verified by others. Where 
building components are described in the specification as Descriptive Specification - (Contractor Design) elements 
shown on this drawing pertaining to those components are to be read as "Issued for Design Intent only".
Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for any errors caused by the transmission, translation, software or 
computer systems. Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for nor shall be liable for the consequences of any use 
made of the drawings or models other than that for which they were produced by Allies & Morrison LLP for the 
Client. 
All Intellectual Property Rights reserved

P2

SCALE  1 : 2500 @A1
18112_Massing

A&M JOB No: 18112

Darwin Green 2/3

LAND USE

PARAMETER PLANS

18112_07_03

1 : 5000 @A3

N

    1 : 2500 @A1 

P1 04/05/22 Outline Planning Application NJ

P2 19/08/22 Outline Planning Application - Amendments NJ

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with 
the permission of the Controller of H.M. Stationary Office Crown 
Copyright: license number 100020570 Allies & Morrison LLP

P
age 101



INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF PRIMARY ROAD
Design speed limit of 20 mph [See note 1]

INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF SECONDARY ROAD 
Design speed limit of 20 mph [See note 1]

INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF SHARED FOOTPATH / CYCLE 
ROUTE WITHIN COUNTRY PARK
The path network is illustrative and subject to future design 
proposals. [See note 1]
To include connection to Darwin Green 1 and the 
surrounding area as indicated.

ORBITAL CYCLE ROUTE CONSENTED AS PART OF 
DARWIN GREEN 1
Approval granted as part of Planning Application Ref: 
07/0003/OUT

POTENTIAL FUTURE PEDESTRIAN/CYCLE LINKS 
Any physical connection will be subject to future discussions 
with third party landowners as well as the LPA and are not 
part of this Outline Planning Application.

VEHICULAR ACCESS

CYCLE CONNECTIONS TO COUNTRY PARK PATH 
NETWORK
Foot path and cycle paths to be delivered within the site 
boundary only.

ACCESS

INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF BI-DIRECTIONAL 
CYCLE LANES
[See note 1]

ALIGNMENT OF PRIMARY ROAD CONSENTED 
AS PART OF DARWIN GREEN 1
Approval granted as part of Planning 
Application Ref: S/0001/07F

PROPOSED ADJUSTMENT TO PREVIOUSLY CONSENTED 
CYCLE LANES AND CROSSING

ON ROAD CYCLE LINK

PEDESTRIAN CONNECTION TO COUNTRY PARK PATH 
NETWORK

1. Final details are to be determined as part of the 'Green, Grey 
and Blue Infrastructure Planning Application[s]' as well as where 
they are part on any future 'Reserved Matters Planning 
Application[s]'.

NOTES

EXISTING UTILITIES / STRUCTURES TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO BE POTENTIALLY DEMOLISHED

EXISTING UTILITIES/ STRUCTURES

LEGEND

SITE BOUNDARY    79.2 ha / 195.7 ac

POLICY SS/2 ALLOCATION BOUNDARY    30.8 ha / 76.2 ac

Parameter Plans form a suite of project proposals and are to 
be read together.

All land use areas and features are subject to a location 
tolerance of +/- 10m unless stated otherwise.

SINGLE DIRECTION CYCLE LANE CONSENTED AS PER 
EXISTING DARWIN GREEN 1 ACCESS ROAD 
ARRANGEMENT

200.0 m100.0 m0

REV DATE DESCRIPTION CKD

Revision

Allies and Morrison LLP

telephone
facsimile

email

85 Southwark Street
London SE1 OHX
020 7921 0100
020 7921 0101
studio@alliesandmorrison.com

1:2500

Do not scale from this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Figured dimensions are in millimetres unless noted 
otherwise. All dimensions and levels shall be verified on site before proceeding with works. Detailed site survey 
to be carried out to verify positions and level relationships with site features and ordnance survey. The Architect
must be notified of any discrepancy. Boundaries are indicative only and are to be verified by others. Where 
building components are described in the specification as Descriptive Specification - (Contractor Design) elements 
shown on this drawing pertaining to those components are to be read as "Issued for Design Intent only".
Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for any errors caused by the transmission, translation, software or 
computer systems. Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for nor shall be liable for the consequences of any use 
made of the drawings or models other than that for which they were produced by Allies & Morrison LLP for the 
Client. 
All Intellectual Property Rights reserved

P2

SCALE  1 : 2500 @A1
18112_Massing

A&M JOB No: 18112

Darwin Green 2/3

MOVEMENT AND ACCESS

PARAMETER PLANS

18112_07_04

1 : 5000 @A3

N P1 04/05/22 Outline Planning Application NJ

P2 19/08/22 Outline Planning Application - Amendments NJ

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with 
the permission of the Controller of H.M. Stationary Office Crown 
Copyright: license number 100020570 Allies & Morrison LLP

P
age 102



RETAINED EXISTING WATERCOURSE

RETAINED EXISTING AWARD DRAIN

TPO ZONE 

COUNTRY PARK
To include sustainable drainage infrastructure.

INFORMAL PUBLIC OPEN SPACE
-The area shown indicates spaces that are in principle to be 
used for informal open space. This areas will include:
    -pedestrian and cycle movement provision
    -informal and formal areas of play provision
    -limited vehicular infrastructure providing access to the  
    development plots and emergency vehicle access
    -drainage swales forming part of the surface water 
    drainage system.
[See note 1]

RETAINED TREES AND HEDGEROWS

REMOVED EXISTING WATERCOURSE / AWARD DRAIN

LOCAL AREA FOR PLAY (LAP)*

LOCAL EQUIPPED AREA FOR PLAY (LEAP)*

NEIGHBOURHOOD EQUIPPED AREA 
FOR PLAY (NEAP)*

MUGA / YOUTH PLAY AREA*

RE-ALIGNED AWARD DRAIN

LANDSCAPE FEATURES

PLAYSPACES

DRAINAGE

OPEN SPACE

INDICATIVE LOCATION FOR LANDSCAPE BUND

SCHOOL PLAYING FIELDS
Secondary School sports pitches (4 Ha) and Primary School 
sports pitches (1 Ha), including an all weather pitch within 
the Secondary School allocation at the southern boundary. 
The proposed dual-use of sports pitches for community use 
will be included as part of the Outline Planning Application.
[See note 1]

ALLOTMENTS
COMMUNITY ORCHARD

*Locations for all play spaces are indicative.

KEY PUBLIC SPACE
Key public realm spaces where public realm treatment 
should respond to adjacent buildings and context.

SUDS: PROPOSED BALANCING PONDS
Flexibility in form and location to be determined 
at Reserved Matters stage.

REMOVED TREES AND HEDGEROWS

INDICATIVE REMOVED SECTION OF HEDGEROW
[See note 1]

INDICATIVE LOCATION OF SURFACE WATER 
PUMPING STATION

1. Final details are to be determined as part of the 'Green, Grey 
and Blue Infrastructure Planning Application[s]' as well as where 
they are part on any future 'Reserved Matters Planning 
Application[s]'.

NOTES

EXISTING UTILITIES / STRUCTURES TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO BE POTENTIALLY DEMOLISHED

EXISTING UTILITIES/ STRUCTURES

LEGEND

SITE BOUNDARY    79.2 ha / 195.7 ac

POLICY SS/2 ALLOCATION BOUNDARY    30.8 ha / 76.2 ac

Parameter Plans form a suite of project proposals and are to 
be read together.

All land use areas and features are subject to a location 
tolerance of +/- 10m unless stated otherwise.

PUBLIC OPEN SPACE PROVISION

MINIMUM OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS
BASED ON SCDC LOCAL PLAN POLICY SC/7 
(for1000 homes, predicted population 2176)
Total: 6.70ha

3.48ha Outdoor Sports Facilities 
0.74ha Formal Play
0.74ha Informal Play
0.87ha Informal Open Space
0.87ha Allotments and Orchards

PROPOSED OPEN SPACE  
Total: 45.83ha

5.06ha Outdoor Sports Facilities 
0.99ha Formal Play
0.81ha Informal Play*
37.61ha Informal Open Space
1.36ha Allotments and Orchards
8.46ha Unusable Public Open Space **

*Informal playspace is not graphically identified on this 
parameter plan. Measurement of informal play is based on the 
illustrative landscape masterplan (drawing number 169-100).
**Unusable POS: This comprises swales, bund and woodland 
areas. Not all this features are graphically identified on this 
parameter plan. Measurement of relevant areas is based on the 
illustrative landscape masterplan (drawing number 169-100).

200.0 m100.0 m0

REV DATE DESCRIPTION CKD

Revision

Allies and Morrison LLP

telephone
facsimile

email

85 Southwark Street
London SE1 OHX
020 7921 0100
020 7921 0101
studio@alliesandmorrison.com

1:2500

Do not scale from this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Figured dimensions are in millimetres unless noted 
otherwise. All dimensions and levels shall be verified on site before proceeding with works. Detailed site survey 
to be carried out to verify positions and level relationships with site features and ordnance survey. The Architect
must be notified of any discrepancy. Boundaries are indicative only and are to be verified by others. Where 
building components are described in the specification as Descriptive Specification - (Contractor Design) elements 
shown on this drawing pertaining to those components are to be read as "Issued for Design Intent only".
Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for any errors caused by the transmission, translation, software or 
computer systems. Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for nor shall be liable for the consequences of any use 
made of the drawings or models other than that for which they were produced by Allies & Morrison LLP for the 
Client. 
All Intellectual Property Rights reserved

P2

SCALE  1 : 2500 @A1
18112_Massing

A&M JOB No: 18112

Darwin Green 2/3

LANDSCAPE FRAMEWORK

PARAMETER PLANS

18112_07_05

1 : 5000 @A3

SCHOOL PLAYING FIELDS

ALLOTMENTS

COMMUNITY
ORCHARD

LANDSCAPE BUND

N

    1 : 2500 @A1 

Section of the hedgerow to 
be removed to facilitate 
access 

Section of the 
hedgerow to be 
removed to facilitate 
access subject to future 
discussions

Section of the 
hedgerow to be 
removed to facilitate 
access subject to future 
discussions

Section of the hedgerow to 
be removed to facilitate 
access 

Section of the hedgerow to 
be removed to facilitate 
access 

Section of the hedgerow to 
be removed to facilitate 
access 

P1 04/05/22 Outline Planning Application NJ

P2 19/08/22 Outline Planning Application - Amendments NJ

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with 
the permission of the Controller of H.M. Stationary Office Crown 
Copyright: license number 100020570 Allies & Morrison LLP

P
age 103



+17.1m
AOD

+16.5m
AOD

+16.3m
AOD

+14.8m
AOD

+14.5m
AOD

+14.7m
AOD

+14.6m
AOD

+13.8m
AOD

+13.5m
AOD

+13.6
AOD

+13.8m
AOD

+14.3m
AOD

+14.6m
AOD

UP TO 4 STOREYS (Building height max 16m to ridge line)

UP TO 3 STOREYS (Building height max 13m to ridge line)

UP TO 2.5 STOREYS (Building height max 11.5m to ridge line)

UP TO 3 STOREYS (Building height max 16m to ridge line)

RESIDENTIAL

EDUCATION: SCHOOL SITES

1. Building heights will vary at Reserved Matters stages according 
to local characteristics and informed by the Design and Access 
Statement, Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, and future 
Design Code.

2. Heights indicated are maximum figures to the highest point of 
the roof structure (excluding chimneys and communication 
equipment).

3. Building heights are measured from proposed ground levels to 
top of the ridge, or in the case of flat roofs, parapet.

4. Buildings will not exceed maximum building heights (in both 
metres and storeys).

5. Typical Non-Residential Storey Height = 4m

6. Typical Residential Storey Height = 3m

7. Any ancillary buildings/structures located within the  Green 
Infrastructure areas will be a maximum of 4m in height above 
finished ground levels and have a maximum footprint of 10m x 
10m unless otherwise agree.

SITE LEVELS

MAXIMUM PROPOSED GROUND LEVEL HEIGHT [AOD] 
WITHIN DEVELOPMENT PLOT BOUNDARY

+XX.XX

DEVELOPMENT PLOT BOUNDARY

AOD = Above Ordnance Datum

EXISTING UTILITIES / STRUCTURES TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO BE POTENTIALLY DEMOLISHED

EXISTING UTILITIES/ STRUCTURES

LEGEND

SITE BOUNDARY    79.2 ha / 195.7 ac

POLICY SS/2 ALLOCATION BOUNDARY    30.8 ha / 76.2 ac

Parameter Plans form a suite of project proposals and are to 
be read together.

All land use areas and features are subject to a location 
tolerance of +/- 10m unless stated otherwise.

NOTES

Refer to drawings RSK-C-ALL-03-01 and RSK-C-ALL-03-04 
for further information

200.0 m100.0 m0

REV DATE DESCRIPTION CKD

Revision

Allies and Morrison LLP

telephone
facsimile

email

85 Southwark Street
London SE1 OHX
020 7921 0100
020 7921 0101
studio@alliesandmorrison.com

1:2500

Do not scale from this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Figured dimensions are in millimetres unless noted 
otherwise. All dimensions and levels shall be verified on site before proceeding with works. Detailed site survey 
to be carried out to verify positions and level relationships with site features and ordnance survey. The Architect
must be notified of any discrepancy. Boundaries are indicative only and are to be verified by others. Where 
building components are described in the specification as Descriptive Specification - (Contractor Design) elements 
shown on this drawing pertaining to those components are to be read as "Issued for Design Intent only".
Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for any errors caused by the transmission, translation, software or 
computer systems. Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for nor shall be liable for the consequences of any use 
made of the drawings or models other than that for which they were produced by Allies & Morrison LLP for the 
Client. 
All Intellectual Property Rights reserved

P2

SCALE  1 : 2500 @A1
18112_Massing

A&M JOB No: 18112

Darwin Green 2/3

BUILDING HEIGHTS

PARAMETER PLANS

18112_07_06

1 : 5000 @A3

N

    1 : 2500 @A1 

P1 04/05/22 Outline Planning Application NJ

P2 19/08/22 Outline Planning Application - Amendments NJ

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with 
the permission of the Controller of H.M. Stationary Office Crown 
Copyright: license number 100020570 Allies & Morrison LLP

P
age 104



RESIDENTIAL URBAN BLOCKS

SECONDARY SCHOOL

URBAN DESIGN

LOCATION OF TOWNSCAPE SIGNIFICANCE AND 
POTENTIAL LOCATION FOR 'MARKER BUILDING'
'Marker buildings' are buildings of elevated status, 
distinguished either through their scale / height or 
architectural treatment.

IMPORTANT TOWNSCAPE VIEWS

PRIMARY SCHOOL

INDICATIVE LOCATION FOR COMMUNITY BUILDING AND 
RETAIL UNIT WITH POTENTIAL RESIDENTIAL FLOORS 
ABOVE
The proposed mixed-use of this facility will be included as 
part of the Outline Planning Application.
Final details of this are to be determined as part of any future 
'Reserved Matters Planning Application[s]'.

MAIN FRONTAGES

COUNTRY PARK
Buildings which overlook the Country Park will typically be 2 
or 3 storeys high, with some potential locations for 4 storey 
buildings. They should be oriented to establish 'fronts' 
towards the Country Park. The design of the buildings should 
consider their appearance and quality at a range of scales -
including long distance views across the park. The 
composition of these frontages should ensure a high degree 
of coherence within each section of frontage between the 
green corridors.

GREEN CORRIDOR
Building frontages along the green corridors should establish 
positive boundaries to the public space. Buildings will vary in 
scale between 2 and 4 storeys depending on location. In all 
cases, building fronts should be oriented towards the green 
corridors as far as possible. They should respond to and 
reinforce the particular character of each corridor.

PRIMARY ROAD
Buildings along the primary road should reinforce the 
significance of this road within the spatial hierarchy of the 
development. They will typically be 3 or 4 storeys in height. 
Although the height parameter allows for up to 4 storeys 
along the full length of the primary road, this should not be 
continuous 4 storey frontage. Some variation in height along 
the length of the road is required, and should be informed by 
careful judgement of townscape views.

KEY PUBLIC REALM SPACES
Key public realm spaces where public realm treatment should 
respond to adjacent buildings and context. 
[See note 1]

INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF PRIMARY ROAD
Flexibility of +/- 10m on either side of alignment. 
[See note 1]

INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF SECONDARY ROAD 
Flexibility of +/- 10m on either side of alignment.
[See note 1]

INDICATIVE ALIGNMENT OF CYCLE LANE 
Flexibility of +/- 10m on either side of alignment.
[See note 1]

TERTIARY AND MEWS STREETS - INDICATIVE
The tertiary and mews streets network as drawn is illustrative 
only, and is not fixed by this Parameter Plan.

PEDESTRIAN LINKS FROM DARWIN GREEN 1
Identified links relate to location of bridges across the 
drainage swales within the adjacent Darwin Green 1 green 
corridor.

POCKET LANDSCAPES
Small-scale landscapes at the edge of development plots -
subject to block typology (to be determined through future 
RMAs) - to provide strong visual connections to the country 
park and green corridors from streets within the plots, ensure 
permeability for pedestrians, and respond to the adjacent 
landscapes. [See note 1]

MARKER BUILDINGS

2. The detail of frontages shown, in particular with respect to 
orientation of frontage at the corners of urban blocks, is based 
upon the illustrative masterplan. It is therefore INDICATIVE ONLY, 
is not fixed by this Parameter Plan, and is to be determined 
through future Design Code and subsequent Reserved Matters 
Applications.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT FRONTAGES

1. Final details are to be determined as part of the 'Green, Grey 
and Blue Infrastructure Planning Application[s]' as well as where 
they are part of any future 'Reserved Matters Planning 
Application[s]'.

NOTES:

EXISTING STRUCTURES TO BE POTENTIALLY DEMOLISHED

EXISTING UTILITIES/ STRUCTURES

LEGEND

SITE BOUNDARY    79.2 ha / 195.7 ac

POLICY SS/2 ALLOCATION BOUNDARY    30.8 ha / 76.2 ac

Parameter Plans form a suite of project proposals and are to 
be read together.

All land use areas and features are subject to a location 
tolerance of +/- 10m unless stated otherwise.

200.0 m100.0 m0

REV DATE DESCRIPTION CKD

Revision

Allies and Morrison LLP

telephone
facsimile

email

85 Southwark Street
London SE1 OHX
020 7921 0100
020 7921 0101
studio@alliesandmorrison.com

1:2500

Do not scale from this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Figured dimensions are in millimetres unless noted 
otherwise. All dimensions and levels shall be verified on site before proceeding with works. Detailed site survey 
to be carried out to verify positions and level relationships with site features and ordnance survey. The Architect
must be notified of any discrepancy. Boundaries are indicative only and are to be verified by others. Where 
building components are described in the specification as Descriptive Specification - (Contractor Design) elements 
shown on this drawing pertaining to those components are to be read as "Issued for Design Intent only".
Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for any errors caused by the transmission, translation, software or 
computer systems. Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for nor shall be liable for the consequences of any use 
made of the drawings or models other than that for which they were produced by Allies & Morrison LLP for the 
Client. 
All Intellectual Property Rights reserved

P2

SCALE  1 : 2500 @A1
18112_Massing

A&M JOB No: 18112

Darwin Green 2/3

URBAN DESIGN

PARAMETER PLANS

18112_07_07

1 : 5000 @A3

N P1 04/05/22 Outline Planning Application NJ

P2 19/08/22 Outline Planning Application - Amendments NJ

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with 
the permission of the Controller of H.M. Stationary Office Crown 
Copyright: license number 100020570 Allies & Morrison LLP

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 – Illustrative Masterplan 

Page 107



10

1

2

2

2

3

4

5

5

5

6

7

8

9

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

18

18

19

19

19

20

21

21

21

22
24

26

26

25

27

27

27

27

24

24

23

DARWIN GREEN 1 ACCESS ROAD

LEGEND

SITE BOUNDARY                  79.2 ha / 195.7 ac

ALLOCATION BOUNDARY      30.8 ha / 76.2 ac

ACCESS AND MOVEMENT

1

2 PRIMARY ROAD

3 JUNCTION WITH DG1 ACCESS ROAD

4 JUNCTION WITH DG1 ROAD ADJACENT TO SECONDARY 
SCHOOL ACCESS

SECONDARY SCHOOL

COMMUNITY FACILITIES

6

7 PRIMARY SCHOOL

8 COMMUNITY BUILDING

5 POTENTIAL CYCLE/PEDESTRIAN CONNECTIONS

EASTERN GREEN CORRIDOR

KEY SPACES

9

10 CENTRAL GREEN  CORRIDOR

11 WESTERN GREEN CORRIDOR

12 GATEWAY SQUARE

13 COMMUNITY SQUARE

14 SCHOOL SQUARE

SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY PLAYING FIELDS

LANDSCAPE ELEMENTS AND FEATURES

15

16 COMMUNITY KITCHEN GARDENS

17 DARWIN'S ORCHARD

18 ARBURY POOLS

19 LANDSCAPE BUND AND LINEAR WOODLAND BUFFER

21 COUNTRY PARK

EXISTING RETAINED COMMUNICATIONS MAST

ADDITIONAL CONTEXT

22

24 DARWIN GREEN 1

25 HISTON

26 GIRTON

20 INDICATIVE LOCATION OF SURFACE WATER 
PUMPING STATION

27 A14

EXISTING RETAINED FOUL PUMPING STATION23

200.0 m100.0 m0

REV DATE DESCRIPTION CKD

Revision

Allies and Morrison LLP

telephone
facsimile

email

85 Southwark Street
London SE1 OHX
020 7921 0100
020 7921 0101
studio@alliesandmorrison.com

1:2500

Do not scale from this drawing. Use figured dimensions only. Figured dimensions are in millimetres unless noted 
otherwise. All dimensions and levels shall be verified on site before proceeding with works. Detailed site survey 
to be carried out to verify positions and level relationships with site features and ordnance survey. The Architect
must be notified of any discrepancy. Boundaries are indicative only and are to be verified by others. Where 
building components are described in the specification as Descriptive Specification - (Contractor Design) elements 
shown on this drawing pertaining to those components are to be read as "Issued for Design Intent only".
Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for any errors caused by the transmission, translation, software or 
computer systems. Allies & Morrison LLP is not responsible for nor shall be liable for the consequences of any use 
made of the drawings or models other than that for which they were produced by Allies & Morrison LLP for the 
Client. 
All Intellectual Property Rights reserved

P1

SCALE  1 : 2500 @A1
18112_Massing

A&M JOB No: 18112

Darwin Green 2/3

ILLUSTRATIVE MASTERPLAN

ILLUSTRATIVE PLANS

18112_07_08

1 : XXX @A3

C
A

M
BR

ID
G

E 
RO

A
D

H
IS

TO
N

 R
O

A
D

TH
ORN

TO
N C

LO
SE

TH
O

RN
TO

N W
AY

THORNTON RD

W
ELLBROOK WAY

LA
W

RE
NCE W

EA
VER

 C
ONNEC

TIN
G TO

 H
UNTIN

GTO
N RD

BROWNLOW ROAD

TA
VI

ST
O

CK
 R

O
AD

All plans are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with 
the permission of the Controller of H.M. Stationary Office Crown 
Copyright: license number 100020570 Allies & Morrison LLP

N P1 04/05/22 Outline Planning Application NJ

P
age 108



Appendix 6 - Draft Heads of Terms  

Draft - subject to discussion and negotiation with the appellant, County Council, and NHS 

 

Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

Housing 

40% of dwellings to be 

affordable  

On-site provision of 

40% of housing to be 

affordable. Tenure mix 

to be 70% 

social/affordable rent 

and 30% intermediate. 

Mix of unit sizes to 

meet local needs, and 

affordable housing to 

be in appropriate 

clusters.  

Agreed in principle. Affordable housing 

provision required to 

meet housing needs in 

the area, in 

accordance with Policy 

H/10.  

5% of the private 

market units to be 

made available self-

build and custom build 

plots. 

On site provision of 

self-build and custom 

build plots, with self-

build strategy including 

details of how plots will 

be marketed. 

Agreed in principle. Self-build and custom 

build housing to meet 

needs as established 

through self-build 

register in accordance 

with Policy H/9 

Education    

Primary school  On-stie provision of a 

2-form-entry primary 

school 

 

Transfer of serviced 

plot to County Council, 

alongside obligation of 

£13,761,095 to cover 

design, construction, 

and fit-out costs. 

Agreed in principle. 

Triggers to be agreed. 

Primary school 

provision to 

accommodate the 

population of primary 

school age children 

generated by the 

development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4.  

SEND provision  SEND room to be 

accommodated within 

primary school. 

Accounted for within 

Agreed in principle SEND provision to 

accommodate the 

population of children 

with special 

educational needs 

Page 109



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

primary school 

obligation. 

generated by the 

development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4 

Early years provision  Early years to be 

accommodated within 

the primary school. 

Accounted for within 

primary school 

obligation. 

Agreed in principle Early years provision 

to accommodate the 

population of children 

generated by the 

development eligible 

for statutory early 

years education 

provision in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Primary School start-

up costs 

£50,000 to cover the 

initial start-up costs for 

the primary school.  

Agreed in principle. Funding required to 

cover one-off costs 

associated with the 

initial set-up of the 

primary school in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Secondary School On-site provision of a 

6-form-entry 

secondary school 

 

Transfer of serviced 

plot to County Council 

alongside 

proportionate 

contribution of 

£7,456,245 to cover 

design, construction, 

and fit out costs. 

Agreed in principle. 

 

Total cost of 

secondary school is 

estimated at 

£41,655,000 with 

financial contributions 

secured from Darwin 

Green 1 and 

Eddington.  

Secondary school 

provision to 

accommodate the 

population of 

secondary school age 

children generated by 

the development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Secondary school 

start-up costs 

£50,000 to cover the 

initial start-up costs for 

the secondary school. 

Agreed in principle Funding required to 

cover one-off costs 

associated with the 

initial set-up of the 

secondary school. 

Page 110



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

Childrens Centre To be provided within 

community building, 

with preferential 

access for children’s 

services. 

Agreed in principle Required to meet the 

educational needs of 

children within the 

development, outside 

of the traditional 

school environment in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Library Proportionate 

contribution of £54,000 

to the delivery of a 

library within Darwin 

Green 1. 

 Library facilities 

necessary to meet the 

needs of the new 

population generated 

by the development.  

Off-site provision.  

Scale determined with 

reference to County 

Council guidance and 

local plan policy SC/4. 

Nursery  Strategy to support 

delivery of a nursery  

To be agreed To accommodate 

demand for nursery 

places generated by 

the development. 

County Council to 

provide justification. 

Sports and 

Recreation 

   

Country Park Provision of a country 

park. 

 

Management and 

maintenance of the 

country park to be 

offered (by order of 

preference) to 

Cambridge City 

Council, the Land 

Trust, Wildlife Trust, 

Agreed in principle Country park to meet 

the recreational and 

social needs of 

residents, to support 

biodiversity mitigation 

and enhancement and 

to provide water 

management in 

accordance with policy 

SC/7.  

 

Page 111



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

and a management 

company.  

 

Provision of an 

endowment to cover 

the ongoing 

management and 

maintenance costs of 

the country park. 

 

Potential for this to be 

an interim measure 

until the formation of a 

Parish Council for 

Darwin Green. 

Outdoor Sports 

pitches.  

Playing fields to serve 

the primary and 

secondary school to 

be provided within the 

country park. 

 

Community Use and 

Access agreement to 

secure access to 

sports facilities outside 

of their use by the 

schools.  

Agreed in principle To meet the sports 

and recreation needs 

of children attending 

the schools in 

accordance with policy 

SC/7. 

Outdoor sports pitch 

enhancements 

£67,698 towards 

enhancement of sports 

pitches to 

accommodate 

community use. 

To be discussed To meet the sports 

and recreational needs 

of residents, to 

account for the sports 

pitches only being 

accessible by the 

schools during the day 

in accordance with 

policy SC/7. 

Sports pavilion Contribution of 

£435,685 towards 

To be discussed To meet the sports 

and recreational needs 

Page 112



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

delivery of a sports 

pavilion 

of residents in 

accordance with policy 

SC/7. 

Indoor Sports  Proportionate 

contribution of 

£485,825 towards the 

provision of additional 

swimming capacity in 

Greater Cambridge. 

Agreed in principle To meet the sports 

and recreation needs 

of residents of the 

development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/7. 

Allotments On-site provision 

within the country park 

Agreed in principle To meet the 

recreational and social 

needs of residents of 

the development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/7. 

Play provision and 

youth facilities 

On-site provision of 

formal play spaces 

(LAP, LEAP, and 

NEAP), and informal 

play and youth spaces 

within the Country 

Park and across the 

development. 

Agreed in principle To meet the outdoor 

play and social needs 

of children and youth 

residents of the 

development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/7.  

Open Space 

Management and 

Maintenance Strategy 

Management strategy 

for the country park 

and other elements of 

open space, outlining 

management 

responsibilities and 

maintenance 

principles.   

Agreed in principle To ensure the open 

space provided by the 

development is 

maintained in the long-

term to a suitable 

standard, to meet the 

recreational needs of 

residents and fulfil the 

landscape and 

biodiversity objectives 

of the development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/7.  

Community    

Page 113



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

Permanent community 

floorspace 

On-site provision of a 

community facility of 

up to 400sqm.  

 

Anticipated to be 

managed by 

Cambridge City 

Council, extending 

their role from Darwin 

Green 1.  

 Community meeting 

space necessary to 

meet the needs of the 

new population 

generated by the 

development.  

On-site or off-site 

provision. Scale 

determined with  

reference to policy 

SC/6. 

Community facility 

start-up costs 

Contribution to the 

start-up costs of the 

community facility  

To be agreed To reflect the on-off 

start-up costs for the 

community facility. 

Scale determined with  

reference to policy 

SC/6. 

Temporary community 

facility 

Provision of a 

temporary community 

facility of up to 

150sqm if required, 

likely within the school 

site or alongside the 

main sales office. 

Agreed in principle To meet the 

community needs of 

the residents during 

build-out of the site, 

and until the 

permanent facility is 

completed. Scale 

determined with 

reference to policy 

SC/6. 

Faith space To be accommodated 

within the community 

building, with the 

specification to include  

To be discussed Meeting space needed 

to accommodate the 

faith related needs of 

the new community. 

Scale determined with 

reference to policy 

SC/6.  

Burial space Contribution of 

£210,000 to off-site 

burial provision within 

Girton 

To be discussed Burial plots required 

for to meet the needs 

of the new community. 

Scale determined with 

Page 114



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

reference to policy 

SC/4. 

Community 

Development (SCDC)  

Financial contributions 

of £107,636 for a 

community 

development worker, 

oversight of the 

community 

development worder, 

and kick-start costs 

To be discussed Community support 

workers to support the 

new community. 

Scope to be 

determined with 

reference to policy 

SC/4. 

Small grants scheme 

(SCDC) 

A contribution of 

£12,500 to the small 

grants scheme 

To be discussed Small grants funding 

for projects to support 

the new community. 

Scope to be 

determined with 

reference to policy 

SC/4. 

Community Chest 

Fund (County) 

£10,456 for Kick 

Starting community 

activities 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Mental Health 

Counselling Services 

(County) 

£1,600 to fund mental 

health counselling 

services 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Locality staff  (County) £75,000 funding to 

provide locality staff 

for two years 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Children Centre Staff 

(County) 

£27,621 for staff for 

the children’s services 

for years 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Children Centre 

equipment/activities 

(County) 

£12,500 for equipment 

for children’s services. 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Kickstart funding (multi 

agency team) (County) 

£1,800 for kickstart 

funding for a multi-

agency team 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Specialist Community 

Development Worker 

(CDW) (County) 

£25,000 To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Page 115



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

Multi-Agency co-

ordination (County) 

£31,667 for multi-

agency co-ordination 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Health Visiting 

(County) 

£6,875 to support 

health visiting 

services. 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Healthy New Towns 

Initiative legacy project 

workers (County) 

£12,500 to fund 

Healthy New Towns 

project workers 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Healthy New Towns 

Initiative legacy 

kickstart funding 

(County) 

£5,600 to kick start 

Healthy New Towns 

Initiative projects. 

To be agreed County Council to 

provide justification. 

Public Art 

Site Wide Public Art 

Strategy 

Public Art Strategy 

with a budget of 

£400,000 

Agreed in principle Local Plan policies 

seek to secure public 

art as an integral part 

of development. On-

site provision. Scale 

determined with 

reference to policy 

SC/4. 

Healthcare     

Healthcare facility Healthcare provision 

within the community 

building including 

60sqm multi-purpose 

activity room, 16sqm 

consultation room, and 

8sqm digital 

consultation space. 

 

To be agreed To address the health 

impacts of residents 

associated with 

moving to a new 

community, and 

longer-term to support 

integrated health and 

care provision in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4.  

Scale determined with 

reference to NHS 

advice. 

Transport    

Public Transport 

Improvements 

Extension of bus 

services through DG 

Agreed in principle To ensure the delivery 

of high-quality public 

Page 116



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

2/3 including provision 

of associated bus 

stops and a financial 

contribution (to be 

agreed) to the delivery 

of the bus service. 

transport to serve the 

development in 

accordance with policy 

TI/8. 

Travel Plan Provision of a Travel 

Plan to be maintained 

during the initial 

phases of the 

development, and 

supported by 

monitoring.  

Agreed in principle To support the 

adoption of 

sustainable modes of 

travel by new 

residents in 

accordance with policy 

TI/8. 

Pedestrian and Cycle 

Links 

A financial obligation 

(to be agreed) to fund 

the delivery of 

connections to 

Thornton Way and 

Thornton Close 

To be agreed To ensure the delivery 

of a network of links 

with the surrounding 

area, to support 

sustainable travel in 

accordance with policy 

TI/8. 

Refuse and Waste    

Household Waste 

Recycling Centre 

(HWRC) 

Proportionate 

contribution of £32.23 

per dwelling to the 

redevelopment of 

Milton HWRC.  

Agreed in principle To support 

improvements to 

facilities and capacity 

at the HWRC to 

accommodate waste 

and recycling 

generated by residents 

of the development in 

accordance with policy 

TI/8. 

Refuse Collection 

Vehicles 

£112 per dwelling To be agreed. To increase refuse 

vehicle capacity to 

accommodate the 

additional waste and 

recycling generated by 

the development in 

Page 117



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Household Waste 

Receptacles 

£90 per house 

 

£50 per 1100 litre bin 

for apartments (with 

the number of bins 

need to be calculated 

based on the reserved 

matters approval).  

 

To be paid prior to 1st 

occupation of each 

residential reserved 

matters parcel. 

To be agreed. Bins to accommodate 

waste and recycling 

generated by the 

development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Cardboard Skips On-site provision of 

cardboard skips 

throughout the initial 

occupation period by 

the developer, or an 

obligation of £2,500 for 

GCSWS to provide. 

To be agreed. To manage the 

additional cardboard 

generated from when 

residents first occupy 

the development in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Bring banks On-site provision of 

concrete hardstanding 

To be agreed. To accommodate the 

small recycling 

generated by the 

development and not 

accommodated within 

routine recycling 

collections in 

accordance with policy 

SC/4. 

Biodiversity    

Off-site skylark 

mitigation 

Off-site improvements 

and provision of a 

Skylark Compensation 

Strategy 

Agreed in principle To compensate for the 

loss of ground nesting 

habitat for skylarks 

within the 

development site in 

Page 118



Obligation Sought Relevant Details Comments CIL Reg 122 

Comments 

accordance with policy 

NH/4. 

Monitoring     

Monitoring £40,000 for monitoring 

of the s106 agreement 

by SCDC. 

To be agreed To ensure the effective 

monitoring the s106 

agreement to ensure 

all of the agreed 

obligations are 

complied with. 

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 - Draft Conditions 

  

Definitions  

'Enabling Works' means preparation works to make the Site ready for construction. 

Such works include (but are not exclusively limited to):  surveying, environmental 

and hazardous substance testing and sampling, soil tests, remediation works, 

pegging out, tree protection, ecological survey and mitigation works, archaeological 

investigation, site or ground clearance and preparation, ground improvement works, 

construction of boundary fencing or hoardings including for site security, demolition 

and removal of buildings and other structures, creation of temporary haul roads and 

enabling works accesses or other works or operations to enable any of these works 

to take place including site and ground works. 

 

'Strategic Engineering and Landscaping Elements' include principal foul and surface 

water drainage infrastructure works, other utilities provision, accesses from 

Cambridge Road/Histon Road, flood risk infrastructure works, primary roads, 

attenuation feature, land re-profiling, strategic open space and landscape works and 

planting (including allotments), and similar related works. 

 

'Development Parcel' means a part of the development excluding Enabling Works 

and Strategic Engineering and Landscape Elements. For instance, this would include 

or part of the development comprising housing, community building, a secondary 

school site, a primary school site and/or playing fields. 

 

General Conditions 

1. Submission of reserved matters 

No development on any individual Development Parcel or Strategic 

Engineering and Landscape Element shall commence until approval of the 

details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (hereinafter called 

the Reserved Matters) within that Development Parcel has been obtained 

from the Local Planning Authority in writing.  

 

The development shall be carried out as approved. 

 

Page 121



Reason: To ensure that all necessary details are acceptable in accordance 

with the requirements of section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004. 

 

2. First submission of reserved matters application 

The first application for approval of Reserved Matters shall be made to the 

Local Planning Authority no later than three years from the date of this 

permission. 

 

Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

3. Commencement of each reserved matters application 

The commencement of each reserved matters area pursuant to this outline 

consent shall begin no later than the expiration of two years from the date of 

the last Reserved Matter of that reserved matters area to be approved.  

Reason: To prevent the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions 

and in accordance with the requirements of section 51 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

4. Final deadline for submission of any reserved matters application 

Application(s) for approval of all the Reserved Matters shall be made to the 

Local Planning Authority no later than the expiration of 8 years from the date 

of this permission. 

 

Reason: To prevent the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions 

and in accordance with the requirements of section 51 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and provide a consistent approach to the 

development of the site alongside adjoining developments. 

 

5. Approved Plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans and documents as listed on this decision notice. 

 

Page 122



Reason: In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of doubt and to 

facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under Section 

73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

6. Quantum of Uses 

The proposed maximum floorspace of land uses and maximum number of 

homes as set out below shall not be exceeded pursuant to this planning 

permission: 

 1,000 dwellings within Use Class C3 

 200sqm of retail floorspace under Use Class E (a), (b), (c) 

 400sqm community building under Use Class F 

  8.8ha education uses under Class F1(a) 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development is implemented within the scope of 

the approved parameters upon which the application has been assessed, in 

accordance with the requirements of section 51 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

7. Compliance with Environmental Statement 

The development, hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance with the 

mitigation measures as set out in the Darwin Green Phases 2 and 3 

Environmental Statement Vol 1, Main Report (as amended) and its 

supplementary documents and strategies. 

  

REASON: To ensure that the development takes place in accordance with the 

principles and parameters contained within the Environmental Statement. 

 

Site-Wide Conditions 

8. Phasing Strategy 

Prior to, or concurrently with the submission of the first of the Reserved 

Matters application(s), a Site Wide Phasing Plan which accords with the 

Section 106 triggers shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 

Page 123



approval. The Phasing Plan shall include the broad sequence of providing the 

following elements and a mechanism for the Plan’s review and amendment:  

a) Development Parcels 

b) Major infrastructure including all accesses, primary roads/routes within the 

site, primary footpaths and cycleways, including timing of provision and 

opening of access points into the site  

c) the local centre including community facility 

d) Surface water drainage features, SuDS and foul water drainage network 

e) Formal and informal public open space, provision for children and 

teenagers, playing fields and allotments 

f) strategic electricity, telecommunications, potable water mains provisions 

g) environmental mitigation measures, actions or activities (including phasing)  

intended to remedy, reduce or offset known negative adverse impacts as a  

result of existing pollution in the area and the development itself, as identified 

in the submitted Environmental Statement. 

h) primary and secondary schools 

 

No development shall commence apart from Enabling Works until such time 

as the Phasing Plan has been approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

phasing contained within the approved Phasing Plan. 

 

Reason: To clarify how the site is to be phased to assist with the 

determination of subsequent Reserved Matters applications and in order to 

ensure that major infrastructure provision and environmental mitigation is 

provided in time to cater for the needs and impacts arising out of the 

development, in accordance with policies HQ/1, SC/2, SC/4, SC/6, and SC/7 

of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

 

9. Site Wide Design Code 

Prior to, or concurrently with the submission of the first of the reserved 

matters applications, a Site Wide Design Code, shall be submitted to the local 

planning authority for approval. The Site Wide Design Code shall be prepared 

in accordance with the principles and parameters established by this outline 

Page 124



planning permission and shall include both strategic and detailed elements. 

The Site Wide Design Code shall include: 

a) The overall vision for the development;  

b) The character, mix of uses and heights established through the 

approved parameter plans and include the block principles and the 

structure of public spaces, making reference to the phasing of land 

parcels;  

c) The street hierarchy, including the principles and extent of adopted 

highways and traffic calming measures.  

d) Typical street cross-sections which will include details of tree planting, 

tree species, underground utility/service trenches, and on street 

parking;  

e) How the design of the streets and spaces takes into account mobility 

and visually impaired users;  

f) Block principles to establish use, density and building typologies. In 

addition, design principles including primary frontages, pedestrian 

access points, fronts and backs and threshold definition shall be 

provided;  

g) Key groupings and other key buildings including information about 

height, scale, form, level of enclosure, building materials and design 

features;  

h) Approach to incorporation of ancillary infrastructure/buildings such as 

substations, pumping stations, pipes, flues, vents, meter boxes, 

external letterboxes, electric vehicle 10 charging infrastructure, fibres, 

wires and cables required by statutory undertakers as part of building 

design;  

i) Design principles for the approach to monitoring vehicular parking 

(residents and visitors) for different building types including setting out 

principles to govern the location and layout of parking for people with 

disabilities and for each building type including parking spaces with 

electric vehicle charge point provision;  

j) Clear design principles for the approach to cycle parking for all uses 

and for different building types, (residential and commercial) including 

resident visitor parking, type of rack, spacing and any secure or non-

Page 125



secure structures associated with the storage of cycles including non-

standard bicycle and trailer storage;  

k) The approach to the character and treatment of the structural planting 

(including site wide tree strategy statements guiding the diversity of 

planting and planting resilience to climate change, and the approach to 

SuDS design integration);  

l) The approach to the treatment of any hedge or footpath corridors and 

retained trees and woodlands;  

m) The conceptual design and approach to the public realm (making 

reference to the Public Art Strategy, materials, signage, utilities and 

any other street furniture);  

n) The conceptual design and approach to the artificial lighting strategy 

and how this will be applied to different areas of the development with 

different lighting needs, so as to maximise energy efficiency, minimise 

light pollution and avoid street clutter;  

o) Details of waste and recycling provision for all building types and 

recycling points;  

p) Utility routes, type and specification;  

q) Measures to demonstrate how the design can maximise resource 

efficiency and climate change adaptation through external, passive 

means, such as landscaping, orientation, massing, and external 

building features;  

r) Details of measures to minimise opportunities for crime;  

s) Measures to show how the principles of good design (including 

acoustic design) will address and minimise the impact of existing traffic;  

t) Details of good urban design principles and design of urban 

infrastructure to reduce air pollution – including street dimensions, use 

of Green Infrastructure (GI) such as trees, parks and green walls;  

u) Details of the design review procedure and of circumstances where a 

review shall be implemented. 

 

The Site Wide Design Code shall explain its purpose, structure and status and 

set out the mandatory and discretionary elements where the Design Code will 

apply, who should use the Design Code, and how to use the Design Code. 

Page 126



 

No development apart from Enabling Works shall commence until the Site 

Wide Design Code for the entire site has been approved in writing by the local 

planning authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure high quality design and coordinated development in 

accordance with policies SS/2 and HQ/1 of the South Cambridgeshire Local 

Plan 2018, policies of the North West Cambridge Area Action Plan 2008. 

 

10. Youth & Play Strategy 

Prior to or concurrently with the submission of the first of the reserved matters 

application (s) for development, a Strategy for Youth Facilities and Children's 

Play Provision, in accordance with the principles set out in the Landscape, 

Open Space, and Countryside Enhancement Strategy, shall be submitted to 

the local planning authority for written approval. The strategy shall include 

sufficient details to demonstrate the effective implementation of that strategy 

including specifications, location and phasing.  

 

Development shall take place in accordance with the approved strategy. 

 

Reason: To ensure that appropriate facilities for youth facilities and children's 

play provision are provided in relation to the development of the site in 

accordance with South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Policies SS/2 and HQ/1 of 

the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

11. Public Art Strategy 

Prior to or concurrently with the submission of the first reserved matters 

application for residential or educational uses, a Public Art Strategy shall be 

submitted for approval in writing b the Local Planning Authority. The strategy 

shall include details set out in South Cambridgeshire Public Art SPD 2009, 

including:  

a) Details of the public art and artist commission; 

b) Details of how the public art will be delivered, including a timetable for 

delivery; 

Page 127



c) Details of the location of the proposed public art on the application site; 

d) The proposed consultation to be undertaken; 

e) Details of how the public art will be maintained; 

f) How the public art would be decommissioned if not permanent; 

g) How repairs would be carried out; 

h) How the public art would be replaced in the event that it is destroyed; 

 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

strategy. 

 

Reason: to ensure that the site provide public art in a satisfactory way that 

relates to the agreed public art strategy and that accords with policy HQ/2 of 

the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

12. Site-Wide Construction Traffic Management Plan  

No development, including demolition, shall take place until a Construction 

Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) has been submitted and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with National Highways and 

the Local Highways Authority). The CTMP shall include, but not be limited to 

the following: 

a) Details of the hours of work of construction work and deliveries, the 

co-ordination of deliveries and plant and materials and the disposing 

of waste resulting from demolition, engineering, and/or construction so 

as to avoid under interference with the operation of the public 

highway, particularly during the Monday-Friday AM Peak (0800-0900) 

and PM Peak (1630-1800) periods). 

b) Movements and control of muck away lorries (all loading and 

unloading shall be undertaken off the adopted public highway) 

c) Movements and control of all deliveries (all loading and unloading 

shall be undertaken off the adopted public highway) 

d) An estimate of the daily movement of the construction traffic; 

e) Areas for the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development, 

Page 128



f) Contractor parking; provide details and quantum of the proposed car 

parking and methods of preventing on street car parking. 

g) Consideration of pollution and emissions to air, water and land, 

including noise and vibration, dust, general discharges and 

appropriate mitigation strategies.  

h) Control of dust, mud and debris, in relationship to the operation of the 

adopted public highway. 

i) Risk Assessments and Method Statements for the works; and contact 

details of personnel responsible for the construction works. 

 

Reason: To ensure the A14 continues to serve its purpose as a part of a 

national system for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 of the 

Highways Act 1980, and in the interests of highways safety. 

 

13. DCEMP 

No development, including demolition, shall commence until a site wide 

Demolition and Construction Environmental Management Plan (DCEMP) has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

The DCEMP shall include the consideration of the following aspects of 

demolition and construction: 

 

a) Demolition, construction and phasing programme. 

b) Contractors' access arrangements for vehicles, plant and personnel 

including the location of construction traffic routes to, from and within the site, 

details of their signing, monitoring and enforcement measures. 

c) Construction/Demolition hours which shall be carried out between 0800 

hours to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, and 0800 hours to 1300 hours on 

Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, unless in 

accordance with agreed emergency procedures for deviation. 

d) Delivery times and collections / dispatches for construction/demolition 

purposes shall be carried out between 0800 to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 

0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays, bank or public 

holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

Page 129



e) Soil Management Strategy having particular regard to potential 

contaminated land and the reuse and recycling of soil on site, the importation 

and storage of soil and materials including audit trails. 

f) Noise impact assessment methodology, mitigation measures, noise 

monitoring and recording statements in accordance with the provisions of BS 

5228-1:2009+A1:2014 Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on 

construction and open sites. 

g) Vibration impact assessment methodology, mitigation measures, 

monitoring and recording statements in accordance with the provisions of BS 

5228-2:2009+A1:2014 Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on 

construction and open sites. Details of any piling construction methods / 

options, as appropriate. 

h) Dust mitigation, management / monitoring and wheel washing measures in 

accordance with the provisions of Control of dust and emissions during 

construction and demolition - Greater Cambridge supplementary planning 

guidance 2020. 

i) Use of concrete crushers. 

j) Prohibition of the burning of waste on site during demolition/construction. 

k) Site artificial lighting including hours of operation, position and impact on 

neighbouring properties. 

l) Drainage control measures including the use of settling tanks, oil 

interceptors and bunds. 

m) Screening and hoarding details. 

n) Access and protection arrangements around the site for pedestrians, 

cyclists and other road users. 

o) Procedures for interference with public highways, including permanent and 

temporary realignment, diversions and road closures. 

p) External safety and information signing and notices. 

q) Implementation of a Stakeholder Engagement/Residents Communication 

Plan, Complaints procedures, including complaints response procedures. 

r) Membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme. 

 

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved DCEMP. 

 

Page 130



Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties in accordance with 

Policy CC/6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

14. Pre-commencement remediation method statement 

No development, including demolition, shall take place until detailed proposals 

for the removal, containment or otherwise rendering harmless of any 

contamination (the Remediation Method Statement) have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason – To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 

the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 

controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 

development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 

neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the 

adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

15. Remediation Verification Report 

The works specified in the Remediation Method Statement must be 

completed and a Verification Report submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of any dwellings. 

 

Reason – To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 

the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 

controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 

development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 

neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the 

adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

16. Unexpected contamination 

If, during remediation or construction works, any additional or unexpected 

contamination is identified, then remediation proposals for this material should 

be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any works proceed 

and shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby 

approved. 

Page 131



 

Reason – To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 

the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 

controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 

development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 

neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the 

adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

17. Construction Surface Water Drainage  

No development, including preparatory works, shall commence within a phase 

until details of measures indicating how additional surface water run-off from 

the site will be avoided during the construction works have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This may include 

collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The approved 

measures and systems shall be brought into operation before any works to 

create buildings or hard surfaces commence. 

 

Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the 

construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to 

adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the development itself; 

recognising that initial works to prepare the site could bring about 

unacceptable impacts in accordance with policies CC/7, CC/8, and CC/9 of 

the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

18. Groundworks 

No development shall take place, including archaeology, until the details of all 

groundworks and soil movement relating to the development are submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local authority. Details should include a Soils 

Management Plan detailing protection of ground to be reinstated to open 

space, sustainable drainage or general landscape, methodology of soil 

stripping, storage, handling, haul routes, formation level decompaction 

measures, soil re-spreading and decompaction as well as soil disposal (if 

necessary). 

 

Page 132



All groundworks should be carried out in accordance with the approved details 

and in accordance with the recognised 'Construction Code of Practice for the 

Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites' produced by DEFRA and 

Protecting and Enhancing Soils Policy Position Statement produced by 

Charted Institute of Water and Environmental Management (CIWEM). 

 

Reason: To ensure that before any development commences an appropriate 

landscape and ecological management plan has been agreed in accordance 

with Policies HQ/1 and NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

19.  Archaeology – Programme of Archaeological Work 

No demolition/ development shall commence until the applicant has 

implemented a programme of archaeological work which has been secured in 

accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been 

submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. For land 

that is included within the WSI, no demolition/ development shall take place 

other than under the provisions of the agreed WSI, which shall include: 

a) The statement of significance and research objectives. 

b) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and 

the nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the 

agreed works: 

c) The timetable for the field investigation as part of the development 

programme; 

d) The programme and timetable for the analysis, publication and 

dissemination, and deposition of resulting material. 

 

Reason: To ensure that before any demolition and or development 

commences an archaeological investigation of the site has been submitted 

and thereafter implemented before development commences in accordance 

with Policy NH/14 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

20. Archaeology – Heritage assets 

No demolition/development shall commence until the applicant has 

implemented a programme of archaeological work which has been secured in 

Page 133



accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been 

submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. For land 

that is included within the WSI, no demolition/development shall take place 

other than under the provisions of the agreed WSI, which shall include: 

a) the statement of significance and research objectives; 

b) the programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and 

the nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the 

agreed works; 

c) the timetable for the field investigation as part of the development 

programme; 

d) The programme and timetable for the analysis, publication & 

dissemination, and deposition of resulting material. 

 

Reason: To ensure impacts on the historic environment are appropriately 

mitigated in accordance with chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework and policy HN/14 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

21. Ecological Design Strategy 

No development shall commence until a site wide Ecological Design Strategy 

(EDS), including Biodiversity Net Gain provision, has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

The EDS shall include the following where appropriate:  

a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works 

b) Review of site potential and constraints 

c) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives 

d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and 

plans 

e) Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. low 

nutrient soils, native species of local provenance 

f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the 

proposed phasing of development 

g) Persons responsible for implementing the works 

h) Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance 

i) Details of monitoring and remedial measures 

Page 134



j) Details for disposal of any wastes arising from the works. 

 

The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 

all features shall be retained as such. 

 

Reason: To ensure that before any development commences an appropriate 

ecological design strategy has been agreed in order to fully conserve and 

enhance ecological interests in accordance with Policies HQ/1 and NH/4 of 

the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and National Planning Policy 

paragraph 174. 

 

22. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 

No development shall commence until a Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 

the local planning authority The LEMP shall include the following: 

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 

b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence 

management. 

c) Aims and objectives of management. 

d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 

e) Prescriptions for management actions. 

f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of 

being rolled forward over a five-year period). 

g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the 

plan. 

h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures. 

 

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 

which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the 

developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan 

shall also set out (where the results form monitoring show that conservation 

aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) contingencies and/or 

remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the 

development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives and BNG 

Page 135



percentage of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be 

implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure that before any development commences an appropriate 

landscape and ecological management plan has been agreed in accordance 

with Policies HQ/1 and NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan  

and National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 174. 

 

23. Construction Ecological Management Plan 

No development shall commence (including demolition, ground works, 

vegetation clearance) until a Construction Ecological Management Plan 

(CEcMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. The CEcMP shall include the following. 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

b) Identification of biodiversity protection zones. 

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 

practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided 

as a set of method statements). 

d) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 

features. 

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 

present on site to oversee works. 

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works 

(ECoW) or similarly competent person. 

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs if 

applicable. 

 

The approved CEcMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure that before any development commences appropriate 

construction ecological management plan has been agreed to fully conserve 

Page 136



and enhance ecological interests in accordance with Policies HQ/1 and NH/4 

of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

24.   Bird and Bat Boxes  

No development above ground level shall commence until a scheme for the 

provision of integrated bird and bat boxes has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 

details of box numbers, specification, and their location. No dwelling shall be 

occupied until nest boxes have been provided for that property in accordance 

with the approved scheme. 

 

Reason: To conserve and enhance ecological interests in accordance with 

Policies HQ/1 and NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

25. Protected Species Licensing   

No site clearance, earthworks or demolition affecting an identified badger sett 

or bat roost shall commence unless the local planning authority has been 

provided with either: 

a) a licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 53 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 authorising the 

specified activity/development to go ahead; or 

b) a statement in writing from Natural England to the effect that it does not 

consider that the specified activity/development will require a licence. 

 

Reason: To protect ecological interests in accordance with Policies HQ/1 and 

NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

26. Tree Protection 

Prior to commencement of any development a detailed Arboricultural Impact 

Plan shall be submitted and approved in writing in accordance with the 

Arboricultural Implications Assessment dated 14 March 2022. 

 

Where a development parcel, strategic engineering or landscape element 

contains retained trees and hedgerows, prior to the commencement of 

Page 137



development including any demolition and engineering works, tree protection 

measures as detailed in the AIA shall be installed, and shall be retained for 

the duration of development on the parcel or element. 

 

Reason: To ensure that any works undertaken comply with arboricultural 

best practice and minimise the impact on any retained tree's health and 

amenity in accordance with policies HQ/1, NH/2, and NH/4 of the South 

Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

 

27. Scheme of enhancement to foot and cycle connections 

Prior to commencement of any development, a scheme of enhancements to 

link existing footway and cycleway provision on the B1049 to the north of the 

A14 Histon Interchange to Cambridge Road as indicatively show on plan 

116292-TP-0017 (CAMBRIDGE ROAD OFF-SITE CYCLE IMPROVEMENTS 

- OPTION 3) shall be subject to a Stage 1 / 2 Road Safety Audit and 

Designers Response. The scheme approved at Stage 1 /2 Road Safety Audit 

shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any of the development 

hereby approved. 

 

Reason: To ensure opportunities to promote walking, cycling, and public 

transport are supported in accordance with chapter 9 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework and policies SS/2, HQ/1, and TI/2 of the South 

Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

28. Travel Plan 

Prior to the commencement of the development, a Travel Plan shall be 

submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with 

the County Council and National Highways). The Travel Plan shall be based 

upon the document INTERIM RESIDENTIAL TRAVEL PLAN Dated 8th April) 

but shall also include: 

i. A Travel Plan Coordinator (TPC) and associated Monitoring and 

Governance by the TPC being in place for the entire development build 

period plus 2 years post development completion. 

Page 138



ii. The offer of a Travel Pack containing Cycle vouchers and/or Bus 

Vouchers to each resident on an ‘on-demand’ basis to ensure that they 

are used for the purpose as intended. 

iii. Provision of a Travel Hub (or Hubs) which would contain E-bike or E-

scooter drop off/pick up points and cycle maintenance facilities and an 

information point containing real time bus information. 

iv. The requirement for all bus stops will have shelters and real time 

information points. 

 

Reason: To ensure opportunities to promote walking, cycling, and public 

transport are supported, and in the interests of the functioning of the highway 

network, in accordance with chapter 9 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework and policies SS/2, HQ/1, and TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire 

Local Plan 2018. 

 

29. Thornton Close Link 

Prior to the Occupation of any development herby approved, the link from the 

development to Thornton Close as indicated on Plan 116292-TP-0014 

(THORNTON CLOSE CYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN LINK Rev P02) shall be 

implemented and be open for use by cyclists and pedestrians. 

 

Reason: To ensure opportunities to promote walking, cycling, and public 

transport are supported in accordance with chapter 9 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework and policies SS/2, HQ/1, and TI/2 of the South 

Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

Conditions which relate to reserved matters 

 

30. Design Code Compliance Statement  

Any application for approval of reserved matters shall be in accordance with 

the Design Code approved by the Local Planning Authority under the design 

code condition above and as part of the application for Reserved Matters 

approval shall incorporate a statement demonstrating compliance with the 

Page 139



approved Design Code. The development hereby permitted shall be 

completed in accordance with the approved Design Code.  

 

Reason: To ensure high quality design and coordinated development in 

accordance with Polices HQ/1 and SS/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local 

Plan 2018. 

 

31. Housing Mix 

Applications for Reserved Matters for a Development Parcel shall include the  

following details of housing mix: 

a) A plan showing the location and distribution of market and affordable 

units (including tenure type). The plan should also identify the proximity 

of the site with adjacent land parcels and the tenure types within both, 

in respect of any Development Parcel where Reserved Matters have 

already been approved. 

b)  schedule of dwelling sizes (by number of bedrooms). 

c) A statement which demonstrates how the proposals for the relevant 

Development Parcel relate to the agreed indicative housing mix. 

 

Reason: To ensure there is a mixed and balanced distribution of dwelling 

sizes and tenure types across the development in accordance with policies 

H/9 and H/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

32. Internal Space Standards 

The residential dwellings hereby approved shall, as a minimum, accord with 

the Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards 

(2015) or any successor document applicable at the time of submission of the 

relevant Reserved Matters. This shall be demonstrated on the floor plans, 

elevations and sections submitted for each dwelling in respect of the 

Reserved Matters of layout and scale. 

 

Reason: To ensure new residential units meet or exceed the government’s 

residential space standards, in accordance with policy H/12 of the South 

Page 140



Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

33. Accessible and Adaptable Housing  

All residential dwellings within each Reserved Matters phase shall be 

designed to meet the accessible and adaptable dwellings M4 (2) standard of 

the Building Regulations 2010. In the event that such standards are replaced 

by a comparable national measure for building design applicable at the time of 

submission of such Reserved Matters, the equivalent measures shall be 

applicable to the relevant part of the proposed development. 

 

Reason: In order to create accessible and adaptable homes, in accordance 

with policy H/9 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

 

34. Wheelchair Accessible Housing  

Not less than 5% of affordable dwellings within each Reserved Matters phase  

containing residential development shall be designed to meet the wheelchair 

user dwellings M4 (3) standard of the Building Regulations 2010. In the event 

that such standards are replaced by a comparable national measure for 

building design applicable at the time of submission of such Reserved 

Matters, the equivalent measures shall be applicable to the relevant part of 

the proposed development. 

 

Reason: In order to create accessible and adaptable homes, in accordance 

with policy H/9 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

35.  Cycle Parking 

Any reserved matters application for a residential unit, non-residential building 

or public open space shall include details of facilities for the covered, secure 

parking of cycles for use in connection with the approved development and 

demonstrate that the provision is in accordance with the approach to cycle 

parking approved as part of the Design Code for the site. No such residential 

unit or non-residential building shall be occupied nor shall such public open 

space be used until the relevant facilities for that residential unit, non-

residential building or public open space (as applicable) have been provided 

Page 141



in accordance with the approved details. Thereafter the cycle parking facilities 

shall be retained and shall not be used for any other purpose. 

 

Reason: To ensure appropriate provision for the secure storage of bicycles in 

order to promote cycling in accordance with policies SS/2, HQ/1, and TI/3 of 

the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

36.  Car Parking  

Each reserved matters application for a Development Parcel shall include 

details of car parking for that Development Parcel. No building shall be 

occupied or activity brought into use within the relevant Development Parcel 

until the approved parking provision relating to that building or activity (as 

appropriate) has been laid out. 

 

Reason: To ensure an appropriate level of car parking provision, and to 

ensure that highway safety and amenity is not compromised by unsightly on 

street parking in accordance with policies HQ/1 and TI/3 of the South 

Cambridgeshire District Council Local Plan (2018). 

 

37. Detailed Surface Water Drainage Strategy for each RM 

Any reserved matters application shall include a detailed surface water 

strategy pursuant to the reserved matters site for which approval is sought.  

 

The strategy shall demonstrate how the management of water within the 

reserved matters application site for which approval is sought accords with the 

approved details of the strategic site wide surface water strategy. The strategy 

shall maximise the use of measures to control water at source as far as 

practicable to limit the rate and quantity of run-off and improve the quality of 

any run-off before it leaves the site or joins any water body. 

 

The strategy shall include details of all flow control system and the design, 

location and capacity of all strategic SuDS features and shall include 

ownership, long-term adoption, management and maintenance schemes and 

monitoring arrangements/responsibilities. The strategy should also 

Page 142



demonstrate that the exceedance of the designed system has been 

considered through the provision of overland flow routes. 

 

The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved 

details and no building pursuant to that particular reserved matters site for 

which approval is being sought shall be occupied or used until such time as 

the approved detailed surface water measures have been fully completed in 

accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: In order to reduce the risk of flooding, to ensure adequate flood 

control, maintenance and efficient use and management of water within the 

site, to ensure the quality of the water entering receiving water courses is 

appropriate and monitored and to promote the use of sustainable urban 

drainage systems to limit the volume and rate of water leaving the site, in 

accordance with Policies CC/7, CC/8, and CC/9 of the South Cambridgeshire 

Local Plan 2018. 

 

38. Ecological Compliance Statement 

As part of any reserved matters development parcel, strategic engineering 

element, or landscape element, an ecological compliance statement shall be 

submitted to demonstrating how the proposals are in compliance with the 

Ecological Design Strategy and Biodiversity Net Gain assessment. 

 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To protect and enhance ecological interests in accordance with 

Policies HQ/1 and NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

39. Lighting 

Within each reserved matters application which includes the provision of any 

form of illumination in relation to any Development Parcel pursuant to this 

outline permission the reserved matters details for appearance shall include 

details of the height, type, position and angle of glare of any final site lighting / 

floodlights including horizontal and vertical isolux contours. The details and 

Page 143



measures so approved shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with 

the approved lighting scheme/plan. 

 

Reason: To protect the amenity of the nearby residential properties and 

ecological interests in accordance with policies HQ/1, NH/4, and SC/9 of the 

South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

 

40. Sustainability, Energy and Water Statement 

All future reserved matters applications shall be accompanied by a 

Sustainability, Energy and Water Statement setting out how that phase of the 

development shall meet the targets and commitments set out in the site wider 

statement (Environmental Economics, Version 3, 14 April 2022).  This shall 

include, but not be limited to, the following details: 

 

a) Energy/carbon calculations showing how that phase will meet the 

target for all dwellings to meet the requirements of the Future Homes 

Standard.  Renewable energy technologies including air source heat 

pumps and photovoltaic panels shall also be detailed in relevant 

drawings.  In the event that the Future Homes Standard is replaced by 

a relevant national or local policy, the statement shall detail how the 

replacement standards will be met. 

b) A water efficiency specification for each house type showing how the 

proposals will meet the requirement for water use of no more than 110 

litres/person/day. 

c) Details of how the scheme will mitigate the risk of overheating, 

including the submission of Part Overheating assessments for 

dwellings. 

 

The approved measures shall be fully installed and operational prior to the 

occupation of the development and thereafter maintained in accordance with 

the approved details. 

 

Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable design and construction, 

reducing carbon dioxide emissions, and ensuring efficient use of water in 

Page 144



accordance with policies CC/1, CC/3, CC/4 of the South Cambridgeshire 

Local Plan 2018 and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and 

Construction SPD, 2020. 

 

41. BREEAM Pre-Assessment 

All future reserved matters applications that include non-residential uses, 

other than the schools, shall be accompanied by a BREEAM pre-assessment 

prepared by an accredited BREEAM Assessor, indicating that the building is 

capable of achieving the applicable ‘excellent’ rating as a minimum, with at 

least 2 credits achieved for Wat 01.   

 

Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions, ensuring 

efficient use of water and promoting principles of sustainable construction and 

efficient use of buildings, in accordance with policy CC/1 of the South 

Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable 

Design and Construction SPD 2020. 

 

42. Noise attenuation (road traffic) 

Within any reserved matters application in relation to any Development Parcel 

containing residential development a noise impact assessment and a noise 

attenuation / insulation scheme (having regard to the building fabric, glazing 

and background and purge / rapid ventilation requirements) to protect 

occupants or other users internally and externally as appropriate from the A14, 

Cambridge Road and primary routes through the site traffic noise in accordance 

with the requirements of British Standard 8233:2014 'Sound Insulation and 

noise reduction for buildings-Code of Practice' (or as superseded), shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

scheme as approved shall be fully implemented before the residential use 

hereby permitted is occupied and shall be retained thereafter unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  

The noise insulation scheme shall demonstrate that the external and internal 

noise levels recommended in British Standard 8233:2014 “Sound Insulation 

and noise reduction for buildings-Code of Practice” (or as superseded) shall be 

Page 145



reasonably achieved and shall include a timescale for phased implementation, 

as necessary.  

 

The scheme as approved shall be fully implemented before the residential use 

hereby permitted is occupied and shall be retained in perpetuity unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  

REASON: To ensure that sufficient noise attenuation is provided to all 

residential properties to protect residents from the impact of the A14, 

Cambridge road and internal site traffic noise and safeguard the amenity and 

health of future residents in accordance with policies HQ/1 and SC/10 of the 

South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

43. Noise attenuation 

Concurrent with any Reserved Matters application for commercial, 

community, leisure, school or retail use (i.e. any uses other than individual 

residential premises) a noise assessment as necessary and a scheme for the 

insulation of the building(s) and/or associated plant / equipment or other 

attenuation measures, in order to minimise the level of noise emanating from 

the said building(s) and/or plant shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority. The scheme as approved shall be fully 

implemented before the use hereby permitted is commenced and shall 

thereafter be maintained in strict accordance with the approved details.   

  

Collection from and deliveries to any non-residential premises including any 

retail, food or commercial uses shall only take place between the hours of 

07.00 to 23.00 Monday to Saturday and 0900 to 1700 on Sunday, Bank and 

other Public Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

REASON: To protect residents from the impact of noise generating uses and 

safeguard the amenity and health of future residents in accordance with 

policies HQ/1 and SC/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

Page 146



44. Odour Control 

Concurrent with any Reserved Matters application for commercial, 

community, leisure, school or retail use (i.e. any uses other than individual 

residential premises), no occupation shall commence until a scheme detailing 

plant, equipment or machinery for the purposes of ventilation or the extraction 

and filtration of odours, dust or fumes has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be installed 

before the use is commenced and shall be retained as such. 

 

Reason: To protect the amenity of nearby properties in accordance with 

Policy SC/14 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

45. Youth and Play Space Details 

Any Reserved Matters application for a Development Parcel, Strategic 

Engineering, or Landscape Element containing a Local Areas of Play (LAPs), 

Local equipped Area of Play (LEAP), Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play 

(NEAP), or other youth or play facilities shall include details of youth and play 

facilities, including a play statement to demonstrate compliance with the site-

wide Youth and Play Strategy, and the timetable for laying out the open space 

for approval.  

 

The open space shall be laid out in accordance with the details and timetable 

approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the details of the development are acceptable and 

appropriate in accordance with policy SC/7 South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 

2018. 

 

46. Allotment Details 

Any Reserved Matters application for a Development Parcel which 

incorporate allotment or community orchard provision shall where appropriate 

include the following details:  

a) A plan of the allotments/ orchards, principles of plot layout and design 

providing for a range of plot sizes designed to allow flexibility to meet the 

Page 147



needs of future plot holders including accessible plots; areas for communal 

storage of materials, for example, manure and compost; communal storage of 

tools and supplies (eg lockers and bins) and communal areas. 

b) Proposed management arrangements and draft allotment tenancy 

agreements/rules. This shall include consideration of general and individua 

plot holder Rules, Conditions and Code of Conduct, with compliance 

thereafter;  

c) Access, vehicle and cycle parking arrangements to allow easy and safe 

access to the allotments which prioritises sustainable modes of transport and 

allows for the occasional delivery of bulky goods;  

d) Details of the allotment clubhouse / store, including composting toilet 

e) Boundary treatment, including security arrangements for the allotments;  

f) Water supply, including use of stored rainwater and SuDS for watering 

crops.  

g) Provision of good quality soil to British Standards 3882:2015 or equivalent, 

with structure and texture to allow free drainage and cropping. 

 

The provision of allotments/orchards shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved details and in accordance with the approved phasing 

programme. 

 

Reason: To ensure that appropriate allotments are provided in relation to the  

development of the site in accordance with policies SS/2 and SC/7 South 

Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

Pre-commencement on a Reserved Matters parcel and other triggers 

 

47. Temporary Surface Water Management  

Development shall not commence on any individual parcel until a scheme for 

the temporary storage and management of surface water on that parcel/plot 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in full accordance 

with the approved details. 

 

Page 148



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory method of surface water drainage, and to 

prevent the increased risk of flooding to third parties, in accordance with 

Policies CC/7, CC/8, and CC/9 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

48. SuDS management and maintenance 

Details for the long term maintenance arrangements for the surface water 

drainage system (including all SuDS features) to be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation 

of any of the dwellings hereby permitted. The submitted details should identify 

runoff sub-catchments, SuDS components, control structures, flow routes and 

outfalls. In addition, the plan must clarify the access that is required to each 

surface water management component for maintenance purposes. The 

maintenance plan shall be carried out in full thereafter. 

 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory maintenance of drainage systems that are 

not publicly adopted, in accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 163 

and 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies CC/7, CC/8 

and CC/9 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

49. Foul Water Drainage  

Prior to the commencement of development on a Development Parcel or 

Strategic Engineering and Landscape Element, apart from Enabling Works, a 

detailed Foul Water Drainage Strategy shall be submitted and agreed in 

writing with the local planning authority for that Development Parcel or 

Strategic Engineering and Landscape Element. 

 

The strategy shall include the phasing of such works. The strategy shall 

include details of any necessary improvement of the existing sewerage 

system to ensure that sufficient capacity exists to cater for the needs of that 

Development Parcel or Strategic Engineering and Landscape Element. The 

works/scheme for a Development Parcel or Strategic Engineering and 

Landscape Element shall be constructed and completed in accordance with 

the approved plans/specification and such programme as may be specified in 

the approved scheme. 

Page 149



 

Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from 

flooding and ensure that sufficient capacity exists within the sewerage 

network to meet the needs of the development in accordance with policies 

CC/7 and CC/8 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

50. Hard and Soft Landscaping 

As part of any reserved matters application, details of a hard and soft 

landscaping scheme for that parcel shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. These details shall include: 

Hard Landscaping 

a) Full details, including cross-sections, of any bridges and culverts. 

b) The location and specification of minor artefacts and structures, 

including furniture, refuse or other storage units, signs and lighting 

columns/brackets and underground utility routes. 

c) 1:200 plans (or at a scale otherwise agreed) including cross sections, of 

roads, paths and cycleways. 

d) Details of all hard surfacing materials (size, type and colour). 

e) Full details of all proposed methods of boundary treatment including 

details for all gates, fences, walls and other means of enclosure both 

within and around the edge of the site. 

 

Soft Landscaping 

f) Full details of planting plans and written specifications, including 

cultivation proposals for maintenance and management associated with 

plant and grass establishment, details of the mix, size, distribution, 

density and levels of all trees/hedges/shrubs to be planted and the 

proposed time of planting. The planting plan shall use botanic names to 

avoid misinterpretation. The plans should include a full schedule of 

plants. 

g) 1: 200 plans (or at a scale otherwise agreed) with cross-sections of 

mounding, ponds, ditches and swales and proposed treatment of the 

edges and perimeters of the site. 

Page 150



h) The landscape treatment of roads (primary, secondary, tertiary and 

green) through the development. 

i) A specification for the establishment of trees within hard landscaped 

areas including details of space standards (distances from buildings etc.) 

and tree pit details. 

j) The planting and establishment of structural landscaping to be provided 

in advance of all or specified parts of the site as appropriate. 

k) Full details of any proposed alterations to existing 

watercourses/drainage channels. 

l) Details and specification of proposed earth modelling, mounding, re-

grading and/or embankment areas or changes of level across the site to 

be carried out including soil quantities, topsoil storage to BS 3882: 2007 

and the Defra Code of Practice for the sustainable use of soils on 

construction sites, haul routes, proposed levels and contours to be 

formed, sections through construction to show make-up, and timing of 

works. 

 

Reason: To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the 

area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies SS/2, HQ/1, and 

NH/4 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

51. Landscape Implementation 

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out and maintained in 

accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to 

the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a 

programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. If within a 

period of five years from the date of the planting, or replacement planting, any 

tree or plant is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree or plant 

of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the 

same place as soon as is reasonably practicable, unless the Local Planning 

Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 

 

Page 151



Reason: To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area 

and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies HQ/1 and NH/4 of the 

South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

52. Sustainable Show Home 

Development above ground level shall commence until a strategy for the 

delivery of the proposed sustainable show home(s) has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This strategy shall 

include the following: 

 

a) a plan showing the location of the sustainable show home(s) 

b) an indicative timetable for delivery of the sustainable show home(s) 

c) sustainability targets to be achieved in the construction/design of the show 

home(s) 

d) sustainable alternatives available for purchase by prospective house 

buyers (to include measures such as energy efficiency, renewable 

technologies, water conservation, waste and recycling and overheating) 

e) a marketing scheme to demonstrate how the sustainable alternatives in (d) 

above can be purchased by prospective house buyers The strategy for the 

show home(s) shall be implemented in full accordance with the approved 

details. 

 

Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions and promoting 

principles of sustainable construction and efficient use of buildings In 

accordance with Policy CC/5 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2020. 

 

53. Site Specific Construction Environmental Management Plan 

Prior to commencement of development on any reserved matters 

Development Parcel, Strategic Engineering, or Landscape Element a 

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for that 

parcel/element shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The CEMP shall detail provide detail, in relation to parts a-

r of the approved site-wide DCEMP. 

Page 152



 

Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties in accordance with 

Policy CC/6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

54. Low Emissions Strategy 

Prior to commencement of development of any reserved matters development 

parcel, details of the provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points as set out in 

the site wide Low Emissions Strategy (ES Appendix 7.2) shall be provided. 

This shall include an implementation plan for the above to including the details 

of location of charging unit, capacity, charge rate, details of model, location of 

cabling and electric infrastructure drawings.  

 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 

and retained as such. 

 

Reason: In the interests of reducing impacts of developments on local air 

quality and encouraging sustainable forms of transport in accordance with 

policies SC/12 and TI/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018  

and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2020. 

 

55. Detailed Waste Management Plan 

Prior to the commencement of development of any reserved maters 

development parcel, strategic engineering element, or landscape element, a 

Detailed Waste Management Plan (DWMP) shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The DWMP shall 

demonstrate how the construction of the reserved matters approval will 

accord with the principles of the Outline Waste Management Plan.  The 

DWMP shall include details of: 

a) The anticipated nature and volumes of waste. 

b) Measures to ensure the maximisation of the reuse of waste. 

c) Measures to ensure effective segregation of waste at source including 

waste sorting, storage, recovery and recycling facilities to ensure the 

maximisation of waste materials both for use within and outside the 

site. 

Page 153



d) Any other steps to ensure the minimisation of waste during 

construction. 

e) The location and timing of provision of facilities pursuant to criteria 

b/c/d. 

f) Proposed monitoring and timing of submission of monitoring reports. 

g) The proposed timing of submission of a Waste Management Closure 

Report to demonstrate the effective implementation, management and 

monitoring of construction waste during the construction lifetime of the 

development.   

 

Thereafter the implementation, management and monitoring of construction 

waste shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed details and no 

individual building subject to a Detailed Waste Management Plan shall be 

occupied under the Waste Management Closure Report has been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure the sustainable management of construction waste, in 

accordance with policy CC/6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018, 

and Greater Cambridge Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2020. 

 

56. Playing Fields – Ground Condition Details 

No development apart from Enabling Works on the proposed secondary 

school playing fields shall commence until the following documents have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after 

consultation with Sport England: 

a) A detailed assessment of ground conditions (including drainage and   

topography) of the land proposed for the playing field which identifies 

constraints which could adversely affect playing field quality; and 

b) Where the results of the assessment to be carried out pursuant to (i) 

above identify constraints which could adversely affect playing field 

quality, a detailed scheme to address any such constraints. The 

scheme shall include a written specification of the proposed soils 

structure, proposed drainage, cultivation and other operations 

Page 154



associated with grass and sports turf establishment and a programme 

of implementation.  

c) For any artificial pitches, a specification shall be provided in 

accordance with Sport England guidance. 

 

The approved scheme shall be carried out in full and in accordance with the 

approved programme of implementation. The land shall thereafter be 

maintained in accordance with the approved scheme and made available for 

playing field use in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the playing field is prepared to an adequate standard 

and is fit for purpose, in the interests of the provision of sports facilities in 

accordance with policies SS/2 and SC/7 South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 

2018. 

 

57. BREEAM Interim Design Stage Certification 

Within 6 months of commencement of development of non-residential uses 

hereby approved, a BRE issued Design Stage Certificate shall be submitted 

to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority demonstrating 

that the required BREEAM excellent rating will be met.  Where the Design 

Stage certificate shows a shortfall in credits required, a statement shall also 

be submitted identifying how the shortfall will be addressed.  In the event that 

such a rating is replaced by a comparable national measure of sustainability 

for building design, the equivalent level of measure shall be applicable to the 

proposed development. 

 

Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions, ensuring 

efficient use of water and promoting principles of sustainable construction and 

efficient use of buildings in accordance with policies CC/2 of the South 

Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018, and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable 

Design and Construction SPD 2020. 

 

58. BREEAM Post Construction Certification 

Page 155



Prior to the use or occupation of the non-residential uses herby approved, or 

within six months of occupation, a BRE issued post Construction Certificate 

shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 

indicating that the approved BREEAM rating has been met. In the event that 

such a rating is replaced by a comparable national measure of sustainability 

for building design, the equivalent level of measure shall be applicable to the 

proposed development. 

 

Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions, ensuring 

efficient use of water and promoting principles of sustainable construction and 

efficient use of buildings in accordance with policy CC1 of the South 

Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 and the Greater Cambridge Sustainable 

Design and Construction SPD 2020. 

 

59. Fire Hydrants 

No building within any Development Parcel or Phase shall be occupied until a 

scheme for the provision and location of fire hydrants to serve that 

Development Parcel has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority. The approved scheme shall thereafter be 

implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate water supply infrastructure to 

protect the safe living and working environment for all users and visitors. 

 

60. Emission Ratings (for Gas Boilers & Combined Heat and Power System) 

No gas fired combustion appliances shall be installed until details 

demonstrating the use of low Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) combustion boilers, (i.e., 

individual gas fired boilers that meet a dry NOx emission rating of 

≤40mg/kWh), have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority.  

 

If the proposals include any gas fired Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 

System, the details shall demonstrate that the system meets the following 

emissions standards for various engines types: 

Page 156



a) Spark ignition engine: less than or equal to 150 mg NOx/Nm3 

b) Compression ignition engine: less than 400 mg NOx/Nm3 

c) Gas turbine: less than 50 mg NOx/Nm3 

The details shall include a manufacturers Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) emission 

test certificate or other evidence to demonstrate that every appliance installed 

meets the emissions standards above.  

 

The approved appliances shall be fully installed and operational before the  

development is occupied or the use is commenced and retained as such. 

 

Reason: To protect local air quality and human health by ensuring that the 

production of air pollutants such as nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter are 

kept to a minimum during the lifetime of the development in accordance with 

policy SC/12 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018. 

 

61. Broadband 

No dwelling shall be occupied until the necessary infrastructure to enable that 

dwelling to directly connect to fibre optic broadband has been delivered and is 

capable of being fully operative. 

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of high-capacity broadband as part of the  

development, in accordance with policy TI/10 of the South Cambridgeshire 

Local Plan 2018. 

 

 

Approved Plans and Documents: 

Site Location Plan 18112_07_01_P2 

Demolition Parameter Plan 18112_07_02_P2 

Land Use Parameter Plan 18112_07_03_P2 

Movement and Access Parameter Plan 18112_07_04_P2 

Landscape Framework Parameter Plan 18112_07_05_P2 

Building Heights Parameter Plan 18112_07_06_P2 

Urban Design Parameter Plan 18112_07_07_P2 

Page 157



DG1/DG2 Access Junction (Western Access) 116292-TP-00013-P02 

DG1/DG2 Access Junction (Eastern Access) 116292-TP-00007-Rev F 

Masterplan DG1 Spine Road/Residential Access Junction 116292-TP-0012 

P03 

Masterplan DG1 Spine Road/Pedestrian Access Junction 116292-TP-0011 

P03 

Thornton Close Cycle & Pedestrian Link 116292-TP-0014 P02 

 

 

Page 158


	Agenda
	3 22/02528/OUT - Darwin Green Phases Two and Three Development Site, Cambridge Road, Impington
	DG23_Ctte_Appendix_2_DQP_Comments
	DG23_Ctte_Appendix_3_List_of_Application_Documents
	DG23_Ctte_Appendix_4_Parameter_Plans
	Sheets
	07_02 - DEMOLITION PLAN

	Sheets
	07_03 - LAND USE

	Sheets
	07_04 - MOVEMENT AND ACCESS

	Sheets
	07_05 - LANDSCAPE FRAMEWORK

	Sheets
	07_06 - BUILDING HEIGHTS

	Sheets
	07_07 - URBAN DESIGN


	DG23_Ctte_Appendix_5_Illustrative_Masterplan
	Sheets
	07_08 - ILLUSTRATIVE MASTERPLAN


	DG23_Ctte_Appendix_6_Summary_HoTs
	DG23_Ctte_Appendix_7_Draft_Conditions


